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Management Discussion and Analysis
BEEmE DR

FINANCIAL RESULTS

The revenue of Alpha Professional Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2023 from
continuing operations was approximately HK$363.1 million (2022: HK$438.4
million), representing a decrease of 17.2% compared to the previous year,
the decrease in revenue was due to changes in the composition of milk
powder brands sold by the Group over time, whereby the scale of sales in
“Bellamy’s” was increased while the sales of “A2” was terminated during
the year. The change in product portfolio from time to time was considered
a normal and common phenomenon in the business operations of the
trading of milk powder and baby foods (the “Milk Products Business”). The
profit for the year (including continuing and discontinued operations) was
approximately HK$1.3 million, which was a turnaround from the loss of
approximately HK$31.6 million recorded for the previous year. The basic
earnings per share (including continuing and discontinued operations)
amounted to HKO.4 cents (2022: basic loss per share of HK10.1 cents).

The improvement in financial performance of the Group was primarily
attributable to the combined effect of:

(i) an increase in gross profit from the Milk Products Business for the year
ended 31 March 2023, which was mainly due to a purchase discount
of approximately HK$25.4 million based on subscription of 9,541,620
shares (the “Bubs Shares”) of Bubs Australia Limited (the “Bubs
Australia”) at nil consideration after the Group achieved the purchase
target for orders placed with Bubs Australia or its subsidiaries for the
period from 1 July 2021 to 30 June 2022;

(i) a significant reduction in loss from the provision of mobile handset
solution (the “Mobile Business”) resulted from further scaling-down of
its operations during the year ended 31 March 2023; and

(i) an unrealised loss of approximately HK$13.6 million recognised for
the year ended 31 March 2023 arising from changes in fair value of
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss by measuring the
Bubs Shares at their fair value as at 31 March 2023 according to the
Group’s accounting policy.

For the year ended 31 March 2023, the administrative expenses of the
Group from continuing operations amounted to approximately HK$15.1
million (2022: HK$15.2 million), remaining at a similar level as compared to
the previous year. The impairment losses of trade receivables from continuing
operations recognised in respect of the expected credit losses increased to
approximately HK$6.5 million for the year ended 31 March 2023, compared
with approximately HK$1.9 million for the year ended 31 March 2022, which
reflects the increased balance of trade receivables as at 31 March 2023 as
compared to the balance of it as at 31 March 2022.

ALPHA PROFESSIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED e Annual Report 2023

Sy pE

Alpha Professional Holdings Limited Bl %
TEZERERAR (TAAE)) REWE
NE HBTAER)) HEZTZ=F=4
“t+—HLEEEZREFELSEERNRA
A1 EETL (T T TF 1438488
HBIT)  WEERM17.2%  ZE /L TR A
EEHENPHDREESEEREHEmE
16> Eep TERIK) AU EAREE > T TA2)
HEBRERNKIE - ERESHTERESRK
HEAMMEERERES (NEERER)
NEFBEBETNEERTBRR - AEER
M (OEFECEEFRRBRIECEER) &
A1.3E8E T BEEFHRENEIELN31.68
BETHEAR SREARH (BERFEL
EEFRORIELEEER) 50480 (CF
TTE SREANEBEI101EW) -

FEBMBRRBEMARETEZHN THEE
BYhs & 2248

MR RE .

() MEEREFREBEE_ZS ==
B=+—HIEEENENEM J5E
EHRAEBRERB T —F+t
B—HEZZZZEXA=+HIL
EARGMABuUbs Australia Limited (I'Bubs
Australial) HEKMBAE TETE
MEBEEZE ERUSRER]
9,541,620%Bubs AustraliafiZ {7 (TBubs
B&17 1) B9&925.4 8 & B o IR BTN
EE;

(i) REFHRBERATR (FREF) BB
RIERLD  DERBE_ZE_=F=
A=t+—HUEFEE-—PEAHZEE
PRSI ; &

iy MWEBEAEBIGTHK BRE
Bubsfgm M —E-=F#=B=+—H
ZATEGB BIBE_ZS_=—F=
B=+—HBIEEERAFEET AR
BZERMEENATFEBEEHEEWN
REBINEIBLI136EB BT

BE_Z_=-—F=-RB=+—HILEE &&
EREECEEFNTRERNA15.1
BEBT(CE 24 16208 EHET) 4
BEENHAOKE - REE_E_=F=4
—t+—HIEE REHEEFBERANK
B ECEEBNE S ERAIERERIBY
MENSHEERB T MBEE_SE-__F=4
—+—HLEEENANIIEEBT KB
- —HEZA-+—AMEBEZERFIEL
BRI _FEZA=+—AREREN.



Management Discussion and Analysis

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is principally engaged in the Milk Products Business, the
provision of warehouse logistics services (the “Logistics Business”), property
investment (the “Property Investment”) and the Mobile Business, out of which
the Mobile Business was discontinued during the year ended 31 March
2028.

Milk Products Business — Continuing Operations

The Group runs its Milk Products Business focusing on cross-border milk
powder trading in the PRC, Hong Kong and Australia. During the year ended
31 March 2023, the Group mainly sold (i) milk powder of three brands from
Australia and New Zealand, namely “Bubs”, “Aptamil” and “Bellamy’s”; and

(i) adult milk powder of “Capela” and “CapriLac”.

On 26 September 2022, Willis Trading Limited (“Willis Trading”), the
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company principally engaging in
Milk Products Business, subscribed for, and Bubs Australia, a company
incorporated in Australia with limited liability, the shares of which are
listed on the ASX (ASX stock code: BUB), issued and allotted, 9,541,620
Bubs Shares at nil consideration after the Group achieved the purchase
target for purchase orders placed with Bubs Australia or its subsidiaries
for the period from 1 July 2021 to 30 June 2022 pursuant to the share
subscription agreement entered into between Willis Trading and Bubs
Australia on 3 March 2022 (the “Share Subscription Agreement”). Details of
the transactions under the Share Subscription Agreement were set out in the
announcements of the Company dated 3 March 2022, 24 March 2022, 5
July 2022 and 29 September 2022, respectively.

For the year ended 31 March 2023, the revenue of the Milk Products
Business was approximately HK$361.2 million (2022: HK$436.6 million),
of which the revenue of sales of milk powder and baby foods was
approximately HK$361.2 million (2022: HK$435.2 million), franchise fee
income was nil (2022: HK$1.4 million), and the corresponding gross profit
was approximately HK$41.1 million (2022: HK$33.0 million), which is
reflected by including a purchase discount of approximately HK$25.4 million
based on the subscription of 9,541,620 Bubs Shares at nil consideration
as mentioned above. The reportable segment profit (adjusted EBITDA) was
approximately HK$23.0 million (2022: HK$25.3 million).

Logistics Business — Continuing Operations

To improve the Group’s business and to meet the long-term development
strategy of increasing the number of downstream customers under the Milk
Products Business, the Group has developed the Logistics Business since
March 2023. By renting warehouse storage and logistics services from
various warehouse storage and logistics services providers and subletting
them to our customers, our goal is to provide our customers with relatively
low-cost warehouse storage and relevant logistics services.

For the year ended 31 March 2023, the revenue of the Logistics Business
was approximately HK$0.3 million (2022: Nil).
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BEEmE DR

Property Investment — Continuing Operations

The Group owns a piece of land at 152 Milperra Road, Revesby, NSW 2212,
New South Wales, Australia, with a total site area of approximately 2,462
square metres and has a warehouse erected thereon with a total internal
lettable area of approximately 1,906 square metres (the “Property”). The
Property was recognised by the Group as an investment property and was
measured at fair value on each reporting date. As at 31 March 2023, the fair
value of the Property was estimated at approximately AUD8.0 million (2022:
AUD7.8 million) (equivalent to approximately HK$42.1 million (2022: HK$43.5
million)), representing approximately 15.6% (2022: 24.3%) of the total assets
of the Group. For the year ended 31 March 2023, the Property was leased to
a lessee and generated rental income to the Group of approximately HK$1.6
million (2022: HK$1.7 million). The reportable segment profit (adjusted
EBITDA) was approximately HK$3.1 million (2022: HK$2.9 million).

Mobile Business - Discontinued Operation

The impact on the economy caused by the Coronavirus disease 2019
(“COVID-19”) has continued since its worldwide outbreak from the beginning
of 2020. In its passive position coping with the pandemic, the Mobile
Business was unable to recapture the already dropping orders and sales
from its scaled-down operations. The gradual scaling-down of operations of
the Mobile Business affects the ability of the Group to continue to carry on
the businesses.

On 16 September 2022, a special resolution of H K Rich Technology
International Company Limited (‘HK Rich”), a direct wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company principally engaging in the Mobile Business, was duly
passed by the Company to wind up HK Rich by way of creditors’ voluntary
liquidation. Details of the Winding-up were set out in the announcement
of the Company dated 16 September 2022. Subsequent to the creditors’
meeting of HK Rich held on 30 September 2022, in which the appointment
of joint and several liquidators was confirmed, the financial positions and
results of the Mobile Business were deconsolidated from the consolidated
financial statements of the Group.

For the year ended 31 March 2023, the revenue of the Mobile Business
was approximately HK$4.3 million (2022: HK$23.4 million), representing
a decrease of 81.6% as compared with the previous year. For the year
ended 31 March 2023, the loss for the year from the Mobile Business was
approximately HK$1.0 million (2022: HK$43.4 million).

The gain on deconsolidation of the Mobile Business amounted to
approximately HK$4.7 million (2022: Nil) which was mainly contributed
from the derecognition of net liabilities of the Mobile Business from the
consolidated financial statements of the Group.

For the year ended 31 March 2023, the profit for the year from the
discontinued operation and attributable to owners of the Company of
the Mobile Business amounted to approximately HK$3.8 million which
represented the above-mentioned loss for the year from the Mobile Business
of HK$1.0 million and the gain on deconsolidation of the Mobile Business of
HK$4.7 million.

ALPHA PROFESSIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED e Annual Report 2023

MERE — FHESESER

REBEEAE U152 Milperra Road, Revesby,
NSW 2212, New South Wales, Australiaz —
TRAR (M E AR 492,462 5 K 2 #h i » K —1@
BRE FRE A HAEBEEEN1,906F
KzrE (M) - AEBRYERIDB A —
BB ENEREBHRNRFEEES
E-RIEI=F=A=+—8B ¥YENL
T EELENASOEERT (CTETHF
7.8EEET) BHERQ42188ET (T
TTH 43588 hEAEEEER
REX15.6% (CE " 124.3%) - HE_Z
T=F=ZBR=1+—HUEFE YEHET—
2AEBA MAREBRFTREASTHALI.68
BETCEIZE 178887 AR
HEHEREN (S FHEEEBITDA) A3 1B E BT
(CEZZF:290@EBHET) °

FHEETS — RIS
2019w H & (TCOVID-19) Qf_v_
TEFEY N 2 EIR S LUR T E R EOE SN
HomHEIE ?*&%%Eﬁ“?&ﬁﬁ%%ﬁ
RERNEED RO BER VT RIHE
B FHEFNKERBENGE/) ) FEKX
EEBERBEBNES

RIBZZFNA+RE BEESHARE
BMERAS (EEBSR) GREANERES
BEWNBAR TEREFHER) NEFIR
EREARTERNEE UERAEBHBEE
NAXAREBENBEE - BEFBHNER
SHMATE"EFNATRHZAE B
BR B _FAB=THRETEEERE
BAEZ RNE LEIZFEHEA LA BR
N FREBZUHZRAREETBES

RINAEENEEHHREF -

BHE TEEZA=+—HILEE" ﬁ;&%
%%‘Bﬂﬁzz\ﬁ%mﬁ%%m(_v_:
23 4B BB ' REFRL81.6% HE
E_-FEZR=Z+—HLEEE: ﬁé&%%ﬁﬁﬁ
AEEBEYAB1088EBT (T2
43.4HBETT) °

FREBIBRAARNKREORITER

BT(CE_F: 8  TERHANTFHE

BHAEFEIBRAERGSYHBREF
BFE e

BE_ZT_=-F=-RA=+t—HLEFE F¥
%%%B’JJEEE%%Ltﬁ“EA%?‘&ZK’&TEy%FE
T RFEERFINASSEE R B LT
BWEZNAFEBBEIOBEBETIRFHE
BrBHEaANRNBm4TEE BT



Management Discussion and Analysis

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Financial Resources, Liquidity and Capital Structure

On 10 May 2022, 34,920,000 ordinary shares of the Company (the “Shares”)
were issued additionally by way of placing (the “Placing”), raising gross
proceeds of HK$48.9 million. Details of the Placing are set out in the section
headed “The Placing and Use of Proceeds” under the “Directors’ Report” in
this annual report.

Except for the proceeds received from the issuance of Shares through the
Placing, the Group’s capital expenditure, daily operations and investments
during the year ended 31 March 2023 were mainly funded by cash
generated from its operations and loan from a third party. The liquidity and
financing requirements of the Group are reviewed on a regular basis. During
the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group had drawn down a loan of
approximately AUD9.0 million (equivalent to HK$47.5 million as at 31 March
2023) under a loan facility of HK$50.0 million (the “Loan Facility”) from a third
party.

As at 31 March 2023, the Group had current assets of approximately
HK$212.9 million (2022: HK$130.1 million) and current liabilities of
approximately HK$111.6 million (31 March 2022: HK$61.3 million). The
liquidity of the Group as evidenced by the current ratio (current assets over
current liabilities) was 1.91 times (2022: 2.12 times).

As at 31 March 2023, the trade and other receivables of the Group were
approximately HK$194.7 million (31 March 2022: HK$104.4 million), the
increase of which was mainly attributable to a longer credit period granted
to customers of the Milk Products Business during the year. To mitigate
the risks on recoverability of trade receivables that may result from the long
credit period, the credit policy and the relevant internal control procedures of
the Group have been further reviewed and strengthened during the year. The
system of credit worthiness analysis of customers has also been reinforced.
Security, including but not limited to the initial cash deposit, guarantees and
collateral, will be requested and obtained from customers according to their
credit worthiness. The trade and other payables of the Group increased
from approximately HK$52.9 million as at 31 March 2022 to approximately
HK$63.7 million as at 31 March 2023.

As at 31 March 2023, the Group maintained cash and bank balances of
approximately HK$13.7 million (2022: HK$20.9 million), of which 27.7%
(2022: 14.5%) were denominated in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$") or United
States dollars (“US$”) and 68.2% (2022: 84.0%) were denominated in AUD.
The decrease of cash and bank balances of approximately HK$7.2 million as
compared to the position as at 31 March 2022 was mainly due to the use of
cash in operating activities, in particular, the Milk Products Business.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BEEmE DR

As at 31 March 20283, the Group had outstanding borrowing of
approximately HK$47.5 million (2022: Nil) repayable within one year. There
was no outstanding borrowing repayable after one year (2022: Nil). The
Group’s outstanding borrowing was denominated in AUD and was charged
with interest at floating rate.

The gearing ratio (calculated by net debt over total equity) of the Group as at
31 March 2023 was as follows:

Total debt (sum of current liabilities and BER%E (REatKk
non-current liabilities) JERBI B EARA)

Less: cash and bank balances A REBRIRTTAER

Net debt BEFEE

Total equity T 4B &

Gearing ratio BESELEE

Treasury Policy and Financial Management

The Group’s treasury policy aims to ensure that (i) the funding requirements
for capital commitments, investments and operations of the Group can be
fulfilled; and (i) liquidity can be managed to ensure that fund inflows are
matched against all maturing repayment obligations to enhance cash flow
management.

The Group aims to minimise its financial risk exposure. The Group’s policy
is not to engage in speculative derivative financial transactions and not to
invest its existing capital resources in financial products with significant risks.

Risk of Foreign Exchange Fluctuation

The Group’s foreign exchange risk primarily arises from transactions, working
capitals and investments denominated in foreign currencies, mainly in AUD
and US$. During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group did not use any
financial instruments for hedging purposes and the Group did not have any
hedging instruments outstanding as at 31 March 2023.

The Group will closely monitor the exchange rate risk arising from the
Group’s existing operations and potential new investments in future, and
will implement necessary hedging arrangements to mitigate any significant
foreign exchange risk when and if appropriate.

ALPHA PROFESSIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED e Annual Report 2023

RIE_=ZF=ZRB=1+—H KNEHKEE
BEHNATSEEET (TS —F  #) AR
—EREB IEREEEEAN —FE%RE
B(CZIIF F) o AERREBEEN
BrosHE BRI HFEA B

FEBRR-_ZT_=F=A=+—HZEE&
BIEX (B aEFEERLUEDBEE) M
o

At At

31 March 2023 31 March 2022
RIE=% RZBE__F
=A=+—8 =A=+—H
HK$’000 HK$’000
FAET FET
111,624 62,469

(13,686) (20,901)

97,938 41,568
158,820 116,351

61.7% 35.7%

MEBRRATEEE

REMBY B BER S ERR()ES A E
EBEREE - RERE LE’],éf%ﬁaX Falii)BE
WEERPES  UBERESRAELTRRR
BifiERzE8E DD%@E%ﬁEéEO

FEMEERARE i&/WEEEHﬁ‘“HIZMK
EEMNERBTRERBETESRR
UTT\%“H%EEEQZK%?%TQ%E?EE%K@Bﬁ
Z R E o

SN RED R

RE M 2 S E AR EE;:JIEEL(S’W%(IEEM
BITRET) SHEZR S EBET R
A%’:_EZ_EEE E—i——EIJiEFE’ZiK
ERTEERETMERIAFE AR M
N TEC=FZRA=+—H FEETEF
FIREEZEHPTH-

FEBREVERAERRBEFRRRKE
ENREEEMNEXREAR URNEERE
s B2 3 P 22 Bk LR S A o] B RS B LB o



Management Discussion and Analysis

Charge on Group Assets

The Group as the borrower entered into a loan agreement with a third-
party lender for a Loan Facility of HK$50.0 million, and the Group drew
approximately AUD9.0 million (equivalent to HK$47.5 million as at 31 March
2023) under it. The Loan Facility was guaranteed by the Company and was
secured by a debenture created by the Company of a first fixed and floating
charge over its undertaking, property and assets as security for the due
payment of all monies payable under the Loan Facility (2022: Nil).

Contingent Liabilities
The Group had no contingent liabilities as at 31 March 2023 (31 March
2022: Nil).

Material Capital Commitments
The Group had no material capital commitments as at 31 March 2023 (31
March 2022: Nil).

Significant Investments Held

As at 31 March 2023, the Group held 9,541,620 Bubs Shares (2022: Nil)
which represents approximately 1.27% of the issued share capital of Bubs
Australia as at 31 March 2023. The 9,541,620 Bubs Shares were issued and
allotted by Bubs Australia at nil consideration to the Group after the Group
achieved the purchase target under the Share Subscription Agreement.
The total investment cost of 9,541,620 Bubs Shares is deemed at AUD4.7
million, which is the market value of the Bubs Shares at the date of
subscription (i.e.: 26 September 2022). The fair value of the 9,541,620 Bubs
Shares as at 31 March 2023 amounted to AUD2.2 million (equivalent to
approximately HK$11.5 million), representing approximately 4.3% of the total
assets of the Group, resulting in a loss arising from changes in fair value of
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss of approximately HK$13.6
million. There was no dividend received from Bubs Australia for the Bubs
Shares held by the Group during the year ended 31 March 2023.

Bubs Australia is a company incorporated in Australia with limited liability, the
shares of which are listed on the ASX (ASX stock code: BUB). Bubs Australia
and its controlled entities are principally engaged in the manufacturing
of Australian-made premium infant nutrition and dairy products. It is
currently expected that the Group will continue to hold the 9,541,620 Bubs
Shares. This investment provides the Group with the opportunity to further
strengthen its relationship with Bubs Australia, which is currently one of the
major suppliers of the Group.

Save as disclosed in this paragraph and in the paragraph headed “Business
Review — Property Investment — Continuing Operations”, the Group did not
hold other significant investments as at and for the year ended 31 March
2023.

Material Acquisitions and Disposals

Save as the Winding-up of HK Rich, the Group had no material acquisitions
and disposals of subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures for the year ended
31 March 2023.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BIEEmEDH

Event after the End of the Reporting Period
Details regarding the events after the end of the reporting period are set out
in note 38 to the consolidated financial statements.

EMPLOYEES

As at 31 March 2023, the Group had 26 employees (2022: 36). Total
staff cost from continuing operations, including Directors’ emoluments, of
approximately HK$10.3 million (2022: HK$9.8 million) was incurred during
the year ended 31 March 2023. The Group maintains a policy of paying
competitive remuneration. The remuneration of employees which includes
salary and discretionary performance bonus is decided with reference to the
results of the Group, the market level as well as individual performance and
contributions. Remuneration packages (including performance bonuses) are
reviewed on a regular basis by the Group.

CORPORATE STRATEGIES

The Group is dedicated to emphasise shareholders’ values through
persistent improvement in its business performance and commitment to
its core values, which emphasises fulfiling social responsibilities, satisfying
customers’ needs, and promoting employees’ development.

BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group continued to devote
resources to the Milk Products Business. Currently, the Group mainly sells

milk powder under the brands of “Bubs”, “Aptamil” and “Bellamy’s”.

To further develop the Milk Products Business, the Group signed exclusive
distributorship agreements (the “Exclusive Distributorship Agreements”) with
a subsidiary of Bubs Australia in November 2021 and March 2022, acquiring
the exclusive distributorship in Hong Kong and the PRC for several “Bubs”
products. On 3 March 2022, the Group entered into the Share Subscription
Agreement with Bubs Australia, pursuant to which the Group will have
the right to subscribe for up to an aggregate of 29,541,620 Bubs Shares
when certain “Bubs” product purchase milestones have been reached by
the Group, at nil consideration. On 26 September 2022, after the Group
achieved the purchase target for purchase orders placed with Bubs Australia
or its subsidiaries for the period from 1 July 2021 to 30 June 2022 pursuant
to the terms of the Share Subscription Agreement, the Group subscribed
for and Bubs Australia issued and allotted 9,541,620 Bubs Shares at nil
consideration. Details of the transactions under the Share Subscription
Agreement and the Exclusive Distributorship Agreements were set out in
the announcements of the Company dated 3 March 2022, 24 March 2022,
5 July 2022 and 29 September 2022, respectively. It is expected that the
Group will not be able to meet the purchase target for the period from 1 July
2022 to 30 June 2023 pursuant to the Share Subscription Agreement.

ALPHA PROFESSIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED e Annual Report 2023

WEHRRER
ERREPARBEBEZFBEHNGSMH
|ARMIFES8

==
RIBE_=F=B=+—H ' KxEEE26%
BE (CT-_% :36%) -REE_T_=
FZRA=Z+—HIEE KEFELEER
ZETMAMHEE (BEESENS) 494103
BEBT (CET2F 98HEET) &%
BH#FERFHZHINBR - REFMEIE
HFeRMBERRTEA NE2EAEEA ¥
E-mIBKEUREENEARIBMERM
BE AEETCHBNEERRBEIEAETAZ
HENER

e
FEBBBHBREAHREZRERETHE
RETHEET RETFERREERS
EROZOEER ROINRRRAERKR
BfE-

ESCE
BE_Z_=F=B=+—HLFE &&
HEERDNEEREBRBER  AEHIR
R E 2N E MBubs ) ~ TEth3E) KR TBALKIYS
7 Gm ke o

BE—FTHEHNNEEREBNER A£H
RN _E - —F+—BER_E-__F=-RF#
Bubs AustraliaBJfifi /8 A B EBR D i %
(MBRDEHE)  UESERTRBR
DEEFTIBubs ER-RZEZZF=H
=H > &NEEEBubs Australiaz] 12 & 1A 08
HE B AEEEREELAEERES T
Bubs EmMFBEREZ  UERER
B R % 51£29,541,62008Bubsfg {7 o JA = &
TTEABZHAB RERORDEHE
HgETO RAEBERBE S -_—F+tA—
HE_ZS - _F,"A=1+HLHEHBAEBubs
Australiazi E i@ A B T EXBEITENEE
BiZ%  ~EE 2538 &Bubs Australial 2
17 R B 359,541,6202Bubsig 7 » (BB Z -
RODERZRBRDEHEE N2 a6
BAMNENRAABHPA S - ZF=R=
= === = R o 1% I

tEBEBR_E__FHABR_+HLHEHHA
LoFEIAEEBE LI ENRERDDER
FERPE - _FtA—HE_ZT=FX
B=+HILEERERZ-



Management Discussion and Analysis

In August 2022, the Group formed a joint venture with Bubs Australia,
namely, Bubs Supreme Partner Pty Ltd (the “JV Company”), which is
owned by the Group as to 49%, and operates as the exclusive licensee of
certain trademarks with the name “Bubs Supreme” (the “Bubs Supreme
Trademarks”) owned by Bubs IP Pty Ltd (“Bubs IP”, a subsidiary of Bubs
Australia). The JV Company sub-licensed the use of the Bubs Supreme
Trademarks to the Group, on a non-exclusive, royalty-free and perpetual
basis, in the PRC, Hong Kong, Macau and Taiwan for the purpose of
advertising, marketing and distributing the “Bubs Supreme” products. It is
considered that the licensing of rights on the Bubs Supreme Trademarks
gives the Group the right to use the Bubs Supreme Trademarks, which may
potentially lead to better sales performance of the Group and contribute
positively to the Group’s financial results. The formation of the JV Company
and the grant of a licence to the JV Company by Bubs IP to use the Bubs
Supreme Trademarks further strengthened the business cooperation
between the Group and Bubs Australia. Details of the licensing of rights on
Bubs Supreme Trademarks and the formation of the JV Company were set
out in the announcement of the Company dated 2 August 2022.

In addition, the Group has developed the Logistics Business since March
2023 to improve the integrity of the Group’s business and to support the
development strategy of increasing the number of downstream customers
under the Milk Products Business. By renting warehouse storage and
logistics services from various warehouse storage and logistics services
providers and subletting them to our customers, the goal of the Logistics
Business is to provide its customers with relatively low-cost warehouse
storage and relevant logistics services, thus enabling our small and medium-
sized enterprise customers to control their costs. At present, the Logistics
Business is in its initial stage and operates in mainland China.

Since the outbreak of COVID-19, the Group has been facing tremendous
pressure in running the Mobile Business and has gradually scaled down
the operations in this segment. The results of the Mobile Business have
continuously deteriorated since the year ended 31 March 2020. Even with
the segmental profit from the Milk Products Business, it was insufficient
to offset the significant loss generated from the Mobile Business during
the years ended 31 March 2022 and 31 March 2021. Having considered
(i) the insolvency of HK Rich; (i) the continuing and increasing loss of the
Mobile Business due to intensifying competition, changes in the international
political situation and environment, trade disputes, the rise in costs of raw
materials, the loss of several major markets, as well as the impacts of the
COVID-19 pandemic; (i) the gradual scaling-down of operations of the
Mobile Business which affects the ability of the Group to continue to carry on
its businesses; and (iv) the unrealistic prospect of the Mobile Business due
to the reduction of the viability of small and medium scale mobile handset
manufacturers and processors, a special resolution of HK Rich was duly
passed by the Company on 16 September 2022 to wind up HK Rich. The
Group can reduce its loss after the Winding-Up of HK Rich, and devote
its resources to managing and developing other existing businesses of the
Group with potential growth.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BIEEmEDH

OUTLOOK

The Group’s business strategy has been to (j) reinforce the existing business
foundation; (i) strengthen the Group’s competitive edge; and (i) actively
seek opportunities for business development and diversification. In respect
of business development and diversification, the Group commenced the
Logistics Business in March 2023.

For the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group recorded a profit for the year
of HK$1.3 million, which is the first time since the year ended 31 March
2020 and is a demonstration of the Group’s achievements and efforts in
proactively addressing the changes in the external economic environment
and industry challenges during these four years.

The Milk Products Business, with the development for three years since
it was developed by the Group in February 2020, is gradually on track.
Through strengthening the cooperation and enhancing the relationship with
brands such as “Bubs” and “Bellamy’s”, the Group has obtained stable and
quality supply of products, further strengthening the earning base of the Milk
Products Business of the Group. The Group will continually put resources
into the promotion of the brands distributed by it, so as to maintain the
exposure and market performance of products. In the future, the Group
will further advance the diversification of products portfolio while continuing
to promote the sales plan and marketing in mainland China, to meet the
increasing demands of different customers and to maintain the growth of the
Milk Products Business. In addition, the Group will also focus on increasing
the number of downstream customers under the Milk Products Business
in order to further reduce business risks and drive profit growth. During the
year, the Group launched the Logistics Business to improve the Group’s
business and support its business development. The Logistics Business
provides its customers with relatively low-cost warehouse storage and
relevant logistics services. It is expected that the Group will also extend its
warehouse logistics services to other new customers in the future. In terms
of the Mobile Business, following the Winding-up of the subsidiary engaged
in such business by way of creditors’ voluntary liquidation conducted
through appointing joint and several liquidators in September 2022, the
financial results of the Mobile Business have been deconsolidated from those
of the Group since then.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

As the COVID-19 pandemic gradually subsides and normal travel resumes,
both the Chinese government and the Hong Kong government are looking
forward to economic recovery in 2023. The Chinese government’s proposal
to “focus on expanding domestic demand and prioritise the restoration
and expansion of consumption” is expected to continue to provide positive
support for the resumption of personal consumption expenditure growth.
However, we still need to pay attention to the uncertainty in the external
market. The rapid interest rate hike by the Federal Reserve of the United
States (“Fed”) not only disrupts the global financial markets and affects
global steady growth, but is also detrimental to China’s economic recovery.
According to the minutes of the policy meeting in May 2023, the market
expects that the Fed is nearing the end of raising interest rates and may even
suspend raising it in mid-2023, but the Fed has also been emphasising that
it will keep high interest rates for a long time to curb inflation, and the market
is beginning to worry about the onset of recession. The future development
of the global economy is yet to be seen, but there are opportunities amid
crisis. Although the Group currently does not have any detailed plans for
material investment or capital asset, the Group will continue to leverage
its strengths to enhance its business performance, so as to meet possible
challenges in the future. Going forward, the Group remains cautiously
optimistic. Leveraging on the further development of the Milk Products
Business, it is hopeful that the financial results of the Group will continue to
rise, and it is expected that the Group will be able to create greater value for
its shareholders.
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Corporate Governance Report
TEEABRS

The Company is committed to enhancing the standards of corporate
governance of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) in
order to safeguard the long-term interests of shareholders of the Company
(the “Shareholders”), customers and employees of the Company. The board
(the “Board”) of directors (the “Director(s)”) of the Company continues to
monitor and review the corporate governance practices as adopted and
strives to meet the rising expectations of the Shareholders and fulfil the
commitment to maintain high standards of corporate governance which
delivers long-term success of the Group.

COMPLIANCE WITH CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

The Company has applied the principles of, and complied with all applicable
code provisions of the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set
out in part 2 of Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
(the “Listing Rules” on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”) throughout the year ended 31 March 2023, save and
except for the deviation as follows:

Following the resignations of Mr. Xiong Jianrui and Mr. Yi Peijian from all their
posts in the Company with effect from 1 October 2022, the posts of the
chairman (the “Chairman”) and chief executive officer (the “Chief Executive
Officer”) of the Company have been vacant and have not been filled up as
at the date of this annual report. Therefore, the Company has not met the
requirements of () the roles of chairman and chief executive under code
provision C.2.1 and (i) the responsibilities of chairman under code provisions
C.2.2 to C.2.9 of the CG Code. Since then, the duties of the Chairman
and the Chief Executive Officer have been shared among the members
of the Board. The Board and the nomination committee of the Company
(the “Nomination Committee”) will continuously review and discuss the
adjustment to the composition of the Board.

BOARD

Board Responsibilities

The Board is responsible for providing high-level guidance, leadership
and control for the Company. The Board formulates mid and long-term
strategies, monitors operational and financial performance, reviews the
annual business plans and financial budgets, ensures good corporate
governance and makes key decisions of the Company, including but not
limited to those affecting strategic policies of the Group, major investment
and funding decisions and major commitments relating to the operations of
the Group.
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Corporate Governance Report

Board Composition

The Board currently has five Directors comprising two executive Directors
and three independent non-executive Directors. Members of the Board
during the year and up to the date of this annual report are set out as below:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Chen Xu

Ms. Wu Feizi (appointed on 18 October 2022)

Mr. Xiong Jianrui (Chairman) (resigned on 1 October 2022)

Mr. Yi Peijian (Chief Executive Officer) (resigned on 1 October 2022)
Mr. Chen Zeyu (resigned on 18 October 2022)

Independent Non-executive Directors:

Mr. Li Chak Hung

Mr. Choi Kin Man

Mr. Zhao Lei (appointed on 1 March 2023)

Mr. Ngai Wah Sang (resigned on 1 March 2023)

The biographical details of the Directors are set out in the “Biographical
Information of Directors and Senior Management” of this annual report on
pages 43 to 45.

The Company currently has three independent non-executive Directors,
representing more than one-third of the Board, to bring an independent
judgement to issues of strategy, policy, key appointments and standards of
conduct. All independent non-executive Directors are appointed for a term
of three years subject to early termination in accordance with the terms
of the respective letters of appointment and retirement by rotation and re-
election and other related provisions as stipulated in the bye-laws of the
Company (the “Bye-laws”) and the Listing Rules. Among the independent
non-executive Directors, at least one of the independent non-executive
Directors has the appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or
related financial management expertise under Rule 3.10 of the Listing Rules.
The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive
Directors an annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules and the Company continues to consider all the
independent non-executive Directors to be independent.

Appointment and Re-election of Directors

Pursuant to bye-law 84(1) of the Bye-laws, notwithstanding any other
provisions in the Bye-laws, at each annual general meeting one-third of
the Directors for the time being shall retire from office by rotation provided
that every Director shall be subject to retirement at least once every three
years. Mr. Li Chak Hung and Mr. Choi Kin Man will retire from office as
Directors at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company to
be held on Friday, 8 September 2023 (the “AGM”) and, being eligible, will
offer themselves for re-election as Directors at the AGM, and be subject to
separate resolutions to be approved at the AGM.
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Pursuant to bye-law 83(2) of the Bye-laws, the Directors shall have the
power from time to time and at any time to appoint any person as a Director
either to fill a casual vacancy on the Board or, subject to authorisation by the
members of the Company in general meeting, as an addition to the existing
Board. Any Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy shall
hold office until the first general meeting of members of the Company after
his or her appointment and be subject to re-election at such meeting and
any Director appointed by the Board as an addition to the existing Board
shall hold office only until the next following annual general meeting of the
Company and shall then be eligible for re-election. Ms. Wu Feizi and Mr.
Zhao Lei will retire from office as Directors at the AGM and, being eligible, will
offer themselves for re-election as Directors at the AGM, and be subject to
separate resolutions to be approved at the AGM.

Relationship Between Board Members
There is no relationship (including financial, business, family or other material/
relevant relationships) between Board members.

Board and Committees Meetings

During the year, the Company held five Board meetings and the individual
attendance records of each Director at the meetings of the Board, the Audit
Committee, the Nomination Committee, the Remuneration Committee, the
Credit Committee and annual general meeting are set out below:

TRIBHARIF83(2)1% - EEARS A AR K HER
ZEEFALTAES BLUERESTHRR
ERFEARTDRRIREAE LIRETE
MRBEFEANYZRB-FHEEEES
FLIEHBERERZEF 2 THREERES
FREERRAGRL WARZAGELE
BEM ARUEEFEEZELENRAES
SANBZESZAREEERRT TERRE
BEAGHL BERERNEGEREEET-
BIFFRERBEERERIBRRBEFAEG L
BREBFERD UNEERRRRENRER
BERELEERES S //,\L/@%_L/;%u&?w
ERARKRRBFAG LEER

ERgMEZERE
EFemBZBEHERG (QEVE X5
KGR EMERHARIRAR) o

EXEREEEEH

REFER ARBERBTEREETTEH

MBEFNEFE BFZET RBEE
 HNEEGREEREGZTRAUMR

%ﬂiﬁ@ﬁ’ﬂl%ﬂﬁfﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁﬂ?l

Number of meetings attended/held

HE/ BTEERH

Annual

Audit Nomination Remuneration Credit general

16

Directors Board Committee Committee Committee  Committee meeﬂtrxilrg
5% EXE BLEEY RLZEE HFWEREE® (EZ88 BEKE
Executive Directors HTES
Chen Xu B ® 5/5 N/AREMH il 0/0 0/0 il
Wu Feizi (|

(appointed on 18 October 2022) (RZBZ_F+A+/\BEZM) 22 NARER NATER 0/0 0/0 0/0
Xiong Jianrui (Chairman) BERITE (2 )

(resigned on 1 October 2022) ( _2::E+ﬁ HEE 212 N/ARER 1 1n NATER 1
Yi Peijian (Chief Executive Offcer) BRI (1T HAE#)

(resigned on 1 October 2022) (E’\\_giiﬁ‘lﬂ—ﬁ ) 212 NATERE NATEH NARER  NARER 11
Chen Zeyu REF

(resigned on 18 October 2022) (RZZZZF+A+N\BFD 33 NATER NATES 11 NATER il
Independent Non-executive Directors B JFHITES
Li Chak Hung =gl 5/5 3/3 1 11 NAREBE 1/
Choi Kin Man ZRER 5/5 3/3 il 11 NATEBE il
Zhao Lei # &

(appointed on 1 March 2023) W_Z_=ZF£=ZR—REZF il 0/0 0/0 0/0 0/0 0/0
Ngai Wah Sang %%%E

(resigned on 1 March 2023) (RZZZ=F=F—H#MD 4/4 3/3 11 11 NATER 1
Note: PEE
Attendances of the Directors during the year were made by reference to the number of such REAFEREEZHEBERN2ENRRESBZEH
meetings held during their respective tenure. NBITZHEBREEREEL
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Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

During the period from 1 April to 30 September 2022, the posts of the
Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer are held separately by Mr. Xiong
Jianrui and Mr. Yi Peijian, respectively, with a clear and distinct division of
responsibilities.

The Chairman provides leadership and is responsible for ensuring effective
and smooth functioning and operation of the Board and the overall strategy
of the Group and establishing good corporate governance practices and
procedures. The Chairman also ensures that all Directors are properly briefed
on all issues arising at Board meetings and receive adequate, accurate and
reliable information in a timely manner.

The Chief Executive Officer focuses on the overall management, operation
and business development of the Group and implementing important policies
and development strategies as adopted by the Board in order to ensure a
successful day-to-day management of the business of the Group.

This segregation of roles ensures reinforcement of their independence,
responsibility and accountability.

Since Mr. Xiong Jianrui and Mr. Yi Peijian have resigned all their posts in
the Company on 1 October 2022, both posts have been vacant and have
not been filled up as at the date of this annual report. Since then, the
duties of the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer have been shared
among the members of the Board and no meeting of the Chairman with the
independent non-executive Directors without the presence of other executive
Directors was held during the year.

Board Independence

The Company has established mechanisms to ensure independent views
and input from the Directors, and also provides the Directors with sufficient
resources to preform their duties including but not limited to seek external
independent professional advice, in appropriate circumstances, at the
Company’s expenses. In addition, Directors will be continuously updated on
the major developments of the Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory
requirements to ensure compliance and upkeep corporate governance
practices. The Board considers that the implementation of mechanisms is
effective.
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Directors’ Continuous Professional Development Training

The Company has received confirmation from each of the Directors that he
or she had participated in continuous professional development training to
develop and refresh his or her knowledge and skills in accordance with code
provision C.1.4 of the CG Code during the year. According to the records
provided by the Directors and maintained by the Company, the training
received by the Directors during the year is summarised as follows:

EERETRERIES
Z&@TEH&*%%%ZE@S@ P HERIRER
RIBEEREBTRZTRIMESCECA 4R
FEERSHEFEEXEEREI UEEK
EMAEMB R - REEFFIRERER
BFENZR ESNAFEERNEZNE
BT

Updates to
Corporate laws, rules and Finance/
Directors governance regulations management
B RA R
5% TEER RBIZEH B/ BB
Executive Directors RiTES
Chen Xu k" AC AC C
Wu Feizi (appointed on 18 October 2022) REFRBZ_F+A+/\BEZD ABC ABC ABC
Xiong Jianrui (Chairman) BRI (28)

(resigned on 1 October 2022) ( RZEZZF+A—HHD C © ©
Yi Peijian (Chief Executive Offcer) B8 (1T HARH)

(resigned on 1 October 2022) (EA_ S +H—B#D C © ©
Chen Zeyu (resigned on 18 October 2022) REF R_Z-"F+A+N\BED AC AC C
Independent Non-executive Directors BiFHTES
Li Chak Hung TR ABC ABC ABC
Choi Kin Man ZRE AB AB B
Ngai Wah Sang (resigned on 1 March 2023) MEE (RZS=F£=F—B#MD ABC ABC ABC
Zhao Lei (appointed on 1 March 2023) # ZMIZ=F=-F—HEZD ABC ABC BC
Form of training: Bl
A: Tutorial/Seminar A: ﬁu%/uﬁf
B: Online learning B: 4L
C: Reading materials ©: Eﬁgm‘ﬂ
Board Diversity EEEHEZTE

The Company adopted a Board diversity policy (the “Diversity Policy”) setting
out the approach to achieve diversity of the Board. The Company recognises
and embraces the benefits of having a diverse Board to enhance the quality
of its performance. With a view to achieving a sustainable and balanced
development, the Company sees increasing diversity at the Board level as
an essential element in supporting the attainment of its strategic objectives
and its sustainable development. In designing the Board’s composition,
Board diversity has been considered from a number of aspects, including
but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background,
ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service. All
Board appointments will be based on meritocracy, and candidates will be
considered against objective criteria, having due regard for the benefits of
diversity on the Board. The Nomination Committee will review the Diversity
Policy, as appropriate, to ensure its effectiveness.
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The proportion of female Board representation is a measurable objective
of the Company in assessing the implementation of the Diversity Policy.
The Board currently has one female Director out of five Directors, achieving
the gender diversity of the Board at 20%. The Board targets to maintain
at least the current level of female representation, with the ultimate goal of
increasing the proportion of female members over time as and when suitable
candidates are identified.

The five Directors are from diverse and complementary backgrounds,
including cross-border e-commerce, business development, sales and
marketing, accounting, finance management, corporate finance, asset
management, investment, media and public relation. The valuable experience
and expertise they bring to our business are critical for the long-term growth
of the Group.

During the year, the Board conducted an annual review of the
implementation and effectiveness of the Diversity Policy and is satisfied that
the Diversity Policy has been properly implemented and is effective.

In striving to maintain gender diversity, similar considerations applied when
recruiting and selecting senior management and general staff. As of 31
March 2023, a 1:1.9 male to female gender ratio, being a measurable
objective for gender diversity, has been achieved in the workforce (including
senior management). Further information about the composition of the
Group’s workforce is set out in the separate “Environmental, Social and
Governance Report”.

Directors’ Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix 10 to
the Listing Rules.

Specific enquiry has been made to each of the Directors and all Directors
confirmed that they had complied with the required standards as set out in
the Model Code throughout the year.

DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

Day-to-day management and operation of the Group are delegated to the
management of the Company. The Board provides clear directions to the
management as to its powers and circumstances in which the management
shall report to the Board.

The Company has arranged appropriate Directors’ and officers’ liability
insurance in respect of legal action against Directors. In addition, each
Director or other officers of the Company shall be entitled to be indemnified
out of the assets of the Company against all losses or liabilities which he or
she may sustain or incur in or about the execution of the duties of his or her
office or otherwise in relation thereto in accordance with the Bye-laws.
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The Management

The management, under the leadership of the Chief Executive Officer until
30 September 2022 and the executive Directors since 1 October 2022, is
responsible for the day-to-day management of the Group’s businesses, the
implementation of the strategies approved by the Board and the general
operations of the Company as delegated by the Board. Such delegation is
closely monitored and regularly reviewed by the Board. The management
has to report to the Board and obtain approval from the Board prior to
entering into any significant decisions or any commitments on behalf of the
Company.

Board Committees

The Board has delegated authority to the Audit Committee, the Nomination
Committee and the Remuneration Committee to deal with specific matters
under defined terms of reference which are reviewed and updated regularly
to ensure that they remain appropriate and in line with the Group’s business
and changes in governance practices.

On 29 March 2023, the Board has established a credit committee of the
Company (the “Credit Committee”), consisting of two executive Directors
(Mr. Chen Xu and Ms. Wu Feizi) and one independent non-executive Director
(Mr. Zhao Lei, who also acts as chairman of the Credit Committee), which
is responsible for formulating the credit policy of the Group for ensuring the
business risks of the Group are monitored.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

As at the date of this annual report, the Remuneration Committee,
consisting of two executive Directors (Mr. Chen Xu and Ms. Wu Feizi) and
three independent non-executive Directors (Mr. Li Chak Hung, Mr. Choi
Kin Man and Mr. Zhao Lei (chairman of the Remuneration Committee)), is
delegated with the authority from the Board to establish, review and make
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration policy and practices
of the Group. Mr. Xiong Jianrui and Mr. Chen Zeyu ceased to be a member
of the Remuneration Committee on 1 October 2022 and 18 October 2022
respectively, and Mr. Ngai Wah Sang ceased to be the chairman and a
member of the Remuneration Committee on 1 March 2023.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee follow the guidelines
as set out in the CG Code and are available on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company.

The main duties of the Remuneration Committee are to make
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages of executive
Directors and senior management, recommend to the Board the policy and
structure on the remuneration of all Directors and senior management to
ensure that no Director or any of his or her associates is involved in deciding
his or her own remuneration and in reviewing and approving compensation-
related issues.
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During the year, the Remuneration Committee held one meeting (the
attendance records of the members at the meeting is set out in the section
headed “Board — Board and Committees Meetings” above) and also dealt
with matters by way of circulation. It performed works including to review
the policy and structure on the remuneration of all Directors and senior
management, recommend to the Board the remuneration of executive
Directors and senior management, and the remuneration packages for
the newly appointed Directors (including the renewal of appointment of
the independent non-executive Directors). Particulars of the Directors’
emoluments are set out in note 12 to the consolidated financial statements.

The Remuneration Committee has assessed the performance of executive
Directors and approved the terms of executive Directors’ service contracts.

During the year, since there were no shares granted under the Share Option
Scheme (as stated in the Directors’ Report), no material matters relating
to the Share Option Scheme under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules were
required to be reviewed or approved by the Remuneration Committee.

Senior Management’s Remuneration

Of the senior management of the Group, nine (2022: seven) Directors’
emoluments are set out in note 12 to the consolidated financial statements.
The remuneration payable to the remaining two members (2022: two
members) of senior management by band for the year ended 31 March
2023, pursuant to code provision E.1.5 of the CG Code, was as follows:
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

As at the date of this annual report, the Nomination Committee, consisting of
one executive Director (Mr. Chen Xu) and three independent non-executive
Directors (Mr. Li Chak Hung (chairman of the Nomination Committee), Mr.
Choi Kin Man and Mr. Zhao Lei), is delegated with the authority from the
Board to formulate and implement the policy for nominating candidates for
approval of the Board and to assess the independence and commitment
of independent non-executive Directors. Mr. Xiong Jianrui ceased to be
the chairman and a member of the Nomination Committee on 1 October
2022 and Mr. Ngai Wah Sang ceased to be a member of the Nomination
Committee on 1 March 2023.

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee follow the guidelines
as set out in the CG Code and are available on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company.
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The main duties of the Nomination Committee are to review the
structure, size and composition of the Board, to formulate policy and
make recommendations to the Board on appointment or reappointment
of the Directors and on the succession plan for senior management of
the Company (including Directors), and to assess the independence of
independent non-executive Directors.

During the year, the Nomination Committee held one meeting (the
attendance record of the members at the meeting is set out in the section
headed “Board — Board and Committees Meetings” above) and also dealt
with matters by way of circulation. It performed works including to review
the Diversity Policy and the Nomination Policy, review the structure, size
and composition of the Board, and the time commitment of Directors to
perform their responsibilities, discuss the succession planning of the senior
management of the Company, consider the retirement and re-election of
Directors, assess the independence of the independent non-executive
Directors and make recommendation to the Board of the appointment of
the newly appointed Directors (including the renewal of appointment of the
independent non-executive Directors).

Nomination Policy

The Company maintains high transparency in the Board member selection
process. The nomination policy formulated by the Nomination Committee
aims to ensure the Board maintains a balance of skills, experience and
diversity of perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the Company’s
business. The Nomination Committee has been delegated with responsibility
to identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board members and
select or make recommendations to the Board on the selection of individuals
nominated for directorships. The criteria applied in considering whether a
candidate is qualified shall be his or her ability to devote sufficient time and
attention to the affairs of the Company and contribute to the diversity of the
Board (including gender diversity). By adopting such criteria, it facilitates
the Company to develop a pipeline of candidates to the Board to achieve
gender diversity. The Board is ultimately responsible for the selection and
appointment of new Directors.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Financial Reporting

The Board is responsible for presenting a balanced, clear and
understandable assessment of the Group’s performance and prospects in
this annual report and other financial disclosures as required by the Listing
Rules. The Directors also acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
financial statements that give a true and fair view of the Group’s financial
position on a going concern basis. A statement by the external auditor
of the Company in respect of its reporting responsibilities is set out in the
“Independent Auditor’s Report”.
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Risk Management and Internal Control

The Board places great importance on risk management and internal control
and acknowledges that it has the ultimate responsibility for overseeing
the management in the design, implementation and monitoring of the risk
management and internal control systems of the Group on an on-going
basis. The Board also acknowledges that it is responsible for reviewing the
adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal
control systems.

The Group maintained the risk management and internal control systems
which are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to
achieve business objectives, and to provide reasonable and not absolute
assurance against material misstatement or losses caused by judgement in
decision making process, human error, fraud or other irregularities. These
systems cover key controls over financial, operational and compliance
controls and, including but not limited to, risk management functions,
adequacy of resources of the Group’s accounting and financial reporting
functions and an annual control and risk self-assessment process.

In order to comply with the applicable code provisions set out in the CG
Code, the Board has retained an external independent professional firm as
the outsourced internal auditor with a view to facilitating the adequacy of
resources and quality of review to satisfy the Group’s internal audit function
as required by the Stock Exchange and to assist the Board to perform
annual reviews on the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and
internal control systems for the year ended 31 March 2023.

The Board had reviewed the adequacy of resources, qualifications
and experience of staff, their training programmes and budget of the
Company’s accounting, internal audit, financial reporting functions, as well
as those relating to the Company’s environmental, social and governance
performance and reporting.

During the year, the Group had conducted an annual risk assessment
which identified respective strategic risks, operational risks, financial risks
and compliance risks for the Group. Based on the risk assessment results
following a risk-based methodology audit approach, a three-year audit plan
was devised which prioritised the risks identified into annual audit projects.
The annual review was performed according to the audit plan with a view
to assist the Board and the Audit Committee in evaluating the effectiveness
of the Group’s risk management and internal control systems. The Group
had taken further steps to enhance its risk management and internal control
systems based on some weaknesses identified during risk assessment
and examination of the internal control systems, and had strengthened the
implementation of all the risk management and internal control systems.
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The Group has also established a policy on handling and dissemination of
inside information that sets out the procedures in handling inside information
in an accurate and secure manner and to avoid possible mishandling of
inside information within the Group. Those procedures mainly include the
following:

o no Directors or employees shall disclose inside information to any
third parties. Directors or employees who are in possession of inside
information are obliged to preserve confidentiality and restrict access
to the information on a need-to-know and confidential basis;

o the Company is obliged to comply with the requirements of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong
Kong) and make disclosure of any inside information as soon as
practicable if the Board decides an announcement is required; and

. any Director or employee shall report to the Chief Executive Officer,
chief financial officer and company secretary (the “Company
Secretary”) of the Company immediately when he or she is aware of
any potential inside information.

During the year, the Board, through the Audit Committee, has conducted
a review of the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control
systems and considers them effective and adequate.

Risks and Uncertainties
The principal risks and uncertainties faced by the Group are set out in the
section headed “Risks and Uncertainties” under the “Directors’ Report”.

Audit Committee

As at the date of this annual report, the Audit Committee, consisting of three
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Li Chak Hung (chairman of
the Audit Committee), Mr. Choi Kin Man and Mr. Zhao Lei, is delegated with
the authority from the Board to review and provide independent oversight of
the financial statements and reporting, risk management and internal control
systems, and to ensure the adequacy of the external and internal audits. Mr.
Ngai Wah Sang ceased to be a member of the Audit Committee on 1 March
2023.

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee follow the guidelines as set

out in the CG Code and are available on the websites of the Stock Exchange
and the Company.
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The main duties of the Audit Committee are to assist the Board in reviewing
the financial statements and reports and significant financial reporting
judgements, effectiveness of internal audit function, risk management
and internal control systems, audit process, appointment, reappointment
and removal of the external auditors, arrangements which employees of
the Company can use, in confidence, to raise concerns about possible
improprieties in financial reporting, internal control or other matters of the
Company.

The Audit Committee had reviewed the accounting principles and practices
adopted by the Group together with the management of the Company, and
had reviewed and approved the audited consolidated financial statements of
the Group for the year ended 31 March 2023 as set out in this annual report.

During the year, the Audit Committee held three meetings (the attendance
records of the members at the meeting are set out in the section headed
“Board - Board and Committees Meetings” above) and also dealt with
matters by way of circulation. It performed works including to review the
interim and annual results of the Group and discuss and recommend for
the Board’s approval the relevant financial reports, the effectiveness of the
internal audit function, the Group’s risk management and internal control
systems, significant accounting and audit issues, scope of audit, re-
appointment of external auditor and its independence, risk assessment result
and internal audit activities, the adequacy of resources, qualifications and
experiences of staff of the Company’s accounting and financial reporting
functions, and their training programmes and budget and review the whistle
blower policy, review and discuss the audit plan from the external auditor and
approve the remuneration and terms of engagement of the external auditor.

There was no disagreement between the Board and the Audit Committee on
the selection, appointment, resignation or dismissal of the external auditor
during the year.

The Audit Committee monitors the audit and non-audit services rendered
to the Group by the external auditor and ensures that the engagement
of the external auditor in other non-audit services will not impair its audit
independence or objectivity. The external auditor had confirmed to the Audit
Committee that during the course of its audit on the Group’s consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2023 and thereafter up to
the date of this annual report, it is independent of the Group in accordance
with the independence requirements of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants.
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P [-<SNJAN o
TEEA/RRS
Auditor’s Remuneration % BB
An analysis of the remuneration paid/payable to the Group’s external auditor, BHE_ZE_—F=-HFA=1+—HLEEE'HE
Crowe (HK) CPA Limited, and its affiliates in respect of audit and non-audit 1/ B FTEAERIIEZBAEELEE (B
services for the year ended 31 March 2023 is set out as follows: ) Bt EBMBRAB RE D T HER
BB RIFESTRBZFHMOFMT
HK$’000
Services rendered for the Group: EAKTERRHB R FAET
Audit service Z B AR5 1,000
Non-audit services IEZBARTS 450
1,450

The Audit Committee had reviewed and approved the above fee in respect RAFERN BZEZEGEBRRALENE
of audit service and non-audit services provided to the Group by the ZEEM R E D T EHE A EBIRHNZER
external auditor and its affiliates for the year. The non-audit services for BRIEZEBRBEMEER L ER - HE
the year ended 31 March 2023 included review of interim results, Australia ST F=-A=+—HIFEZIFZHRE

tax analysis, internal audit review and risk assessment, and review of FTEOEERPHARS RMNREBEI2N A
environmental, social and governance report. HMZBBRARRARTEURFBRARE - TE

RERKRE -

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS EERERMAE

The Board recognises that the Directors are collectively responsible for the EEeMIAEEEREECEERBE &

corporate governance duties. Such duties are, including but not limited to: EHEVRERRER

. developing and reviewing the Company’s policies and practices on . HERBE A ABINEEEBRRRR
corporate governance and making recommendations; B WIRHER

. reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous professional . B AREREERA AR BREIER
development of the Directors and senior management of the NIBIIRSEEEERE;

Company;

. reviewing and monitoring the Company’s policies and practices on . B RERNRNETEET LA EREE
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements; HEABENBEKRER ;

. developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of conduct and . BlIE- B AERAEEREERES
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees of the Group and MigFEAREHFM @A) ; &
the Directors; and

. reviewing the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and the . RN AABETEEEATANGER
disclosure in the corporate governance report. REGEERBRENNIEE -

During the year, the Board had reviewed and performed the abovementioned REAFERN EEZERTRET LMibE

corporate governance functions. BAHAE-
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SHAREHOLDER AND INVESTOR RELATIONS

Communication with Shareholders

The Board established a shareholders’ communication policy (the
“Shareholders’ Communication Policy”) setting out the principles of the
Company in relation to shareholders’ communications and the channels
for Shareholders to communicate their opinions as detailed below, with the
objective of ensuring that its communications with the Shareholders are
timely, transparent, accurate and open.

Corporate information dissemination is achieved via the following means:

o The annual general meeting of the Company allows the Directors
to meet and communicate with the Shareholders. The notice to
Shareholders is to be sent in the case of annual general meeting at
least 21 days before the meeting and to be sent at least 14 days
in case of all other general meetings. An explanation of the detailed
procedures of conducting a poll is provided to the Shareholders at the
commencement of the meeting. The Shareholders can raise questions
directly to the Board in respect of business performance and future
development of the Group. The poll results are published on the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

o Publication of annual reports, interim reports, announcements and
circulars.

o The websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange, on which the
electronic copies of financial reports and the latest information of the
Company are available.

The website of the Company provides the Shareholders with contact details
of the Company such as telephone number, fax number, email address and
postal address. The Shareholders may address their enquiries and concerns
to the Board via these means.

During the year, the Board conducted a review of the implementation and
effectiveness of the Shareholders’ Communication Policy. Having considered
the multiple channels of communication and engagement in place as
detailed above and in the Shareholders’ Communication Policy, the Board
is satisfied that the Shareholders’ Communication Policy has been properly
implemented and is effective.

General Meetings
During the year, the annual general meeting was held on 8 September 2022.
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Dividend Policy

The Company adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”) setting
out the approach to recommend the dividend payment. According to the
Dividend Policy, the declaration of dividends is subject to the Company’s
ability to pay dividends, which will depend upon, including but not limited to,
the financial performance and position of the Company, business conditions
and strategies, and any other factors that the Board may deem relevant.
The Board may consider declaring special dividends from time to time,
in addition to the interim and/or annual dividends. The Board reviews the
Dividend Policy and its effectiveness as required to ensure the benefit of the
Shareholders as a whole is taken into consideration from time to time during
recommendation and declaration of dividends.

Shareholders’ Rights

Shareholders are provided with contact details of the Company in order
to enable them to make any enquiries that they may have with respect to
the Company. In addition, Shareholders can contact the share registrar
and transfer office of the Company if they have any enquiries about their
shareholdings and entitiements to dividends.

Pursuant to bye-law 58 of the Bye-laws, Shareholders holding not less
than one-tenth of the paid-up capital of the Company who have the right to
vote at general meetings of the Company shall at all times have the right,
by written requisition to the Board or the Company Secretary, to request
the Board to convene a special general meeting for the transaction of any
business specified in such requisition. Such meeting shall be held within
two months after the deposit of such requisition. If, within 21 days of
such deposit, the Board does not proceed duly to call such meeting, the
Shareholders who requested such meeting may themselves call a special
general meeting.

Shareholders who wish to make proposals or move a resolution are
encouraged to convene a special general meeting in accordance with the
paragraph hereinabove.

Investor Relations

For the year ended 31 March 2023, there was no change in the Bye-
laws which are available on the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary is a full-time employee of the Company and is
appointed by the Board. The Company Secretary is accountable to the
Board for ensuring that correct Board procedures are followed and that the
Board is fully briefed on all legislative and regulatory developments, and to
advise the Board on all corporate governance matters. Pursuant to Rule 3.29
of the Listing Rules, the Company Secretary undertook at least 15 hours of
relevant professional training during the year.

Please refer to the “Biographical Information of Directors and Senior

Management” of this annual report on pages 43 to 45 for further information
of the Company Secretary.
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The board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Director(s)”) of the Company
presents this annual report together with the audited consolidated financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) for
the year ended 31 March 2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The principal
activities and details of its principal subsidiaries as at 31 March 2023 are set
out in note 34 to the consolidated financial statements of this annual report.

The principal activities of the Group are the trading of milk powder and
baby foods (the “Milk Products Business”), provision of warehouse logistics
services (the “Logistics Business”), property investment (the “Property
Investment”) and the provision of mobile handset solution (the “Mobile
Business”), out of which the Mobile Business was discontinued during the
year ended 31 March 2023. An analysis of the performance of the Group for
the year ended 31 March 2023 by business segments is set out in note 5 to
the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND DIVIDEND
The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2023 are set out in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income on
page 52 of this annual report.

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the year
ended 31 March 2023 (2022: Nil). No interim dividend was declared or paid
to the shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”) for the six months
ended 30 September 2022 (30 September 2021: Nil).

The Company has not made any arrangement under which a Shareholder
has waived or agreed to waive any dividends.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company adopted a dividend policy setting out the approach to
recommend the dividend payment. Please refer to the section headed
“Dividend Policy” under the “Corporate Governance Report” for details.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The annual general meeting of the Company (the “AGM”) is scheduled to be
held on Friday, 8 September 2023 and the notice of AGM will be published
and issued to the Shareholders as required by the Listing Rules in due
course.
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For the purpose of determining Shareholders’ entitlement to attend and
vote at the AGM, the register of members of the Company will be closed
from Tuesday, 5 September 2023 to Friday, 8 September 2023, both days
inclusive, during which period no transfer of shares of the Company (the
“Share(s)” will be registered. In order to be eligible to attend and vote at
the AGM, unregistered holders of the Shares should ensure that all transfer
documents accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged
with the Company’s share registrar, Tricor Investor Services Limited of 17/F.,
Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong for registration not
later than 4:30 p.m. on Monday, 4 September 2023.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2023 is
set out in the “Management Discussion and Analysis”, and “Corporate
Governance Report” from pages 4 to 13 and pages 14 to 28 of this annual
report and the paragraphs below. The outlook of the Group is set out in
“Management Discussion and Analysis” from pages 4 to 13 of this annual
report. A discussion on the Group’s environmental policies and performance
and the Group’s compliance with relevant laws and regulations as well as an
account of the Group’s key relationships with its employees, customers and
suppliers and others that have a significant impact on the Group are also set
out in the separate “Environmental, Social and Governance Report”. All such
discussions form part of this Directors’ report.

Risks and Uncertainties

The following section lists out the principal risks and uncertainties faced
by the Group. It is a non-exhaustive list and there may be other risks and
uncertainties in addition to the key risk areas outlined below.

General Economic and Market Conditions

The businesses of the Group may be affected by the global economic and
market conditions. Slow economic growth or a recession could affect the
operating results of the Group. The Group cannot control market conditions
but believes it has adequate measures in place to respond to the changes.

Competitive Environment

The Group faces competition from other distributors and manufacturers.
Failure to compete successfully with the existing and/or potential competitors
may adversely affect the Group’s business, financial condition and operating
results. To mitigate the risk of competition, the Group continues to focus
on product quality, sales and marketing, network, product varieties, pricing,
service, and source of resources.
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Coronavirus disease 2019 (the “COVID-19”)

The business operations and financial performance of the Group may be
continuously affected by COVID-19 pandemic. As mentioned above, slow
economic growth or a recession could affect the operating results of the
Group. It is difficult to assess the severity of impact on the economy caused
by COVID-19.

Risks and Measures for Reliance on Suppliers and Customers

During the year, the Group’s five largest customers combined and five largest
suppliers combined accounted for 99.3% of the sales of the Group and
99.9% of the purchases of the Group, respectively.

In minimising the risk of heavy reliance on a narrow base of customers,
the Group has been actively pursuing new potential customers in order to
broaden its customer base.

The Group has maintained long-term relationships with the suppliers and
also established a strategic supplier system via strategic cooperation with
key suppliers, forming a framework for mutual growth and support.

Relationship with Suppliers

The Group has established strong relationships with its suppliers. However,
the operations of the Group largely depend on a stable supply of products
from the suppliers. Failure to maintain a relationship with the suppliers may
adversely affect the Group’s operating results. The Group dedicates to
fostering strong and long-term cooperation relationships with its suppliers
to ensure a stable, reasonably priced and quality supply of products for its
operation.

Financial Risk

The Group is exposed to a variety of financial risks. A discussion of the
policies and procedures on the management of each of the major types
of financial risks which the Group is facing is included in note 35 to the
consolidated financial statements of this annual report.

Compliance with Relevant Laws and Regulations

The Group is committed to ensuring compliance with the laws and
regulations which govern the Group’s businesses and operations. The Group
has complied with all the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the Group throughout the year. Further details about the Group’s
compliance with the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the Group are set out in the separate “Environmental, Social and
Governance Report”.
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Financial Key Performance Indicators
Details about the Group’s financial key performance indicators are set out in
the “Management Discussion and Analysis” in this annual report.

Environmental Policies and Performance

Details about the Group’s environmental policies and performance are
set out in the separate “Environmental, Social and Governance Report”
separately released on the website of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (“Stock Exchange”) and the website of the Company in the Annual
Reports section, the discussions of which form part of this annual report.

To access the online version of the Environmental, Social and Governance
Report, please refer to the website address set out in the “Corporate
Information” on page 3 of this annual report.

Relationship with Employees

The Group strongly believes that its staff is an invaluable asset to the Group
and is significant to the Group’s business. Therefore, the Group recognises
the importance of maintaining a good relationship with employees. The
Group maintains a policy of paying competitive remuneration. Remuneration
of employees which includes salary and discretionary performance bonus is
decided with reference to the results of the Group, the market level as well as
individual performance and contributions. Remuneration packages including
performance bonuses are reviewed on a regular basis by the Group.

Further information on the Group’s relationships with employees are also set
out in the separate “Environmental, Social and Governance Report”.

Relationships with Customers and Suppliers

The Group has established strong relationships with its customers. It will
maintain existing relationships with its customers and expand its customer
base to enhance its market presence.

The Group dedicates itself to fostering strong and long-term cooperation
relationships with its suppliers to ensure stable, reasonably priced and quality
supply of components and products for its operation.

Further information on the Group’s relationships with customers and
suppliers are also set out in the separate “Environmental, Social and
Governance Report”.

THE PLACING AND USE OF PROCEEDS

On 31 March 2022, the Company entered into a placing agreement (the
“Placing Agreement”) with Morton Securities Limited (the “Placing Agent”),
pursuant to which, the Placing Agent has conditionally agreed, as the placing
agent of the Company, to procure, on a best effort basis, not less than six
placees (the “Placees”) to subscribe for up to 34,920,000 Shares of the
Company (the “Placing Shares”) at the placing price of HK$1.40 per Placing
Share (the “Placing”). The market price of the Shares on 31 March 2022, the
date on which the terms of the Placing were fixed, was HK$1.37 per Share.
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The Placing is conditional upon (i) the Stock Exchange granting approval for
the listing of, and permission to deal in, the Placing Shares; (i) the Placees
not becoming a substantial shareholder (as defined in the Listing Rules) of
the Company as a result of the Placing; and (i) the warranties given by the
Company as set out in the Placing Agreement remaining true and correct.

The Placing Shares were allotted and issued under the general mandate
granted to the Directors at the annual general meeting of the Company
convened on 8 September 2021. The Directors are of the view that
the Placing will enhance the capital base and shareholders base of the
Company. In addition, the net proceeds of the Placing will strengthen
the Group’s financial position supporting the operations and business
development of the Group. The Placing was completed on 10 May 2022,
with a total of 34,920,000 Placing Shares being successfully placed to not
less than six Placees who are individuals, professionals, institutional or other
investors whom the Placing Agent has procured to subscribe for any of the
Placing Shares pursuant to its obligations under the Placing Agreement who
(including its ultimate beneficial owners) are regarded as public (as defined in
the Listing Rules) and independent of and not connected with the Company,
the Directors, chief executive and substantial Shareholders of the Group
or any of their respective associates. The aggregate nominal value of the
Placing Shares is US$5.6 million. The gross proceeds from the Placing were
approximately HK$48.9 million while the net proceeds were approximately
HK$47.8 million (after deduction of commission and other expenses of
the Placing), representing a net issue price of approximately HK$1.37 per
Placing Share. Details of the Placing were set out in the announcements
of the Company dated 31 March 2022, 11 April 2022 and 10 May 2022,
respectively.

It is intended that the net proceeds of approximately HK$47.8 million would
be used by the Group in the following manner:

(i) approximately HK$47.3 million shall be used for the purchase of
inventory for the Milk Products Business by the end of June 2022; and

(ii) approximately HK$0.5 million shall be used for general working
capital of the Group, including salary payments for the recruitment of
additional staff responsible for the Milk Products Business.

The Placing was completed on 10 May 2022, and the net proceeds from the
Placing of approximately HK$47.8 million were fully utilised for its intended
usage in the above manner during the year ended 31 March 2023.
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DIRECTORS

The list of the Directors during the year and thereafter up to the date of this
annual report is set out below and their biographical information are set out
in the “Biographical Information of Directors and Senior Management” from
pages 43 to 45 of this annual report.

Executive Directors

Chen Xu

Wu Feizi (appointed on 18 October 2022)

Xiong Jianrui (Chairman) (resigned on 1 October 2022)

Yi Peijian (Chief Executive Officer) (resigned on 1 October 2022)
Chen Zeyu (resigned on 18 October 2022)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Li Chak Hung

Choi Kin Man

Zhao Lei (appointed on 1 March 2023)

Ngai Wah Sang (resigned on 1 March 2023)

Pursuant to bye-law 83(2) of the bye-laws of the Company (the “Bye-laws”),
Ms. Wu Feizi and Mr. Zhao Lei will retire from office as Directors at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company to be held on the AGM
and, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election as Directors at the
AGM, and be subject to separate resolutions to be approved at the AGM.

Pursuant to bye-law 84 of the Bye-laws, Mr. Li Chak Hung and Mr. Choi Kin
Man will retire from office as Directors at the AGM and, being eligible, will
offer themselves for re-election as Directors at the AGM, and be subject to
separate resolutions to be approved at the AGM.

The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive
Directors an annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules and the Company continues to consider each of
independent non-executive Directors to be independent.

Directors’ Service Contracts

None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the AGM had a service
contract with the Group which was not determinable by the Group within one
year without payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.
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EMOLUMENT POLICY

Details of the Directors’ emoluments are set out in note 12 to the
consolidated financial statements.

The emoluments payable to Directors will depend on their respective
contractual terms under their service contracts or appointment letters
as approved by the Board on the recommendation of the Remuneration
Committee, with reference to the results of the Group, the market as well as
individual performance and contributions.

EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT BENEFITS
Details of the employee retirement benefits of the Group are set out in note
29 to the consolidated financial statements.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY

Pursuant to bye-law 164(1) of the Bye-laws, each Director or other officer
of the Company shall be entitled to be indemnified and secured harmless
out of the assets and profits of the Company from and against all actions,
costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which he or she may
incur or sustain in or about the execution of the duties of his or her office
or otherwise in relation thereto. The Company has arranged appropriate
insurance in respect of the liabilities and costs associated with any
proceedings which may be brought against its Directors and officers.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED SECURITIES
OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the listed securities of the Company for the year ended 31
March 2023.

SHARE CAPITAL
As at 31 March 2023, the total number of issued Shares was 349,280,383
of US$0.16 each (2022: 314,360,383 Shares of US$0.16 each).

Details of movements in share capital of the Company for the year ended
31 March 2023 are set out in note 32(b) to the consolidated financial
statements.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed in the section headed “The Placing and Use of Proceeds”
and “Share Option Scheme”, no equity-linked agreements that will or may
result in the Company issuing Shares or that require the Company to enter
into any agreements that will or may result in the Company issuing Shares
were entered into by the Company during the year or subsisted at the end of
the year.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company had adopted a share option scheme (the “Share Option
Scheme”) at the annual general meeting held on 8 September 2020. The
Share Option Scheme became effective on 8 September 2020 and, unless
otherwise cancelled or amended, will remain in force for 10 years from that
date.

The principal terms of the Share Option Scheme are set out as below:

1. Purpose
The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to incentivise and reward
participants who have contributed to the Group and to encourage
participants to work towards enhancing the value of the Company and
its Shares for the benefit of the Company and its Shareholders as a
whole.

2. Participants
The participants are any Directors (including executive Directors,
non-executive Directors and independent non-executive Directors),
Shareholders and employees of the Group and any advisers and
consultants of any member of the Group who the Board considers, in
its sole discretion, have contributed or will contribute to the Group.

3. Total number of Shares available for issue

The number of Shares which may be issued upon the exercise of
all share options granted or to be granted under the mandate of the
Share Option Scheme at the beginning and the end of the financial
year ended 31 March 2023 was 31,436,038 Shares, representing
10% of the issued Shares as at the date of adoption of the Share
Option Scheme and approximately 9% of the issued Shares as at the
date of this annual report.

4. Maximum entitlement of each participant
The maximum number of Shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of the options granted to each grantee under the Share
Option Scheme (including both exercised and outstanding options) in
any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the Shares in issue for
the time being, unless approved by Shareholders. No service provider
sub-limit was set under the Share Option Scheme

5 Period within which the Shares must be taken up under an

option

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the Share
Option Scheme at any time during the period to be notified by the
Board to each grantee upon the grant of options, such period which
shall not exceed 10 years from the date of grant of the relevant option.
Options granted during the life of the Share Option Scheme shall
continue to be exercisable in accordance with their terms of grant after
the expiry of the Share Option Scheme.
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6. Minimum period for which an option must be held before it can
be exercised
There is no general requirement on the minimum period for which
an option must be held or the performance targets which must be
achieved before the option can be exercised, under the terms of the
Share Option Scheme.

7. Amount payable on acceptance of the option and the payment

period

An offer is deemed to be accepted when the Company receives
from the grantee the offer letter signed by the grantee specifying the
number of Shares in respect of which the offer is accepted, and a
remittance to the Company of HK$1.00 as consideration for the grant
of the option within 28 days from the grant. Such remittance is not
refundable in any circumstance.

8. Basis of determining the exercise price
The exercise price shall be determined by the Board in its absolute
discretion but in any event shall not be less than the higher of:

(@  the closing price of the Shares as stated in the daily quotations
sheets issued by the Stock Exchange on the date of grant
which must be a business day;

(b)  the average closing price of the Shares as stated in the daily
quotations sheets issued by the Stock Exchange for the five
business days immediately preceding the date of the grant; and

(¢)  the nominal value of the Shares.

9. Remaining life of the Share Option Scheme
The Share Option Scheme shall remain in force for 10 years
commencing on 8 September 2020 up to and including 7 September
2030.

As at 31 March 2023, the remaining life of the Share Option Scheme
is approximately 7 years 5 months.

Since the adoption of the Share Option Scheme on 8 September 2020
and up to 31 March 2023, no options were granted, exercised, lapsed or
cancelled. At the beginning and at the end of the financial year ended 31
March 2023, the Company has no outstanding options.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES
At no time during or at the end of the year was the Company or any of its
subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire
benefits by means of the acquisition of Shares in, or debentures of, the
Company or any other body corporate with the exception of granting of
Share options to subscribe for Shares under the Share Option Scheme.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SECURITIES

As at 31 March 2023, none of the Directors, chief executives of the
Company nor their associates had any other personal, family, corporate
and other interests or short positions in the Shares, underlying Shares or
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter
571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFQO”)) as recorded in the register
required to be kept under section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code
for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in
Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER PERSONS’
INTERESTS

As at 31 March 2023, the following persons or entities, other than Directors
or chief executives of the Company, had or were deemed to have interests
or short positions in the Shares or underlying Shares which were recorded
in the register required to be kept by the Company under section 336 of the
SFO, or which were notified to the Company:

Long Positions in the Shares and Underlying Shares
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Approximate

Number of percentage of the
issued total number of
Shares held issued Shares MNete
Name of Shareholder Capacity FriT B 21T HEZETRMG
RERZTE 5% RHEE AR A" o b e
Ms. Chong Sok Un (“Ms. Chong”) Interests of controlled 207,026,615 59.27%
corporation
FERmLT (Lt TPk tote2)
()
Well Dynasty Investments Limited Beneficial owner 193,026,615 55.26%
(“Well Dynasty”)
ERBREERRE (IFER) BmEAA
Mr. Lee Ming-tee Beneficial owner 20,974,000 6.00%

FHAKLE BEmBEAA
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Notes:

1. The percentage of the total number of issued Share is based on the 349,280,383
Shares issued as at 31 March 2023.

2. Well Dynasty is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Miracle Planet Developments Limited,

which in turn is a company wholly owned by Ms. Chong. Vigor Online Offshore
Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of China Spirit Limited, owns 14,000,000 Shares.
Ms. Chong owns 100% beneficial interests in China Spirit Limited. Accordingly, Ms.
Chong is deemed to have an interest of (i) 193,026,615 Shares through Miracle Planet
Developments Limited and Well Dynasty; and (i) 14,000,000 Shares through China
Spirit Limited and Vigor Online Offshore Limited.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2023, there were no other persons
or entities, other than Directors or chief executives of the Company, had or
were deemed to have interests or short positions in the Shares or underlying
Shares which were recorded in the register required to be kept under section
336 of the SFO, or which were notified to the Company.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Bye-laws or the laws
of Bermuda, being the jurisdiction in which the Company was incorporated,
which would oblige the Company to offer new Shares on a pro-rata basis to
the existing Shareholders.

TAXATION RELIEF AND EXEMPTION
The Company is not aware of any tax relief or exemption available to
Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Shares.

CONNECTED TRANSACTION

For the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group has not entered into
any transactions which constitute connected transactions or continuing
connected transactions within the meaning of the Listing Rules.

The related party transactions entered into by the Group during the year
ended 31 March 20283 as disclosed in note 36 to the consolidated financial
statements of this annual report are either (i) not connected transactions or
continuing connected transactions; or (i) transactions that constituted fully
exempted connected transactions under the Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

During the year and up to the date of this annual report, Ms. Wu Feizi is the
sole director and general manager of JHL International Trading Pty Ltd, a
company engaged in cross-border e-commerce for trading and servicing of
mother and baby products, who is considered to have interests in a business
which competes or is likely to compete with the businesses of the Group
pursuant to the Listing Rules.

Although the above-mentioned Director had competing interests in another
company by virtue of her positions, she has fulfilled and will fulfil her
fiduciary duties in order to ensure that she will act in the best interests of the
Shareholders and the Company as a whole at all times. Hence, the Group is
capable of carrying on its businesses independently of, and at arm’s length
from, the businesses of such companies.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors and their respective
associates had any direct or indirect interest in a business which competes
or is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the businesses of the
Group.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS
OR CONTRACTS

No transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance in relation to
the business of the Group to which the Group was a party, and in which a
Director or his connected entity had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted as at 31 March 2023 or at any time during the year.

CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE WITH CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS

There were not any contracts of significance entered into between the Group
and any controlling Shareholders or its subsidiaries during or at the end of
the year ended 31 March 2023.

There were no contract of significance for the provision of services to the
Company or any of its subsidiaries by the Company’s controlling Shareholder
or any of its subsidiaries during the year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

Save for employment contracts, no other contracts concerning the
management and/or administration of the whole or any substantial part of
the business of the Company were entered into or subsisted during the year.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year, the aggregate sales attributable to the Group’s five largest
customers and the aggregate purchases attributable to the Group’s five
largest suppliers were approximately 99.3% and 99.9% of the Group’s sales
and purchases, respectively.

During the year, the aggregate sales attributable to the Group’s largest
customer and the aggregate purchases attributable to the Group’s largest
supplier were approximately 51.3% and 53.5% of the Group’s sales and
purchases, respectively.

Based on the available information to the Directors, none of the Directors, or
any of their close associates or any Shareholders (which owns more than 5%
of the total number of issued Shares) had an interest in these major suppliers
or customers of the Group.

INVESTMENT PROPERTY

The Group’s investment property was revalued on 31 March 2023 at
approximately AUD8.0 million (equivalent to approximately HK$42.1 million).
The valuation gain on investment property of approximately HK$1.3 million
has been credited to the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

Particulars of property held for investment of the Group at 31 March 2023
are set out on page 168 of this annual report.

Movements in the investment property during the year are shown in note 16
to the consolidated financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Movements in property, plant and equipment during the year are shown in
note 17 to the consolidated financial statements.

BORROWING

As at 31 March 20283, the Group had outstanding borrowing of
approximately AUD9.0 million (equivalent to approximately HK$47.5 million)
(2022: Nil) repayable within one year. There were no outstanding borrowing
repayable after one year (2022: Nil). The Group’s outstanding borrowing was
denominated in AUD and was charged with interest at floating rate.

Details of borrowing during the year are shown in note 23(b) to the
consolidated financial statements.
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RESERVES

As at 31 March 2023, the Company has no reserves available for
distribution, calculated in accordance with the provisions of the Companies
Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended).

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

The results, assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five financial years
are summarised on page 167 of this annual report.

DONATIONS

The Group has made charitable donations of HK$10,000 during the year
(2022: Nil).

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard of corporate
governance practices and procedures. A report on the principal corporate
governance practices adopted by the Company is set out in the “Corporate
Governance Report” on pages 14 to 28 of this annual report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

As at the latest practicable date prior to the issue of this annual report (being
21 July 2023), based on information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained a
sufficient public float as required under the Listing Rules.

AUDITOR

Crowe (HK) CPA Limited acted as the auditor of the Company and audited
the Group’s consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March
2023.

Crowe (HK) CPA Limited shall retire and, being eligible, offer themselves
for re-appointment. A resolution for the re-appointment of Crowe (HK) CPA
Limited as auditor of the Company will be proposed at the AGM.

There has been no change in the auditor of the Company for the past three
years.

On behalf of the Board

Alpha Professional Holdings Limited

T X

Chen Xu
Executive Director
Hong Kong, 29 June 2023
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Biographical Information of Directors and Senior Management

DIRECTORS

CHEN Xu (“Mr. Chen”)

Mr. Chen, aged 38, has been an executive director of the Company since
8 December 2021. He is also a member of each of the remuneration
committee, the nomination committee and the credit committee of the
Company. He is also a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company. Mr.
Chen holds a Bachelor’s Degree of Science and Engineering in Computer
Science from Waseda University in Japan and a Master of Business
Administration (MBA) Degree from the University of Oxford in the United
Kingdom.

Mr. Chen has more than 9 years of experience in private equity investment
in the consumption and technology field, secondary market investment, and
bond investment. Prior to joining the Company, he had worked for Wells
Fargo Securities (Japan) Co., Ltd. as a fixed income trader in the Capital
Markets Department, and Tradeweb Markets LLC (currently a subsidiary of
Tradeweb Markets Inc. (NASDAQ: TW)) as an electronic trading professional
for bonds, equities and derivatives.

WU Feizi (“Ms. Wu”)

Ms. Wu, aged 41, has been an executive director of the Company since
18 October 2022. She is also a member of each of the remuneration
committee and the credit committee of the Company. Ms. Wu holds a
certificate in fine art education from Wenzhou Normal College (now known as
Wenzhou University) and a Bachelor’s Degree in Public Service Management
(Educational Management) from the China Central Radio and TV University
(now known as The Open University of China) from the People’s Republic of
China (the “PRC”) and a Diploma in Business from Elite Education Vocational
Institute in Australia. She joined the Group in October 2021. She is also a
director of certain subsidiaries of the Company.

Ms. Wu has over 18 years of experience in cross-border e-commerce,
business development, and sales and marketing. Ms. Wu is currently the
sole director and general manager of JHL International Trading Pty Ltd
(“JHL”), a company engaged in cross-border e-commerce for trading and
servicing of mother and baby products. Prior to joining JHL, Ms. Wu had
also founded companies that participated in the sales and marketing of
various products, including wine and mother and baby products.
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EEREREEEEAAEN

LI Chak Hung (“Mr. Li”)

Mr. Li, aged 58, has been an independent non-executive director of the
Company since 18 October 2019. He is also the chairman of each of the
audit committee and the nomination committee and a member of the
remuneration committee of the Company. Mr. Li holds a Bachelor's Degree
of Business Administration from The Chinese University of Hong Kong. He is
also a Certified Public Accountant (Practising) of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants and a fellow of The Taxation Institute of Hong
Kong.

Mr. Li has over 30 years of experience in accounting, auditing, taxation and
financial management. Mr. Li is currently an independent non-executive
director of Asiasec Properties Limited (Stock Code: 271) and Summit Ascent
Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 102), and was an independent non-executive
director of Alibaba Pictures Group Limited (Stock Code: 1060) from
September 2004 to June 2014, DreamEast Group Limited (Stock Code:
598) from October 2004 to December 2019 and Sandmartin International
Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 482) from September 2016 to August 2021,
the shares of all such companies are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange.

CHOI Kin Man (“Mr. Choi”)

Mr. Choi, aged 63, has been an independent non-executive director of the
Company since 1 March 2020. He is also a member of each of the audit
committee, the remuneration committee and the nomination committee of
the Company. Mr. Choi holds a Bachelor’s Degree in Journalism from Jinan
University and a Master’s Degree of Business Administration from University
of South Australia.

Mr. Choi has over 17 years of experience in the media and public relations
industry. He is currently the managing director of Shima & Co. Limited, and
an independent non-executive director of Asiasec Properties Limited (Stock
Code: 271), the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange, and was previously a director of Capital Communications Corp.,
and had participated in a number of public relations and communications
projects.

ZHAO LEI (“Mr. Zhao”)

Mr. Zhao, aged 41, has been an independent non-executive director of
the Company since 1 March 2023. He is also the chairman of each of
the remuneration committee and credit committee and a member of each
of the audit committee, and the nomination committee of the Company.
Mr. Zhao holds a Master's Degree in Finance and a Bachelor's Degree in
Information Management, both from the University of International Business
and Economics in Beijing, PRC. He is a Chartered Financial Analyst of CFA
Institute.

Mr. Zhao has broad experience in asset management, corporate finance and
investments and has previously worked for several companies in the PRC,
Hong Kong and Singapore. He currently works as Development Director at
APAC Resources Limited (Stock Code: 1104) which is listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange.
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Biographical Information of Directors and Senior Management

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

MA Xianke (“Mr. Ma”)

Mr. Ma, aged 41, has been the General Manager (Business Development)
of the Company since January 2021. He joined the Group in 2019. He is a
director of certain subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Ma holds a Bachelor’s
Degree in Accounting from Wuhan University and a Master's Degree in
Business Administration from Guangdong University of Foreign Studies. He is
a member of The Chinese Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

Mr. Ma has over 12 years of experience in auditing, consulting and
counselling for the listing of A shares in the PRC and H shares in Hong Kong.
He also has extensive experience in cross-border e-commerce and trading
development in the PRC. Previously, he worked in Guangzhou Branch
of PricewaterhouseCoopers Zhong Tian LLP and Shenzhen Weekens
E-Commerce Co., Limited* GRIITH#EEE KB FEHE A RAR).

CHAN Chun Hong (“Mr. Chan”)

Mr. Chan, aged 45, has been the chief financial officer, the company
secretary and the authorised representative of the Company since 7 January
2020. Mr. Chan holds a Bachelor’s Degree of Business Administration from
Hong Kong Baptist University. He is also a member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the Institute of Chartered
Accountants in England and Wales.

Mr. Chan has more than 21 years of experience working in auditing,
accounting and financial management. Prior to joining the Company, he had
worked for several listed companies in Hong Kong.

* For identification purpose only
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Independent Auditor’s Report
BIZHEHRS

Crowe

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
ALPHA PROFESSIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)
OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Alpha Professional
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”)
set out on pages 52 to 166 which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 March 2023, and the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement
of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for
the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March 2023, and
of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (“IFRSs”) issued by the International Accounting Standards
Board (the “IASB”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”). Our responsibilities under those standards
are further described in the Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (“the Code”) and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and
in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Valuation of investment property

Refer to note 16 to the consolidated financial statements and the
accounting policies in note 2.3(e) to the consolidated financial
statements.

The Key Audit Matter
FREZER

We identified the valuation of investment property as a key audit
matter due to the significance of the balance to the consolidated
financial statements as a whole, combined with significant degree of
estimate associated with determining the fair value. As at 31 March
2023, the fair value of the investment property was HK$42,094,000.
EEHETATEERRMEINEZNEE BNEREGEaMH
BRRNEBEEM EEHILENE FERA—BHRREZS
H-RZIZ=F=RB=+—H BEWMEZ A TFEER42,094,000
BT

As disclosed in notes 2.3(e) and 16 to the consolidated financial
statements, the investment property is stated at fair value based on
valuation performed by the independent professional property valuer.
In determining the fair value of investment property, the independent
professional property valuer adopted market comparison approach.
The valuation is dependent on certain key inputs that involve
the management and independent professional property valuer’s
estimate. The key inputs used in valuing the investment property by
the independent professional property valuer include recent prices
achieved by similar properties, current market conditions, market
rental and market yield as adopted in the valuation.

FUAR B A TR RMIEE2.3(e) R 16FT IR » W EMERRBRBE U EEY)
ELEMETZHERATEBEINR RNEECREYEZ LA TEE
BF o J& 1L B 2 W) 2 E BN IR A T35 LEBUE o (B BUAI & TR 1%
WA S REEEMEYSEEELEMNMGS - BUFEEYEM
B L ERRAR G EMENRRE WA SIEE LM E TR
B BRI HIHHEE R

ERYR Y S Gl

REMEZGE

FR2RGEVMBRRNE16REEHT
?ﬁ%m$muﬁﬁmaﬁﬁﬁ

How the matter was addressed in
our audit

BEERERPNMAEEZEE

Our procedures in relation to the
valuation of investment property
included:
EEEAREYEGENEFOE

o Evaluating the competence,
capability and objectivity of
the independent professional
property valuer;

B IUIEENEMLEMNE
e R B ;

. Obtaining an understanding from

the independent professional
property valuer about the
valuation methodology, the
performance of the property
markets, significant assumptions
adopted, critical estimate on
key inputs and data used in the
valuation;
BB EEYELEMERS G
BRE-METHRERE FIRA
NEXRER HEHEREANEE
WA K BIENREREGE

o Assessing whether the property
was valued on a consistent basis
using a consistent methodology
by inquiring of management
and independent professional
property valuer; and
FBEABEEMEBIEEY
EGEM SHEMERETE R
WEREER - FHEET
8 &

o Assessing the reasonableness
of source data used in the
valuations by benchmarking the
assumptions to relevant market
information on sales prices and
rentals achieved by the similar
properties in the neighbourhood.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
BIZHEHRS

B. Impairment assessment of trade receivables

Refer to notes 22 and 35(a) to the consolidated financial statements
and the accounting policies in notes 2.3(h) and 2.3(k) to the

consolidated financial statements.

The Key Audit Matter
FARBIZEIE

We identified the valuation of trade receivables as a key audit matter
due to the significance of the balance to the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, combined with the significant degree of
estimate made by the management associated with the determination

of the impairment assessments of trade receivables.

HOBERFHNEETE S RIT IEE’LJITEJTEEEEEWEJE’JE
SMEE ARERNROMBRENEREZL  ESHNER

FEWRIEZ fhER—THRREZEE-

As disclosed in notes 3, 22 and 35(a) to the consolidated
financial statements, the carrying amount of trade receivables is
HK$162,079,000 as at 31 March 2023 including the expected credit

loss of HK$8,183,000.

WS BB RN S 22k35@)FEE R S -=£=F8
=+—H> EZRIRIEZ IREE#162,079,00078 70 > BIETERA(E

& #5158,183,000% 7T ©

As disclosed in note 2.3(h)(i), the management of the Group estimated
the lifetime expected credit loss (“ECL”) of trade receivables through
grouping of various debtors that have similar loss patterns, after
considering credit profile of different customers, repayment history and

past due status of respective trade receivables.
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How the matter was addressed in
our audit

BEENERPNAEEZEE

Our procedures in relation to
impairment assessments of trade
receivables included:

EEN B 2 RIEHRIEN R ETEET
MR EIE

o obtaining an understanding
of the management’s internal
control and assessment process
of impairment assessment of
trade receivables and assessed
the inherent risk of material
misstatement by considering the
degree of estimation uncertainty
and level of other inherent risk

factors;
TREBENE B ERRER
/JMEDJHEB’JW%BE;?‘&EHME
7> 588 E B il 5T A HEE 14 AY
BEERH {ﬂlﬁm[ﬁfaiﬁ’ﬂm
B‘TL B ARERMANER &
. Testing the trade receivables

aging analysis as at 31 March
2023, on a sampling basis, by
comparing individual items in the
analysis with the relevant sales
agreements, sales invoices and
other supportmg documents;
EBLBA T RNEEER R
TERAIHE sk IHE 2 ;mfﬁiﬁﬂﬂ
M HMERAE T
F=B=+—HH® %%Wéu&ﬂ
Bk 7§Nﬁ

° Evaluating management’s basis
in developing the ECL model,
ThEEERYBREERIE
R EZE ;

o Assessing the reasonableness of
the historical loss rates used in
the ECL model by corroborating
the credit profile of the respective
customers with their historical
settlement pattern; and
BEREERNELEERERL
BEHEENRR THTERES
BEEELMARLBEBRENG
B &

. Evaluating the forward-
looking information used by
management by comparing
against publicly available
economic information.
BBHLLLAMSNKBEER
ML EIEE AT A AT o



Independent Auditor’s Report

INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND AUDITOR’S REPORT THEREON

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information
comprises all the information included in the annual report, other than the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

QOur opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a
material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with IFRSs issued by the IASB and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but
to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting
process.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
BIZHEHRS

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with Section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act, and for no
other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to
any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users
taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made
by the directors.

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during
our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and
to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence and, where applicable,
actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law
or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing
so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of
such communication.

Crowe (HK) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong, 29 June 2023

Leung Pak Ki
Practising Certificate Number PO8014
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
GelEakEMEEKRER

For the year ended 31 March 2023 BiE _ZE " =F=F=+—HIEEE

2023 2022
—TT=F =
Notes HK$’000 HK$ 000
B 5E FHET FExT
(Restated)
(#RE7))
Continuing operations HEREET 6(a)
Revenue N 363,093 438,353
Cost of sales and services rendered & R TR AR TS 2 A A (320,353) (403,675)
Gross profit EFH 42,740 34,678
Impairment losses of financial assets EREERERIE 9(c) (6,548) (1,910)
Other income HhUg A 7 755 3,432
Other gains and losses, net Hhi e R 8518 0 7358 8 (17,629) (2,257)
Selling and distribution costs HERDHREX (2,502) (4,084)
Administrative expenses THER (15,071) (15,198)
PROFIT FROM OPERATIONS KEKE Z R 1,745 14,661
Finance costs E=17 %N 9(a) (4,665) (23)
(LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION  B&FiAT (8548) / #F 9 (2,920) 14,638
Income tax credit/(expenses) FRiEMiER, FEx) 10(a) 465 (2,888)
(LOSS)/PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FROM 3 B EHEQ 25>
CONTINUING OPERATIONS KEE (BB EF) (2,455) 11,750
Discontinued operation BARIEKEER
Profit/(loss) for the year from KEBRIEKREER
discontinued operation REEREF (E518) 11 3,770 (43,394)
PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR KEERF (F518) 1,315 (31,644)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS)/ rEEHMEE
INCOME FOR THE YEAR, (B548) Wz
NET OF INCOME TAX NBRFAER
ltems that may be reclassified HEEEMOEEERN
subsequently to profit or loss: EE
Exchange differences on translation of A& BN EFST I
foreign operations FERZZR (6,762) (2,497)
Reclassification adjustments BEARAFEERBERS
relating to foreign operations ABRBINER
deconsolidated during the year B DR 139 =
Other comprehensive loss rEEHMEEERE
for the year, net of income tax MNBREATEM (6,623) (2,497)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FOR  Z= /A ] IR SR FE(L
THE YEAR ATTRIBUTABLE TO KEER@A
OWNERS OF THE COMPANY 51848 %8 (5,308) (84,141)
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
melEakHEMNEEWRER

For the year ended 31 March 2023 BiZE _E " =F=H=+—HIEFE

PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR
ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF
THE COMPANY:
from continuing operations
from discontinued operation

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FOR

THE YEAR, NET OF INCOME TAX

ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF
THE COMPANY:

from continuing operations

from discontinued operation

(LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE
From continuing operations
Basic and diluted

From discontinued operation
Basic and diluted

From continuing and
discontinued operations
Basic and diluted

The notes on pages 58 to 166 form part of these financial statements.

FTAF KRR
PG EE
wH (E548) ¢
REFEEEES
RE BRI ER

KEEZHEEE
HBER > HIPRFAISIR
KTATFRE
&S
REBRIEEEER

sk (B8 &BF)
REFBEEEER
BERKRE#E
REBRIEEEEE
BAREE
REFBEEEEB R

BRIEREER
BAREE

2023 2022
ZEI=F =Sy

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5 FAET FAET
(Restated)

(FeE5)

(2,455) 11,750
3,770 (43,394)
1,315 (31,644)

(8,951) 9,166
3,643 (43,307)
(5,308) (84,141)

HK cents HK cents

Al Al

(Restated)

(e E5)

14

(0.7) 3.7

1.1 (13.8)

0.4 (10.1)

E58E166BE 2 NE R AR E M HRER ZME

RLER D

MEEERIERARAT o
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

At 31 March 2023 WZZE_=F=A=+—H

Non-current assets

Investment property

Property, plant and equipment

Goodwill

Interests in joint venture

Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss

Rental deposit

Deferred tax assets

Current assets
Inventories
Trade and other receivables
Tax recoverable
Cash and bank balances

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Contract liabilities
Lease liabilities
Other borrowing
Tax payable

Net current assets

Total assets less current liabilities

Non-current liabilities
Lease liabilities

Net assets
Capital and reserves
Share capital

Reserves

Equity attributable to owners of the
Company and total equity

Approved and authorised for issue by the board (the “Board”) of directors
(the “Directors”) of the Company on 29 June 2023 and are signed on its

behalf by:

FERBEE
BREYFE

L EN S

meE

=R e

BAFBESAEEZ

EREE
B57E
IRIEAR TR E

B 5 K H W ERIE
AU EIFRIE
RE&RIRITHAR

mEaE
B 5 KR E MR RIA
MR
*ﬁ’fﬁ%{i
HthEE
PSR

MENEERER
BWEERRHER

JERFER
HE&R&

BEEFR

B RHE
B
(1

FREIRREGEERE K
T AEER

s

Chen Xu
PR B

Executive Director

HITEE

The notes on pages 58 to 166 form part of these financial statements.
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2023 2022
—EZ= T4
HK$’000 HK$:OOO
FHET FHT
42,094 43,473
360 2,449
2,161 2,161
11,547 -
- 320
1,354 315
57,516 48,718
3,932 4,811
194,727 104,077
583 313
13,686 20,901
212,928 130,102
63,733 52,878
- 3,428
347 1,350
47,544 -
- 3,630
111,624 61,286
101,304 68,316
158,820 117,534
- 1,183
158,820 116,351
435,252 391,672
(276,432) (275,321)
158,820 116,351

(r%$J) e (EFg
BRI ER RS

N
2w W

Wu Feizi
hIEF

Executive Director

HITEE

581668 2 st A K4

—=EAACHARESATES
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At 1 April 2021

Change in equity for 2022

Loss for the year

Exchange differences on translation of
foreign operations

Total comprehensive loss for the year

At 31 March 2022 and
1 April 2022

Change in equity for 2023

Profit for the year

Exchange differences on translation of
foreign operations

Reclassification adjustments relating to foreign
operations deconsolidated during the year

Total comprehensive loss for the year
Issuance of shares of the Company
(the “Share(s)") upon placing (note 32(b))

Share issue expenses under placing (note 32(b))

At 31 March 2023

The notes on pages 58 to 166 form part of these financial statements.

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
BE*

For the year ended 31 March 2023 &} F=ZR=+—HILEFE

RIEZ—FNE—H
ZRICEVEGEY
rEEBE
BEEIMNERSI BN
ERELR

rEERABRER

RIE__FZR=1t-HK
ZZTZFMB—H
ZEICE7RGEE

AEERR

MBS ERSI B

ERER
BERAEEFTBREAREIERZ
BMNERE

FEERARBEE

REERTAATRM (R
(HEE32(b))

B& 2 D 8175 (115832(0))

RZIZZ=F=A=1+—H

4

=]
R

|

EE=

A=

Attributable to owners of the Company

AAFIRERER
Foreign
currency

Share Share translation ~ Accumulated Total
capital premium reserve losses equity
N RIVEE MERERE REER i Rk
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT FTET TR TET TR
391,672 587,822 229 (829,231) 150,492
- - - (31,644) (31,644)
- - (2,497) - (2,497)
- - (2,497) (31,644) (34,141)
391,672 587,822 (2,268) (860,875) 116,351
- - - 1,315 1,315

S - (6,762) - (6,762)

- - 139 - 139
- - (6,623) 1,315 (5,308)
43,580 5,308 - - 48,888
- (1,111) - - (1,111)
435,252 592,019 (8,891) (859,560) 158,820

E58F166 R 2 M R AN B KR Z E AR

73 e
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

For the year ended 31 March 2023 BiE _ZE " =F=F=+—HIEEE

Operating activities
Loss/(profit) before taxation:
from continuing operations
from discontinued operation
Adjustments for:

Interest income

Valuation gain on
investment property

Loss arising from changes in fair
value of financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss
— Listed equity securities

Finance costs

Depreciation

Impairment losses of finance assets

Day one gain on initial recognition
of financial assets included in
purchase discounts

Gain on deconsolidation of
subsidiaries from discontinued
operation

Unrealised exchange loss

Operating cash flows before
working capital changes
Decrease in inventories
Increase in trade and

other receivables
Increase/(decrease) in trade and
other payables
Decrease in contract liabilities

Cash used in operations

The People’s Republic of China
Enterprise Income Tax paid

Australia Corporate income tax paid

Hong Kong Profits Tax paid

Net cash used in operating activities

Notes
B 5%

R ERE
BRIRATESIR CaA)) -
REFEREER
KEERIEEESER 11
HEE
FMEUWA 7 & 11
REY
L& 8
BAFEEA
BRemEEN
NEBEEFHEEN
BB — EHRAES 8
BhEE AR A 9(a) & 11
e 9(c) & 11
TREERERE 9(c) & 11
sHASRBBITINBIAIA
BRETREEN
BHHWE 9(c)(i)
REBRILEEERDN
MEBABFRBRE
ARB U R 11
REIREREIE

EERTEPIZEERT
e
FERLD
B 5 REMBW IR
il
BZ RHEMBNTRER
@i, Ge)
amasERd

REFARE
ENPEARANE
EEFTISIR
EEINE IR
BN EBRIER

SR ARE R
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2023 2022
TEC=F -
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET
(Restated)
(s E5))
(2,920) 14,638
3,775 (43,163)
3) 6)
(1,343) (1,402)
13,578 =
4,695 104
1,011 1,339
7,588 1,954
(25,354) =
(4,726) =
2,519 81
(1,180) (26,455)
593 47,830
(106,937) (39,969)
19,236 (29,536)
(3,406) (419)
(91,694) (48,549)
(7) (7)
(231) (34)
(4,518) 7)
(96,450) (48,597)




Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
FEERERER
For the year ended 31 March 2023 BiZE _E " =F=H=+—HIEFE

2023 2022
TEI=HF =z
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5 FHET FET
(Restated)
(#RE7))
Investing activities KREEE
Purchase of property, BEVE - BEK
plant and equipment B4 = (44)
Interest received BUF 2 3 6
Net cash outflow on deconsolidation B AR ABLEEARN
of subsidiaries RE M FEE 30 (187) -
Net cash used in investing activities R & ESFT AR & B4E (184) (38)
Financing activities ROEEE)
Capital element of lease liabilities paid BENHEERZEARESY  23(b) (998) (1,286)
Interest element of lease liabilities paid BENEEaE2HEEHS  23(b) (51) (104)
Proceeds from issuance of REREEZETRMNZ
Shares upon placing Frig8srIg 32(b) 48,888 =
Share issue expenses upon placing REEZETRMZMAZ 32(b) (1,111) =
Proceeds from new other borrowing MIBEHMEEZFEMIE 23() 48,524 -
Interest paid for other borrowing ENEMEERNE 23(b) (4,644) =
Net cash generated from/(used in) RMEESFRT (FrA)
financing activities HREFE 90,608 (1,390)
Net decrease in cash and cash HERBFETEEY
equivalents IR (6,026) (50,025)
Cash and cash equivalents at FEVRER
beginning of the year HEEEY 20,901 70,379
Effect of foreign exchange rate SNEEFEREEE 2
changes, net FE P (1,189) 547
Cash and cash equivalents at end FEXRRER
of the year RELEEBY 23(a) 13,686 20,901
The notes on pages 58 to 166 form part of these financial statements. $F58F166H 2 st AR FEIRER 2 4A A 26
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 BiE _ZE " =F=F=+—HIEEE

21

2.2

GENERAL INFORMATION

Alpha Professional Holdings Limited (Registration No. 39519) (the
“Company”) was incorporated in Bermuda on 30 January 2007 under
the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda as an exempted company with
limited liability. The registered office of the Company is located at
3rd Fl., Sofia House, 48 Church Street, Hamilton, Pembroke, HM12,
Bermuda with effect from 31 January 2023. Its principal place of
business is located at Room 1902, 19th Floor, Allied Kajima Building,
138 Gloucester Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong.

At 31 March 2023, the Company’s immediate parent was Well
Dynasty Investments Limited, a company incorporated in Hong Kong
with limited liability. The ultimate parent of the Company was Miracle
Planet Developments Limited, a company incorporated in the British
Virgin Islands with limited liability, and the ultimate controlling party
of the Company was Ms. Chong Sok Un. Neither of them produces
consolidated financial statements available for public use.

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in note 34.

STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with all applicable International Financial Reporting
Standards (“IFRSs”), issued by the International Accounting Standards
Board (the “IASB”) and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance. These consolidated financial statements
also comply with the applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). Significant
accounting policies adopted by the Group are disclosed below.

The IASB has issued certain amendments to IFRSs which are first
effective or available for early adoption for the current accounting
period of the Group. Note 4 provides information on any changes
in accounting policies resulting from initial application of these
developments to the extent that they are relevant to the Group for
the current accounting period reflected in these consolidated financial
statements.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March
20283 comprise the Company and its subsidiaries (together referred to
as the “Group”).

Items included in the financial statements of each entity in the Group
are measured using the currency of the primary economic environment
in which the entity operates (the “functional currency”). The
consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars
(“HK$”) which is the Company’s functional and presentation currency,
and all value are rounded to the nearest thousand HK$ except where
otherwise indicated.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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2.3

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ARE M B HRARMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 BiZE _E " =F=H=+—HIEFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

Prior to 1 April 2022, the functional currency of Willis Trading Limited
(“Willis Trading”) and Alice Trading Limited (“Alice Trading”) are Hong
Kong dollars. It has been changed to Australian dollars (‘AUD”) since
1 April 2022 as it is more reflective of the underlying transactions of
Willis Trading and Alice Trading. The change in functional currency was
applied prospectively from the date of change in accordance with IAS
21 “The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates”.

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements is the historical cost basis except that the
following asset is stated at its fair value as explained in the accounting
policies set out below:

- investment property, including interests in leasehold land and
buildings held as investment property where the Group is the
registered owner of the property interest (see note 2.3(e)); and

- investment in equity securities.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity
with IFRSs requires management to make judgements, estimates
and assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported
amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates
and associated assumptions are based on historical experience
and various other factors believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making the
judgements about carrying amounts of assets and liabilities not readily
apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in
the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only
that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the
revision affects both current and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application of IFRSs that
have significant effect on the consolidated financial statements and
major sources of estimation uncertainty are discussed in note 3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(a) Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group
controls an entity when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable
returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability
to affect those returns through its power over the entity. When
assessing whether the Group has power, only substantive
rights (held by the Group and other parties) are considered. The
Group reassesses whether or not it controls an entity if facts
and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or
more of the elements of control.
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2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(a)

Subsidiaries (Continued)

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into the
consolidated financial statements from the date that control
commences until the date that control ceases. Intra-group
balances, transactions and cash flows and any unrealised
profits arising from intra-group transactions are eliminated in full
in preparing the consolidated financial statements. Unrealised
losses resulting from intra-group transactions are eliminated in
the same way as unrealised gains but only to the extent that
there is no evidence of impairment.

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s interests in a subsidiary that do
not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity
transactions, whereby adjustments are made to the amounts
of controlling and non-controlling interests within consolidated
equity to reflect the change in relative interests, but no
adjustments are made to goodwill and no gain or loss is
recognised. Any difference between the amount by which the
non-controlling interests are adjusted, and the fair value of the
consideration paid or received is recognised directly in equity
and attributed to owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it is accounted
for as a disposal of the entire interest in that subsidiary, with
a resulting gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss. All
amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income
in relation to that subsidiary are accounted for as if the Group
had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities of
the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or transferred
to another category of equity as specified / permitted by
applicable IFRSs). Any interest retained in that former subsidiary
at the date when control is lost is recognised at fair value and
this amount is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition
of a financial asset or, when appropriate, the cost on initial
recognition of an investment in an associate or joint venture.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, an investment
in a subsidiary is stated at cost less impairment loss (see note
2.3(h)(ii)), unless the investment is classified as held for sale (or
included in a disposal group that is classified as held for sale).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2023 &

2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(b)

Joint venture

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that
have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net
assets of the joint arrangement. Joint control is the contractually
agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only
when decisions about the relevant activities require unanimous
consent of the parties sharing control.

An investment in a joint venture is accounted for in the
consolidated financial statements under the equity method,
unless it is classified as held for sale (or included in a
disposal group that is classified as held for sale). The financial
statements of a joint venture used for equity accounting
purposes are prepared using uniform accounting policies as
those of the Group for like transactions and events in similar
circumstances. Under the equity method, the investment is
initially recorded at cost, adjusted for any excess of the Group’s
share of the acquisition-date fair values of the investee’s
identifiable net assets over the cost of the investment (if any).
The cost of the investment includes purchase price, other
costs directly attributable to the acquisition of the investment,
and any direct investment into joint venture that forms part of
the Group’s equity investment. Thereafter, the investment is
adjusted for the post acquisition change in the Group’s share
of the investee’s net assets and any impairment loss relating
to the investment. At each reporting date, the Group assesses
whether there is any objective evidence that the investment is
impaired. Any acquisition date excess of the Group’s share of
the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over
the cost of the investment (after reassessment), the Group’s
share of the post-acquisition post-tax results of the investees
and any impairment losses for the year are recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss, whereas the Group’s
share of the post-acquisition post-tax items of the investees’
other comprehensive income is recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.
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2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(b)

Joint venture (Continued)

When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its interest in joint
venture, the Group’s interest is reduced to nil and recognition
of further losses is discontinued except to the extent that the
Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made
payments on behalf of the investee. For this purpose, the
Group’s interest is the carrying amount of the investment under
the equity method, together with any other long-term interests
that in substance form part of the Group’s net investment in
joint venture after applying the ECL model to such other long-
term interests where applicable.

Unrealised profits and losses resulting from transactions
between the Group and its joint venture are eliminated to
the extent of the Group’s interest in the investee, except
where unrealised losses provide evidence of an impairment
of the asset transferred, in which case they are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

If an investment in a joint venture becomes an investment in an
associate or vice versa, the retained interest is not remeasured.
Instead, the investment continues to be accounted for under
the equity method.

When the Group ceases to have joint control over a joint
venture, it is accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest in
that investee, with a resulting gain or loss being recognised in
profit or loss. Any interest retained in that former investee at the
date when joint control is lost is recognised at fair value and this
amount is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition of a
financial asset. In addition, the Group accounts for all amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive income in relation
to that joint venture on the same basis as would be required
if that joint venture had directly disposed of the related assets
or liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or loss previously recognised
in other comprehensive income by that joint venture would be
reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the related assets
or liabilities, the Group reclassifies the gain or loss from equity to
profit or loss (as a reclassification adjustment) when the equity
method is discontinued.

ALPHA PROFESSIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED e Annual Report 2023

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

175 ¥ = MY 5E

23 *

(b)

EETERME (8

BERE @

EXAEEBEGEREZER
BHERDZR > AEEZEaS
MEZ > T ABRIE—TB
B EAEEC AR EREIETE
B IARKRERBTRZIE
MRS o FRUET S > AE M2 1
mRRBEREEFSEZRER
HE EREE LERAERR
BELEREFBE-MMHZE
FHMERAER GIAMEME
HREDERREREEHRERR
& HEA) °

AEREHGEREB RS
FREEZRER B JHURE
EREREABD ZERART
DU RIERSRBREHE
EEREECRESE EIER
T BIZEREREBIRT AR
R PR

W —EEEhENREEN
R—EBERARNRE  R#LE
HRIER AREBREF G ER
SRR ZREEERED
ENER

HAERESELEREHA
ZH BTSRRI E R ZRK
BERBz 2w MEWE
BER B E PR - ERER
KHEBER Z BN R B EZ
AIRRERBD 2R ATE
BFERD > MU S BERAR 2 ¥ R
REMEEZATEE UL
REBFLANHEMEE IR
EREZEECERBMZRA
THREZCECEERENESR
HEENEBEZBERTHAEZ
HREEARK FHIt HEEd
R E M2 E W E DA
Wi BEEER DAL EMR
HEEHEENED AEER
BRI ERARE AR SRR
Wt BEEM D EERE O
EEM DR -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2023 &

2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(c)

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at
cost as established at the date of acquisition of the business
less accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to
each of the Group’s cash-generating units (or groups of cash—
generating units) that is expected to benefit from the synergies
of the combination, which represent the lowest level at which
the goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes
and not larger than an operating segment.

A cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) to
which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment
annually or more frequently whenever there is indication that
the unit may be impaired. For goodwill arising on an acquisition
in a reporting period, the cash-generating unit (or group of
cash-generating units) to which goodwill has been allocated is
tested for impairment before the end of that reporting period.
If the recoverable amount is less than its carrying amount, the
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount
of any goodwill and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis
based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit (or
group of cash-generating units).

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit or any of
the cash-generating unit within the group of cash-generating
units, the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the
determination of the amount of profit or loss on disposal. When
the Group disposes of an operation within the cash—generating
unit (or a cash-generating unit within a group of cash-generating
units), the amount of goodwill disposed of is measured on
the basis of the relative values of the operation (or the cash-
generating unit) disposed of and the portion of the cash-
generating unit (or the group of cash-generating units) retained.
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 BiE _ZE " =F=F=+—HIEEE

2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(d)

Other investments in equity securities

The Group’s policies for investments in equity securities, other
than investments in subsidiaries and joint venture, are set out
below:

Investments in equity securities are recognised/derecognised
on the date the Group commits to purchase/sell the investment.
The investments are initially stated at fair value plus directly
attributable transaction costs, except for those investments
measured at fair value through profit or loss for which
transaction costs are recognised directly in profit or loss. For
an explanation of how the Group determines fair value of
financial instruments, see note 35(f). These investments are
subsequently accounted for as follows, depending on their
classification.

An investment in equity security is classified as fair value
through profit or loss unless the equity investment is not held
for trading purposes and on initial recognition of the investment
the Group makes an irrevocable election to designate the
investment at fair value through other comprehensive income
(non-recycling) such that subsequent changes in fair value are
recognised in other comprehensive income. Such elections
are made on an instrument-by-instrument basis, but may only
be made if the investment meets the definition of equity from
the issuer’s perspective. Where such an election is made, the
amount accumulated in other comprehensive income remains
in the fair value reserve (non-recycling) until the investment is
disposed of. At the time of disposal, the amount accumulated
in the fair value reserve (non-recycling) is transferred to retained
profits. It is not recycled through profit or loss. Dividends
from an investment in equity security, irrespective of whether
classified as at fair value through profit or loss or fair value
through other comprehensive income, are recognised in profit
or loss as other income in accordance with the policy set out in
note 2.3(t), unless the dividends clearly represent a recovery of
part of the cost of the investment.
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 BiZE _E " =F=H=+—HIEFE

2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 23 FEGHBREZE @
(Continued)
(e) Investment property e KBEWME
Investment property is land and/or buildings which is owned or KREMEIEABRIEAS WA KR

®

held under a leasehold interest (see note 2.3(g)) to earn rental
income and/or for capital appreciation. These include land held
for a currently undetermined future use and property that is
being constructed or developed for future use as investment

property.

Investment properties also include leased properties which are
being recognised as right-of-use assets and subleased by the
Group under operating leases.

Investment property is stated at fair value, unless it is still in
the course of construction or development at the end of the
reporting period and its fair value cannot be reliably measured
at that time. Any gain or loss arising from a change in fair value
or from the retirement or disposal of an investment property
is recognised in profit or loss. Rental income from investment
property is accounted for as described in note 2.3(t)(ii).

Construction costs incurred for investment properties under
construction are capitalised as part of the carrying amount of
the investment properties under construction.

Property, plant and equipment

The following items of property, plant and equipment are stated
at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses
(see note 2.3(h)):

- right-of-use assets arising from leases over leasehold
properties where the Group is not the registered owner of
the property interest; and

- other items of property, plant and equipment, including
right-of-use assets arising from leases of underlying plant
and equipment (see note 2.3(g)).
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2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

®

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of
property, plant and equipment, less their estimated residual
value, if any, using the straight line method over their estimated
useful lives as follows:

Leasehold land and buildings situated thereon is depreciated
over the unexpired term of lease.

Furniture and fixtures
Electronic equipment

3 to 5 years
3to 5 years

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of the item is allocated
on a reasonable basis between the parts and each part is
depreciated separately. Both the useful life of an asset and its
residual value, if any, are reviewed annually.

Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable
to the acquisition of the items. Cost may also include transfers
from equity of any gains or losses on qualifying cash flow
hedges of foreign currency purchases of property, plant and
equipment.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount
or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when
it is probable that future economic benefits associated with
the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can
be measured reliably. The carrying amount of any component
accounted for as a separate asset is derecognised when
replaced. All other repairs and maintenance are recognised
in profit or loss during the reporting period in which they are
incurred.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its
recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater
than its estimated recoverable amount.

Gain or loss arising from the retirement or disposal of an item of
property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference
between the net proceeds on disposal and the carrying amount
of the item and is recognised in profit or loss on the date of
retirement or disposal.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2023 &

2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

@

Leased assets

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether the
contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains,
a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use
of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration. Control is conveyed where the customer has
both the right to direct the use of the identified asset and to
obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from that use.

@

As a lessee

Where the contract contains lease component(s) and
non-lease component(s), the Group has elected not
to separate non-lease components and accounts for
each lease component and any associated non-lease
components as a single lease component for all leases.

At the lease commencement date, the Group recognises
a right-of-use asset and a lease liability, except for short-
term leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less
and leases of low-value assets. When the Group enters
into a lease in respect of a low-value asset, the Group
decides whether to capitalise the lease on a lease-by-
lease basis. The lease payments associated with those
leases which are not capitalised are recognised as an
expense on a systematic basis over the lease term.

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease liability is initially
recognised at the present value of the lease payments
(less any lease incentives receivable) payable over the
lease term, discounted using the interest rate implicit in
the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily determined,
using a relevant incremental borrowing rate. After initial
recognition, the lease liability is measured at amortised
cost and interest expense is calculated using the effective
interest method. Variable lease payments that do not
depend on an index or rate are not included in the
measurement of the lease liability and hence are charged
to profit or loss in the accounting period in which they
are incurred. Lease payments also include amounts
expected to be payable by the Group under residual value
guarantees; the exercise price of a purchase option if the
Group is reasonably certain to exercise the option; and
payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the lease
term reflects the Group exercising an option to terminate
the lease.
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2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(9)

Leased assets (Continued)

()

As a lessee (Continued)

After initial recognition, the lease liability is measured at
amortised cost and interest expense is calculated using
the effective interest method.

The right-of-use asset recognised when a lease is
capitalised is initially measured at cost, which comprises
the initial amount of the lease liability plus any lease
payments made at or before the commencement date,
and any initial direct costs incurred. Where applicable, the
cost of the right-of-use assets also includes an estimate
of costs to dismantle and remove the underlying asset or
to restore the underlying asset or the site on which it is
located, discounted to their present value, less any lease
incentives received. Except for that which is classified
as investment property and measured at fair value, the
right-of-use asset is subsequently stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses (see
note 2.3(h)) and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease
liabilities other than adjustments to lease liabilities resulting
from COVID-19-related rent concessions in which the
Group applied the practical expedient.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMBRERMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 &

2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(9) Leased assets (Continued)

(i)

As a lessee (Continued)

The initial fair value of refundable rental deposits is
accounted for separately from the right-of-use assets
in accordance with the accounting policy applicable to
trade and other receivables carried at amortised cost
(see notes 2.3(k), 2.3(h)(i) and 2.3(t)(iii)). Any difference
between the initial fair value and the nominal value of the
deposits is accounted for as additional lease payments
made and is included in the cost of right-of-use assets.

The Group presents right-of-use assets that do not meet
the definition of investment property in “property, plant
and equipment”, the same line item within which the
corresponding underlying assets would be presented if
they were owned.

The lease liability is remeasured when there is a change
in future lease payments arising from a change in an
index or rate, or there is a change in the Group’s estimate
of the amount expected to be payable under a residual
value guarantee, or there is a change arising from the
reassessment of whether the Group will be reasonably
certain to exercise a purchase, extension or termination
option. When the lease liability is remeasured in this way,
a corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying
amount of the right-of-use asset, or is recorded in profit
or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset
has been reduced to zero.

The lease liability is also remeasured when there is a
change in the scope of a lease or the consideration for
a lease that is not originally provided for in the lease
contract (“lease modification”) that is not accounted for
as a separate lease. In this case, the lease liability is
remeasured based on the revised lease payments and
lease term using a revised discount rate at the effective
date of the modification. The only exceptions are rent
concessions that occurred as a direct consequence of
the COVID-19 pandemic and met the conditions set
out in paragraph 46B of IFRS 16 “Leases”. In such
cases, the Group has taken advantage of the practical
expedient not to assess whether the rent concessions
are lease modifications, and recognised the change in
consideration as negative variable lease payments in
profit or loss in the period in which the event or condition
that triggers the rent concessions occurred.
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2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(9)

Leased assets (Continued)

@

(i)

As a lessee (Continued)

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line
item on the consolidated statement of financial position.
In the consolidated statement of financial position, the
current portion of long-term lease liabilities is determined
as the present value of contractual payments that are
due to be settled within twelve months after the reporting
period.

As a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it determines at lease
inception whether each lease is a finance lease or an
operating lease. A lease is classified as a finance lease
if it transfers substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to the ownership of an underlying assets to the
lessee. If this is not the case, the lease is classified as an
operating lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating
and arranging an operating lease are added to the
carrying amount of the leased asset, and such costs
are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis
over the lease term except for investment properties
measured under fair value model.

When a contract contains lease and non-lease
components, the Group allocates the consideration in the
contract to each component on a relative stand-alone
selling price basis. The rental income from operating
leases is recognised in accordance with note 2.3(t)(ii).

Refundable rental deposits received are accounted
for under IFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value.
Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are
considered as additional lease payments from lessees.

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, the sub-lease
is classified as a finance lease or as an operating lease
with reference to the right-of-use asset arising from the
head lease. If the head lease is a short-term lease to
which the Group applies the exemption described in note
2.3(9)(i), then the Group classifies the sub-lease as an
operating lease.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMBRERMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 &

2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(h)  Credit losses and impairment of assets

@

Credit losses from financial instruments

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected
credit losses (‘ECLs”) on the financial assets measured
at amortised cost (including cash and cash equivalents,
trade receivables, other receivables and rental deposits,
which are held for the collection of contractual cash
flows which represent solely payments of principal and
interest).

Equity securities measured at fair value through profit or
loss are not subject to the ECL assessment.

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses.
Credit losses are measured as the present value of all
expected cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the
cash flows due to the Group in accordance with the
contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive).

The expected cash shortfalls are discounted using the
following discount rates where the effect of discounting is
material:

- fixed-rate financial assets, trade and other
receivables: effective interest rate determined at
initial recognition or an approximation thereof;

- variable-rate financial assets: current effective
interest rate;

The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs
is the maximum contractual period over which the Group
is exposed to credit risk.

In measuring ECLs, the Group takes into account
reasonable and supportable information that is available
without undue cost or effort. This includes information
about past events, current conditions and forecasts of
future economic conditions.
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2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(h)

Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments (Continued)

Measurement of ECLs (Continued)

ECLs are measured on either of the following bases:

- 12-month ECLs: these are losses that are
expected to result from possible default events
within the 12 months after the reporting date; and

- lifetime ECLs: these are losses that are expected
to result from all possible default events over the
expected lives of the items to which the ECL
model applies.

Loss allowances for trade receivables are always
measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs. ECLs on
trade receivables are estimated using a provision matrix/
internal credit rating based on the Group’s historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are
specific to the debtors and an assessment of both the
current and forecast general economic conditions at the
reporting date.

For all other financial instruments, the Group recognises a
loss allowance equal to 12-month ECLs unless there has
been a significant increase in credit risk of the financial
instrument since initial recognition, in which case the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime
ECLs.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMBRERMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 BiZE _E " =F=H=+—HIEFE

2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 23 FEGHEBEREE @
(Continued)
(h)  Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued) h EEHEREERE G
(i)  Credit losses from financial instruments (Continued) () ETHIAELHNEZEEE
#)

Significant increases in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk of a financial
instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group compares the risk of default
occurring on the financial instrument assessed at the
reporting date with that assessed at the date of initial
recognition. In making this reassessment, the Group
considers that a default event occurs when (i) the
borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the
Group in full, without recourse by the Group to actions
such as realising security (if any is held); or (i) the
financial asset is 90 days past due unless the Group has
reasonable and supportable information to demonstrate
that a more lagging default criterion is more appropriate.
The Group considers both quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportable, including
historical experience and forward-looking information that
is available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition:

- failure to make payments of principal or interest on
their contractually due dates;

= an actual or expected significant deterioration in
a financial instrument’s external or internal credit
rating (if available);

- an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the operating results of the debtor; and

- existing or forecast changes in the technological,
market, economic or legal environment that have a
significant adverse effect on the debtor’s ability to
meet its obligation to the Group.
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2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(h)

Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

@

Credit losses from financial instruments (Continued)

Significant increases in credit risk (Continued)

Depending on the nature of the financial instruments,
the assessment of a significant increase in credit risk is
performed on either an individual basis or a collective
basis. When the assessment is performed on a collective
basis, the financial instruments are grouped based on
shared credit risk characteristics, such as past due status
and credit risk ratings.

The Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

ECLs are remeasured at each reporting date to reflect
changes in the financial instrument’s credit risk since
initial recognition. Any change in the ECL amount is
recognised as an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss.
The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss for all
financial instruments with a corresponding adjustment
to their carrying amount, with the exception of trade
receivables where the corresponding adjustment is
recognised through a loss allowance account.

Basis of calculation of interest income

Interest income recognised in accordance with note
2.3(t)(iii) is calculated based on the gross carrying amount
of the financial asset unless the financial asset is credit-
impaired, in which case interest income is calculated
based on the amortised cost (i.e. the gross carrying
amount less loss allowance) of the financial asset.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMBRERMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 BiZE _E " =F=H=+—HIEFE

2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 23 FEGHEBEREE @
(Continued)
(h)  Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued) h GEEEEREERE®
(i)  Credit losses from financial instruments (Continued) ) ZTHILAEELHIEELE
#)

Credit-impaired financial assets

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether
a financial asset is credit-impaired. A financial asset is
credit-impaired when one or more events that have a
detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of
the financial asset have occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes
the following observable events:

- significant financial difficulties of the debtor;

- a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;

- it becoming probable that the borrower will enter
into bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation;

- significant changes in the technological, market,
economic or legal environment that have an
adverse effect on the debtor; or

- the disappearance of an active market for a
security because of financial difficulties of the
issuer.

Write-off policy

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written
off (either partially or in full) to the extent that there is no
realistic prospect of recovery. This is generally the case
when the Group determines that the debtor does not
have assets or sources of income that could generate
sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts subject to the
write-off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was previously
written off are recognised as a reversal of impairment in
profit or loss in the period in which the recovery occurs.
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2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(h)

Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

(i)

Credit losses from financial guarantees issued

Financial guarantees are contracts that require the
issuer (i.e. the guarantor) to make specified payments to
reimburse the beneficiary of the guarantee (the “holder”)
for a loss the holder incurs because a specified debtor
fails to make payment when due in accordance with the
terms of a debt instrument.

Financial guarantees issued are initially recognised at fair
value, which is determined by reference to fees charged
in an arm’s length transaction for similar services,
when such information is obtainable, or to interest rate
differentials, by comparing the actual rates charged
by lenders when the guarantee is made available with
the estimated rates that lenders would have charged,
had the guarantees not been available, where reliable
estimates of such information can be made. Where
consideration is received or receivable for the issuance
of the guarantee, the consideration is recognised in
accordance with the Group’s policies applicable to
that category of asset. Where no such consideration
is received or receivable, an immediate expense is
recognised in profit or loss.

Subsequent to initial recognition, the amount initially
recognised as deferred income is amortised in profit
or loss over the term of the guarantee as income from
financial guarantees issued (see note 2.3()(iv)).

The Group monitors the risk that the specified debtor
will default on the contract and recognises a provision
when ECLs on the financial guarantees are determined
to be higher than the carrying amount in respect of the
guarantees (i.e. the amount initially recognised, less
accumulated amortisation).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMBRERMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 &

2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(h)  Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

(i)

(iii)

Credit losses from financial guarantees issued
(Continued)

To determine ECLs, the Group considers changes
in the risk of default of the specified debtor since
the issuance of the guarantee. A 12-month ECL is
measured unless the risk that the specified debtor will
default has increased significantly since the guarantee is
issued, in which case a lifetime ECL is measured. The
same definition of default and the same assessment of
significant increase in credit risk as described in note
2.3(h)(i) apply.

As the Group is required to make payments only in the
event of a default by the specified debtor in accordance
with the terms of the instrument that is guaranteed, an
ECL is estimated based on the expected payments to
reimburse the holder for a credit loss that it incurs less
any amount that the Group expects to receive from the
holder of the guarantee, the specified debtor or any other
party. The amount is then discounted using the current
risk-free rate adjusted for risks specific to the cash flows.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Internal and external sources of information are reviewed
at the end of each reporting period to identify indications
that the following assets may be impaired or, except
in the case of goodwill, an impairment loss previously
recognised no longer exists or may have decreased:

- property, plant and equipment, including right-of-
use assets;

= goodwill;

- investment in joint venture; and

- investments in subsidiaries in the Company’s
statement of financial position.
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 BiE _ZE " =F=F=+—HIEEE

2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(h)

Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

(iii)

Impairment of non-financial assets (Continued)

If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable
amount is estimated. In addition, for goodwill, the
recoverable amount is estimated annually whether or not
there is any indication of impairment.

Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater
of its fair value less costs of disposal and value
in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated
future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset. Where
an asset does not generate cash inflows largely
independent of those from other assets, the
recoverable amount is determined for the smallest
group of assets that generates cash inflows
independently (i.e. a cash-generating unit). A
portion of the carrying amount of a corporate asset
(for example, head office building) is allocated to
an individual cash-generating unit if the allocation
can be done on a reasonable and consistent basis,
or to the smallest group of cash-generating units if
otherwise.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMBRERMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #ZE_Z—=

2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(h)

Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

(iii)

Impairment of non-financial assets (Continued)

Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss
whenever the carrying amount of an asset, or the
cash-generating unit to which it belongs, exceeds
its recoverable amount. Impairment losses
recognised in respect of cash-generating units
are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount
of any goodwill allocated to the cash-generating
unit (or group of units) and then, to reduce the
carrying amount of the other assets in the unit (or
group of units) on a pro-rata basis, except that
the carrying value of an asset will not be reduced
below its individual fair value less costs of disposal
(if measurable) or value in use (if determinable).

The Group assesses whether there is objective
evidence that the interest in a joint venture may be
impaired. When any objective evidence exists, the
entire carrying amount of the investment (including
goodwill) is tested for impairment as a single asset
by comparing its recoverable amount (higher of
value in use and fair value less costs of disposal)
with its carrying amount. Any impairment loss
recognised is not allocated to any asset, including
goodwill, that forms part of the carrying amount of
the investment.
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2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(h)

Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

Impairment of non-financial assets (Continued)
- Reversal of impairment losses

In respect of assets other than goodwill, an
impairment loss is reversed if there has been
a favourable change in the estimates used to
determine the recoverable amount. An impairment
loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited to
the asset’s carrying amount that would have
been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised in prior years. Reversals of impairment
losses are credited to profit or loss in the year in
which the reversals are recognised.

Interim financial reporting and impairment

Under the Listing Rules, the Group is required to prepare
an interim financial report in compliance with IAS 34,
“Interim Financial Reporting”, in respect of the first six
months of the financial year. At the end of the interim
period, the Group applies the same impairment testing,
recognition, and reversal criteria as it would at the end of
the financial year (see notes 2.3(h)() and (ii)).

Impairment losses recognised in an interim period in
respect of goodwill are not reversed in a subsequent
period. This is the case even if no loss, or a smaller loss,
would have been recognised had the impairment been
assessed only at the end of the financial year to which
the interim period relates.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2023 &

2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

@

0

Inventories

Inventories are assets which are held for sale in the ordinary
course of business, in the process of production for such sale
or in the form of materials or supplies to be consumed in the
production process or in the rendering of services.

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net realisable
value.

Cost is calculated using the weighted average cost formula
and comprises all costs of purchase, costs of conversion and
other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present
location and condition.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary
course of business less the estimated costs of completion
and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale. Costs
necessary to make the sale include incremental costs directly
attributable to the sale and non-incremental costs which the
Group must incur to make the sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those
inventories is recognised as an expense in the period in which
the related revenue is recognised. The amount of any write-
down of inventories to net realisable value and all losses of
inventories are recognised as an expense in the period the
write-down or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal of any
write-down of inventories is recognised as a reduction in the
amount of inventories recognised as an expense in the period in
which the reversal occurs.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when the customer pays non-
refundable consideration before the Group recognises the
related revenue (see note 2.3(t)). A contract liability would also
be recognised if the Group has an unconditional right to receive
non-refundable consideration before the Group recognises the
related revenue. In such cases, a corresponding receivable
would also be recognised (see note 2.3(k)).

When the contract includes a significant financing component,
the contract balance includes interest accrued under the
effective interest method (see note 2.3(t)(iii)).
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 BiE _ZE " =F=F=+—HIEEE

2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(k)

(U

(m)

(n)

Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an unconditional
right to receive consideration. A right to receive consideration
is unconditional if only the passage of time is required before
payment of that consideration is due. If revenue has been
recognised before the Group has an unconditional right to
receive consideration, the amount is presented as a contract
asset.

Trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component are initially measured at their transaction price.
Trade receivables that contain a significant financing component
and other receivables are initially measured at fair value plus
transaction costs. All receivables are subsequently stated
at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less
allowance for ECL. (see note 2.3(h)(i)).

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are measured initially at fair value
less transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition,
interest-bearing borrowings are stated at amortised cost using
the effective interest method. Interest expense is recognised in
accordance with the Group’s accounting policy for borrowing
costs.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair value.
Subsequent to initial recognition, trade and other payables are
stated at amortised cost unless the effect of discounting would
be immaterial, in which case they are stated at invoice amounts.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and
on hand, demand deposits with banks and other financial
institutions, and short-term, highly liquid investments readily
convertible into known amounts of cash and which are subject
to an insignificant risk of changes in value, having been
within three months of maturity at acquisition. Cash and cash
equivalents are assessed for ECLs in accordance with the
policy set out in note 2.3(h)(i).

Cash at bank excludes bank balances that are subject to
regulatory restrictions that result in such balances no longer
meeting the definition of cash.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2023 &

2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(o)

(p)

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity.
If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the
transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained interest
in the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may
have to pay. If the Group retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group
continues to recognise the financial asset and also recognises a
collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised
cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is
recognised in profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or
have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of
the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid
and payable is recognised in profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 BiE _ZE " =F=F=+—HIEEE

2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(a)

Employee benefits

@

(i)

Short term employee benefits and contributions to
defined contribution retirement plans

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave,
contributions to defined contribution retirement plans
and the cost of non-monetary benefits are accrued in the
year in which the associated services are rendered by
employees. Where payment or settlement is deferred and
the effect would be material, these amounts are stated at
their present values.

Equity-settled share-based payments

The fair value of share options granted to employees is
recognised as an employee cost with a corresponding
increase in a share-based payments reserve within equity.
The fair value is measured at grant date, without taking
into consideration of all non-market vesting conditions,
using the valuation model, taking into account the terms
and conditions upon which the options were granted.
Where the employees have to meet vesting conditions
before becoming unconditionally entitled to the share
options, the total estimated fair value of the share options
is spread over the vesting period, taking into account the
probability that the options will vest.

During the vesting period, the number of share options
expected to vest is reviewed. Any resulting adjustment
to the cumulative fair value recognised in prior years is
charged/credited to the profit or loss for the year of the
review, unless the original employee expenses qualify for
recognition as an asset, with a corresponding adjustment
to the share-based payments reserve. On vesting date,
the amount recognised as an expense is adjusted to
reflect the actual number of share options that vest
(with a corresponding adjustment to the share-based
payments reserve) except where forfeiture is only due to
not achieving vesting conditions that relate to the market
price of the Company’s shares. The equity amount is
recognised in the share-based payments reserve until
either the option is exercised (when it is transferred to the
share premium account) or the option expires (when it is
released directly to accumulated losses).

ALPHA PROFESSIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED e Annual Report 2023

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

23 *

()

EETERME (8

EEEF

@

(i)

FEHI 1B B #5 7 R FE BB (R
Bkt 82 1%

HE FETA -BAFHT
B ERBRHTENKREZ
MR IF G B A HY
EERMERRBEZEE
MR 5T o R IE R EUE
EREETEELR QA
AR U HIREYER-

RIEBEURG HERZ
177

BRYEEZEREZAR
FEEESSEENE
T T P 2 UBRD A B
BEZ (SRR 1F AR AR
Eme A TEEREEH
HERMEEFE CRE
ZEMEFTHEREK
) EREEEERE
ZRBARRR B AR o fi5 2
ERERRBHRAESIE
= ERRE BIBR
BZ A ATEEEES
REBHANED BTE
ZREBREREGRBEZAY
BEME

REBHN xATEF
HEHERBZBRE
HEH - AERMEBESF
EFrERz Rt AT EE
ERZBE RERFE
WEB PR 5
RIEREERXGEBE
ABm—IEHAE ABEDR
PRERZAARBEHEL
HERE - NEBELH
EASAZZEEEMR
MERRBZBRERS
fELEE (MHURMD A
B2 AR E R ARRE
BE) EEREERE
EEREARTRNTE
8RR 2 B 8 4% 14 T 4R R UR
BRSNS B RS R
DRBERZ IR EDE
B EEEREETEE
BERMEER HBR
#Ew (EEEh R
B) Bk



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2023 &

2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(9)

(r)

Employee benefits (Continued)
(iij)  Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of when
the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of those
benefits and when it recognises restructuring costs
involving the payment of termination benefits.

Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and movements
in deferred tax assets and liabilities. Current tax and movements
in deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised in profit or
loss except to the extent that they relate to items recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which
case the relevant amounts of tax are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income
for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted
at the end of the reporting period, and any adjustment to tax
payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible and
taxable temporary differences respectively, being the differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for
financial reporting purposes and their tax bases. Deferred
tax assets also arise from unused tax losses and unused tax
credits.
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 BiE _ZE " =F=F=+—HIEEE

2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

U}

Income tax (Continued)

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax liabilities,
and all deferred tax assets to the extent that it is probable that
future taxable profits will be available against which the asset
can be utilised, are recognised. Future taxable profits that may
support the recognition of deferred tax assets arising from
deductible temporary differences include those that will arise
from the reversal of existing taxable temporary differences,
provided that those differences relate to the same taxation
authority and the same taxable entity, and are expected to
reverse either in the same period as the expected reversal of
the deductible temporary differences or in periods into which a
tax loss arising from the deferred tax asset can be carried back
or forward. The same criteria are adopted when determining
whether existing taxable temporary differences support the
recognition of deferred tax assets arising from unused tax
losses and credits, that is, those differences are taken into
account if they relate to the same taxation authority and the
same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse in a period, or
periods, in which the tax loss or credit can be utilised.

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax assets and
liabilities are those temporary differences arising from goodwill
not deductible for tax purposes, the initial recognition of assets
or liabilities that affect neither accounting nor taxable profit
(provided they are not part of a business combination), and
temporary differences relating to investments in subsidiaries
and joint ventures to the extent that, in the case of taxable
differences, the Group controls the timing of the reversal
and it is probable that the differences will not reverse in the
foreseeable future, or in the case of deductible differences,
unless it is probable that they will reverse in the future.

Where investment properties are carried at their fair value in
accordance with the accounting policy set out in note 2.3(e),
the amount of deferred tax recognised is measured using the
tax rates that would apply on sale of those assets at their
carrying value at the reporting date unless the properties are
depreciable and are held within a business model whose
objective is to consume substantially all of the economic
benefits embodied in the properties over time, rather than
through sale. In all other cases, the amount of deferred tax
recognised is measured based on the expected manner of
realisation or settlement of the carrying amount of the assets
and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted
at the end of the reporting period. Deferred tax assets and
liabilities are not discounted.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2023 &

2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

)

Income tax (Continued)

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and is reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow the related tax benefit to be utilised. Any such
reduction is reversed to the extent that it becomes probable
that sufficient taxable profits will be available.

Additional income taxes that arise from the distribution of
dividends are recognised when the liability to pay the related
dividends is recognised.

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and
movements therein, are presented separately from each
other and are not offset. Current tax assets are offset against
current tax liabilities, and deferred tax assets against deferred
tax liabilities, if the Company or the Group has the legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax
liabilities and the following additional conditions are met:

- in the case of current tax assets and liabilities, the
Company or the Group intends either to settle on a
net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously; or

- in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities, if they
relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority on either:

- the same taxable entity; or

- different taxable entities, which, in each future
period in which significant amounts of deferred tax
liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or
recovered, intend to realise the current tax assets
and settle the current tax liabilities on a net basis
or realise and settle simultaneously.
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 BiE _ZE " =F=F=+—HIEEE

2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(s)

®)

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a legal or
constructive obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is
probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required
to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made.
Where the time value of money is material, provisions are stated
at the present value of the expenditure expected to settle the
obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably,
the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote. Possible
obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future events are
also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of
outflow of economic benefits is remote.

Where some or all of the expenditure required to settle a
provision is expected to be reimbursed by another party, a
separate asset is recognised for any expected reimbursement
that would be virtually certain. The amount recognised for
the reimbursement is limited to the carrying amount of the
provision.

Revenue and other income

Income is classified by the Group as revenue when it arises
from the sale of goods, the provision of services or the use by
others of the Group’s assets under leases in the ordinary course
of the Group’s business.

In determining whether the Group acts as a principal or as an
agent, it considers whether it obtains control of the products or
services before they are transferred to the customers. Control
refers to the Group’s ability to direct the use of and obtain
substantially all of the remaining benefits from the products or
services.

Revenue is recognised when control over a product or service
is transferred to the customer, or the lessee has the right to use
the asset, at the amount of promised consideration to which
the Group is expected to be entitled, excluding those amounts
collected on behalf of third parties. Revenue excludes value
added tax or other sales taxes and is after deduction of any
trade discounts.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2023 &

2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

)

Revenue and other income (Continued)
Principal versus agent

When another party is involved in providing goods or services
to a customer, the Group determines whether the nature of its
promise is a performance obligation to provide the specified
goods or services itself (that is, the Group is a principal) or to
arrange for those goods or services to be provided by the other
party (that is, the Group is an agent).

The Group is a principal if it controls the specified good or
service before that good or service is transferred to a customer.

The Group is an agent if its performance obligation is to arrange
for the provision of the specified good or service by another
party. In this case, the Group does not control the specified
good or service provided by another party before that good or
service is transferred to the customer. When the Group acts
as an agent, it recognises revenue in the amount of any fee or
commission to which it expects to be entitled in exchange for
arranging for the specified goods or services to be provided by
the other party.

Existence of significant financing component

Where the contract contains a financing component which
provides a significant financing benefit to the customer for more
than 12 months, revenue is measured at the present value of
the amount receivable, discounted using the discount rate that
would be reflected in a separate financing transaction with the
customer, and interest income is accrued separately under
the effective interest method. Where the contract contains a
financing component which provides a significant financing
benefit to the Group, revenue recognised under that contract
includes the interest expense accreted on the contract liability
under the effective interest method. The Group takes advantage
of the practical expedient in paragraph 63 of IFRS 15 and does
not adjust the consideration for any effects of a significant
financing component if the period of financing is 12 months or
less.
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 BiE _ZE " =F=F=+—HIEEE

2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(t) Revenue and other income (Continued)

Further details of the Group’s revenue and other income
recognition policies are as follows:

0

(i)

(i)

Sale of goods and provision of services

Revenue is recognised when the customer takes
possession of and accepts the products or services.
If the products or services are a partial fulfilment of a
contract covering other goods and/or services, then
the amount of revenue recognised is an appropriate
proportion of the total transaction price under the
contract, allocated between all the goods and services
promised under the contract on a relative stand-alone
selling price basis.

Rental income from operating leases

Rental income receivable under operating leases is
recognised in profit or loss in equal instalments over the
periods covered by the lease term, except where an
alternative basis is more representative of the pattern of
benefits to be derived from the use of the leased asset.
Lease incentives granted are recognised in profit or loss
as an integral part of the aggregate net lease payments
receivable. Variable lease payments that do not depend
on an index or a rate are recognised as income in the
accounting period in which they are earned.

Interest income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues under the
effective interest method using the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts through the
expected life of the financial asset to the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset. For financial assets (other
than purchased or originated credit-impaired financial
assets) measured at amortised cost that are not credit-
impaired, the effective interest rate is applied to the
gross carrying amount of the asset. For credit-impaired
financial assets, the effective interest rate is applied to
the amortised cost (i.e. gross carrying amount net of loss
allowance) of the asset (see note 2.3(h)(i)).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2023 &

2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(®

(u)

Revenue and other income (Continued)
(iv)  Income from financial guarantee issued

Income from financial guarantee issued is recognised
over the term of the guarantees (see note 2.3(h(ii)).

v) Franchise fee incorme

Franchise fee income from franchisee is recognised over
the franchise terms on a straight line basis.

(vi)  Government grants

Government grants are recognised in the statement
of financial position initially when there is reasonable
assurance that they will be received and that the Group
will comply with the conditions attaching to them. Grants
that compensate the Group for expenses incurred are
recognised as income in profit or loss on a systematic
basis in the same periods in which the expenses are
incurred. Grants that compensate the Group for the
cost of an asset are recognised as deferred income
in the consolidated statement of financial position and
transferred to profit or loss on a systematic and rational
basis over the useful life of the related asset/deducted
from the carrying amount of the asset and consequently
are effectively recognised in profit or loss over the useful
life of the asset by way of reduced depreciation expense.

Translation of foreign currencies

Foreign currency transactions during the year are translated
at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the end of
the reporting period. Exchange gains and losses are recognised
in profit or loss, except those arising from foreign currency
borrowings used to hedge a net investment in a foreign operation
which are recognised in other comprehensive income and for
exchange differences on monetary items receivable from or
payable to a foreign operation for which settlement is neither
planned nor likely to occur (therefore forming part of the net
investment in the foreign operation), which are recognised initially
in other comprehensive income and reclassified from equity to
profit or loss on disposal or partial disposal of the Group’s net
investment in the foreign operation.
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 BiE _ZE " =F=F=+—HIEEE

2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(u)

Translation of foreign currencies (Continued)

Non-monetary assets and liabilities measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the
foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates and are
not re-translated. The transaction date is the date on which the
Group initially recognises such non-monetary assets or liabilities.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies stated at fair value are translated using the foreign
exchange rates ruling at the dates the fair value was measured.

When a fair value gain or loss on a non-monetary item is
recognised in profit or loss, any exchange component of that
gain or loss is also recognised in profit or loss. When a fair value
gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised in other
comprehensive income, any exchange component of that gain or
loss is also recognised in other comprehensive income.

The results of foreign operations are translated into HK$ at the
exchange rates approximating the foreign exchange rates ruling
at the dates of the transactions. Statement of financial position
items, including goodwill arising on consolidation of foreign
operations acquired on or after 1 April 2005, are translated
into HK$ at the closing foreign exchange rates at the end of
the reporting period. The resulting exchange differences are
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated
separately in equity in the foreign currency translation reserve.
Goodwill arising on consolidation of a foreign operation acquired
before 1 April 2005 is translated at the foreign exchange rate that
applied at the date of acquisition of the foreign operation.

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a disposal of
the Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal
involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign
operation, or a partial disposal of an interest in a joint venture
that includes a foreign operation of which the retained interest
becomes a financial asset), all of the exchange differences
accumulated in equity in respect of that operation attributable to
the owners of the Company are reclassified to profit or loss.

In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of a subsidiary that
includes a foreign operation that does not result in the Group
losing control over the subsidiary, the proportionate share of
accumulated exchange differences is re-attributed to non-
controlling interests and is not recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2023 &

2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(v)

(w)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of an asset which necessarily takes
a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use
or sale are capitalised as part of the cost of that asset. Other
borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they are
incurred.

The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part of the cost of a
qualifying asset commences when expenditure for the asset
is being incurred, borrowing costs are being incurred and
activities that are necessary to prepare the asset for its intended
use or sale are in progress. Capitalisation of borrowing costs
is suspended or ceases when substantially all the activities
necessary to prepare the qualifying asset for its intended use or
sale are interrupted or complete.

Discontinued operation

A discontinued operation is a component of the Group’s
business, the operations and cash flows of which can be clearly
distinguished from the rest of the Group and which represents
a separate major line of business or geographical area of
operations, or is part of a single coordinated plan to dispose
of a separate major line of business or geographical area of
operations, or is a subsidiary acquired exclusively with a view to
resale.

Classification as a discontinued operation occurs upon disposal
or when the operation meets the criteria to be classified as held
for sale, if earlier. It also occurs if the operation is abandoned.

Where an operation is classified as discontinued, a single
amount is presented on the face of the statement of profit or
loss, which comprises:

- the post-tax profit or loss of the discontinued operation;
and

- the post-tax gain or loss recognised on the measurement
to fair value less costs to sell, or on the disposal, of the
assets or disposal group(s) constituting the discontinued
operation.
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 BiE _ZE " =F=F=+—HIEEE

2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(x)  Related parties

a) A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is
related to the Group if that person:

i) has control or joint control over the Group;
ii) has significant influence over the Group; or

iii) is @ member of the key management personnel of
the Group or the Group’s parent.

b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

i) The entity and the Group are members of the
same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the
others).

ii) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a
member).

iii) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party.

iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2023 &

2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

()

y)

Related parties (Continued)

V) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or an
entity related to the Group.

Vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a).

vi) A person identified in (a)()) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity).

vii)  The entity, or any member of a group of which
it is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the Group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be
influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity.

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the financial statements, are identified from
the financial information provided regularly to the executive
Directors (the chief operating decision maker) for the purposes
of allocating resources to, and assessing the performance
of, the Group’s various lines of business and geographical
locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for
financial reporting purposes unless the segments have similar
economic characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature
of products and services, the nature of production processes,
the type or class of customers, the methods used to distribute
the products or provide the services, and the nature of the
regulatory environment. Operating segments which are not
individually material may be aggregated if they share a majority
of these criteria.
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 BiE _ZE " =F=F=+—HIEEE

3.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTIES

The preparation of the Group’s consolidated financial statements
requires management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses,
assets and liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and
the disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these
assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that could
require a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets or
liabilities affected in the future.

(@) Critical accounting judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following accounting judgements:

(i) Principal versus agent consideration (principal)

The Group engages in the trading of milk powder and
baby foods (the “Milk Products Business”). The Group
concluded that the Group acts as the principal for
the transactions that it controls the specified goods
before it is transferred to the customer after taking into
consideration indicators such as the Group is primarily
responsible for fulfilling the promise to provide the
goods and the Group has inventory risk. When the
Group satisfies the performance obligation, the Group
recognises trading revenue in the gross amount of
consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled
as specified in the contracts.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group acting
as a principal recognised revenue relating to sales of milk
powder and baby foods amounted to HK$361,227,000
(2022: HK$435,186,000).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMBRERMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 &

3.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTIES (Continued)

(a) Critical accounting judgements (Continued)

(i)

Principal versus agent consideration (agent)

The Group is considered as an agent for certain
contracts with customers relating to the Milk Products
Business as the Group did not obtain the control over
goods and/or services before passing on to customers
taking into consideration indicators such as the Group is
not primarily responsible for fulfilling the promise and not
exposed to inventory risk. When the Group satisfies the
performance obligation, the Group recognises a revenue
in the amount it expects to be entitled as specified in the
contracts.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group acting
as an agent recognised revenue relating to sales of
milk powder and baby foods amounted to Nil (2022:
HK$63,000).

(b) Key sources of estimation uncertainty

@

Fair value of investment property

Investment property is stated at fair value based on the
valuation performed by an independent professional
property valuer. The determination of the fair value
involves certain assumptions of market conditions which
are set out in note 16.

In relying on the valuation report, the Directors have
exercised their judgement and are satisfied that the
method of valuation is reflective of the current market
conditions. Changes to these assumptions would result
in changes in the fair value of the Group’s investment
property and the corresponding adjustments to the
amount of gain or loss reported in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income.

As at 31 March 2023, the carrying amount of the
Group’s investment property was HK$42,094,000 (2022:
HK$43,473,000).
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 BiE _ZE " =F=F=+—HIEEE

3.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND 3.  EARGFHETRESAEEN @
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTIES (Continued)

(b) Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued) b EEFEEMNEERE @
(i) Provision of ECL for trade receivables (i) EBZEKGEEEEE
1E1EE
Trade receivables with significant balances and credit- HBE KA aa%aea%#
impaired are assessed for ECL individually. In addition, BRENE S EWRIE
the Group uses practical expedient in estimating ECL BEREEITTEH %iéfléﬁ?ﬁﬂ
on trade receivables which are not assessed individually iy o WE AN > B 5 0 FEfE
using a provision matrix. The provision rates are based REEEREERETENE
on aging of debtors as groupings of various debtors SEWRIBEZ EIREES
taking into consideration the Group’s historical default BN REBERAOITHE
rates and forward-looking information that is reasonable B A BELLERTLER
and supportable available without undue costs or effort. FEIERAAVERE D AR E
At every reporting date, the historical observed default EEEAEENBATEN
rates are reassessed and changes in the forward-looking ERERBAMEBEMA
information are considered. RB N EEZEER
BIEEZATBREER R

BEHREEH BT LA
FERENX > WEEA

BRI EE-
The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates. ARG EEaRER e
The information about the Group’s trade receivables and SBEALABE BREALE
the ECL are disclosed in notes 22 and 35(a), respectively. B EIEIE KR TEAE
BEENEN DB HEE

227%35(a)i & °

(iii)  Estimated impairment of goodwill (i)  EERI G E
Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an EETmEEGRMERME
estimation of the recoverable amount of the cash- ENEBmEZHEESE
generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) to B (RREEEEMA
which goodwill has been allocated, which is the higher of Al) 2Bl Bl 28 > BN fE
the value in use or fair value less costs of disposal. The AEEFIAFEERHE
value in use calculation requires the Group to estimate BRAZ&RSE tEER
the future cash flows expected to arise from the cash— BEENEEMTTERIR
generating unit (or a group of cash-generating units) and TELBM (RREEE
a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present BAIAR) HEEZ XK
value. Where the actual future cash flows are less than REREREGHEMFE
expected, or changes in facts and circumstances which Ut EIRE - HBBEERR
result in downward revision of future cash flows or HeRme8E\nNER K=
upward revision of discount rate, a material impairment BERERBBERNTAR
loss or further impairment loss may arise. As at 31 March KHEREN AR
2023, the carrying amount of goodwill is HK$2,161,000 Zo A BEHIRBRAE
(2022: HK$2,161,000) (net of accumulated impairment BB NE— P REREE-
loss of Nil (2022: Nil)). Details of the recoverable amount R ZET=F=A=+—
calculation are disclosed in note 18. B -B®E20NKBEER

2,161,000 T (ZE -
£ 12,161,000 70) (K30

MBRRSFBEGES (T
TTEE) ocoigEs
RSt E B W sE 181K

EEEO
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 BiZE _E " =F=H=+—HIEFE

3.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND 3. EAEHETREFEEM @)
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTIES (Continued)
(b) Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued) ) (A TEEENEERR @
(iv)  Deferred tax assets (iv) BEFREESE

As at 31 March 2023, a deferred tax asset of RIBEZ=F=F=+—
HK$1,354,000 (2022: HK$315,000) in relation to credit H EEBZRERREBEE
loss allowance of trade receivables has been recognised BIEEEERNIELER
in the consolidated statement of financial position. No THE E1,354,0008 75 (&
deferred tax asset has been recognised on the tax losses T~ T4 1 315,000 7T)
of HK$4,900,000 (2022: HK$89,036,000) due to the ERGEmBERRER
unpredictability of future profit streams. The realisability HEE8 o A R A A AR AY
of the deferred tax asset mainly depends on whether AAEANY BESRRIE
sufficient future profits or taxable temporary differences 584,900,000 75 (Z &
will be available in the future, which is a key source of — T4 189,036,000 7T)
estimation uncertainty. In cases where the actual future MERIRELEIRIBE & o IR T
taxable profits generated are less or more than expected, MEEENISHEETE
or change in facts and circumstances which result in BURR BE A BHERR
revision of future taxable profits estimation, a material A R AR i IR FERR AR
reversal or further recognition of deferred tax assets may HRFEEE > My h st B
arise, which would be recognised in profit or loss for the BARZEM EERIR o 8P
period in which such a reversal or further recognition EEZERRKRERNE
takes place. F/ORZHRTER > HE

BRERBEEHETTR

RS R A 5t B
IEMIRE EF] AE IR K18
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 BiE _ZE " =F=F=+—HIEEE

3.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTIES (Continued)

(b) Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(v)  Impairment assessment for non-financial assets

(other than goodwill)

Property, plant and equipment (including right-of-use
assets) are stated at costs less accumulated depreciation
and impairment, if any. In determining whether an asset
is impaired, the Group has to exercise judgement and
make estimation, particularly in assessing: (1) whether an
event has occurred or any indicators that may affect the
asset value; (2) whether the carrying value of an asset
can be supported by the recoverable amount, in the
case of value in use, the net present value of future cash
flows which are estimated based upon the continued use
of the asset; and (3) the appropriate key assumptions
to be applied in estimating the recoverable amount
including cash flow projections and an appropriate
discount rate. When it is not possible to estimate the
recoverable amount of an individual asset (including right-
of-use assets), the Group estimates the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit to which the
assets belong, including allocation of corporate assets
when a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation
can be established, otherwise recoverable amount is
determined at the smallest group of cash-generating
units, for which the relevant corporate assets have been
allocated. Changing the assumptions and estimates,
including the discount rate or the growth rates in a cash
flow projection, could materially affect the recoverable

amount.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMBRERMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 &

3.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTIES (Continued)

(b) Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

v)

(vi)

(vii)

Impairment assessment for non-financial assets
(other than goodwill) (Continued)

As at 31 March 2023, the carrying amounts of property,
plant and equipment (including right-of-use assets)
subject to impairment assessment were HK$360,000
(2022: HK$2,449,000), after taking into account the
impairment losses of Nil (2022: Nil) in respect of property,
plant and equipment (including right-of-use assets) that
have been recognised.

Current tax

The subsidiaries of the Company are subject to income
tax in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”), Hong
Kong and Australia. Significant judgement is required in
determining the provision for income tax. There are many
transactions for which the ultimate tax determination is
uncertain during the ordinary course of business. Where
the final tax outcome of these matters is different from
the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences
will impact the current tax and deferred tax provisions in
the financial period in which such determination is made.

Write-down of inventories to net realisable value

Write-down of inventories to net realisable value is
made based on the estimated net realisable value of
inventories. The assessment of the required write-
down amount involves management’s judgement and
estimates. Where the actual outcome or expectation
in future is different from the original estimate, such
difference will have an impact on the carrying amounts
of inventories and the write-down charge/write-back
amount in the period in which such estimate has been
changed.
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 BiE _ZE " =F=F=+—HIEEE

4.  APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO 4.  FERMETRETRERMFSIRE %
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS Ell
The Group has applied the following amendments to IFRSs issued by AEEEBRA G HBE T35 BERE

S ERIEE SR ZEARMBRE
FRZ BT REANGEMBRE

the IASB to these consolidated financial statements for the current
accounting period:

Amendments to IFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual Framework BRI PRS28] BUREZRAIRM

LR N
Amendments to IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds EpR & st 2 A L EN g
before Intended Use F165FIET A & RERTE
BRI ZFT1R
=8
Amendments to IAS 37 Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfiling a B g s 2ER BEEN-ET
Contract EITRET R B2 A
Amendments to IFRSs ~ Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2018-2020 EIPREA SRS ER BB REE
CHEN A ZZ— N\
EIT I
ZEENE

None of the developments have had a material effect on how the MEZRHAEERGEUBRERE
Group’s results and financial position for the current and prior years RUEFEINNEAKEERUFIEEER
have been prepared or presented in the consolidated financial R BERRERNEREE - AEFM

statements. The Group has not applied any new standard or EIRARAG SRR R ERWER

interpretation that is not yet effective for the current accounting period. MEER| R
5. SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. DEFER

FEERRTRAOBEREES ME
EBDETUEFR (BERKRRF) M
MR- BT ETERD KRR
AMAENEARITES (TEZGERR
E)EREH R B0 AEB 2T
NF=@EAFTRED M- ERUATE
THREDEETEESFRNEE D

The Group manages its businesses by divisions, which are organised
by business lines (products and services). In a manner consistent with
the way in which information is reported internally to the executive
Directors (the chief operating decision maker) for the purposes of
resource allocation and performance assessment, the Group has
presented the following three reportable segments. No operating
segments have been aggregated to form the following reportable

segments. B o

1. The trading of milk powder and baby foods (the “Milk Products 1. IHEERERES (MNhEE
Business”); EREFE)

2. The provision of warehouse logistics services (the “Logistics 2. REAFYMARYE (IMmzx
Business”); and %) &

3. Property investment (the “Property Investment”). 3. WERE (WELKE)) -

ABRZITL AEE—EBHEGFRHE
MITEM R E > LB WA SR
RigAAEENERRRE - AEER
HE_Z_=—H=-B=+—HLEEE

In view of diversification, the Group has been exploring different
business opportunities in other sectors to broaden the sources of
income and to boost the business performance of the Group. The
Group commenced and developed the Logistics Business during the

102

year ended 31 March 2023.

The provision of mobile handset solution (the “Mobile Business”)
was discontinued during the current year. The following segment
information does not include any amounts for the discontinued

operation which is described in more details in note 11.

The Milk Products Business derives revenue primarily from the sales of

milk powder and baby foods.
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ARE M B HRARMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 BiZE _E " =F=H=+—HIEFE

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

The Logistics Business derives revenue primarily from the provision of
warehouse logistics services.

The Property Investment derives revenue primarily from rental income
arising from the lease of a property.

(@) Segment results, assets and liabilities

For the purposes of assessing segment performance and
allocating resources between segments, the executive Directors
monitor the results, assets and liabilities attributable to each
reportable segment on the following bases:

Segment assets include all tangible, intangible assets and
current assets with the exception of corporate assets. Segment
liabilities include trade and other payables, contract liabilities,
lease liabilities and tax payable attributable to the activities of
the individual segments.

Revenue and expenses are allocated to the reportable
segments with reference to sales generated by those segments
and the expenses incurred by those segments or which
otherwise arise from the depreciation of assets attributable to
those segments.

The measure used for reporting segment profit is “adjusted
EBITDA” i.e. “adjusted earnings before interest, taxes,
depreciation and amortisation”, where “interest” is regarded
as including investment income and “depreciation and
amortisation” is regarded as including impairment losses on
non-current assets. To arrive at adjusted EBITDA, the Group’s
earnings are further adjusted for items not specifically attributed
to individual segments, such as Directors’ and auditors’
remuneration and other head office or corporate administration
costs.

In addition to receiving segment information concerning
adjusted EBITDA, executive Directors are provided with
segment information concerning interest income and expense
from cash balances and borrowings managed directly by the
segments, depreciation, impairment losses, valuation gain/loss
on investment property and additions to non-current segment
assets used by the segments in their operations.

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the
same as the Group’s accounting policies described in note 2.

5. DEEH @

MIREBZWATEZRBRTAEREY
TARTS

MERBEZIWAZEZREYFEIEES
EREEZWA -

@ DEER EBERER

BTAEIBRREREEDE
ZEDEER WITESRLUT
BEERZXBEATRE DN
EE BEERAMRE:

DEEBEBREMARLEE &
WEERRHEE EEEXEE
BRI e DEFEEEIEE R 2D EBAY
EEEGZE 5 R AEMENR
E-anaf -HEaRKEN
MIH -

WA KR TR B 2D B0
EENHENURZEDEMRE
EHNHXAZENEEEZE
ENESIELEZHS DEEE
BATREDER -

BREBRDIENZTES XS
MK HHEEBITDA S » BI T0 R F
EMRIEITEREHA 2 KB
BERAMN CEPTRHEIERAE
FEREUR AT 37 8 R o) 4
BAGEERBEEZRER
18 AT B HEEBITDA &R &
Bz BATHITIEE T BN E
AW BB EHE—FTHE
) 40 & =5 K 1% 46 B9 55 B DA R
Hsam =i ol 2TH Y -

PR ERS % BT S EEBITDAN S
MERSL RTEETESER
AEBEBERNRSERRE
HEOFBRA RIS T
{EAHR - REM R BB
RSB LUR 53 BB 14 188 8 AR
ERBOBEERENHBE
Eho

D ERRY & 5T BUR B R 2P
By A EE & S HERER -

MEEERERAMRAT « —T_ZFFHK

103




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMBIRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 BiE _ZE " =F=F=+—HIEEE

5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 5. DEER @

(a) Segment results, assets and liabilities (Continued) (@ DHER BEREE®
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers BRIEABRDEBILKBERE
by the timing of revenue recognition, as well as information FEHNZWAERMEBEEZ
regarding the Group’s reportable segments as provided to the T ZERIBE-__FE=Z8
executive Directors for the purposes of resource allocation and —t+—HIEFERAETERD
assessment of segment performance for the years ended 31 FERFEIBREMABITE
March 2023 and 2022 is set out below. EFRHAXERETRSE D

EAERE 2 BRI 3o

Year ended 31 March 2023
BE_Z_=F=-A=1+—HLEE

Milk
Products Property Logistics
Business Investment Business Total
MEEEMER MELE WMREH fst
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAET FET FAT
Continuing operations FHEKSEER
Reportable segment revenue BFREAHBA
Disaggregated by timing of revenue RRUTAFESR
recognition LSS E (bl
Point in time BB 361,227 - - 361,227
Over time AR PR - 1,611 255 1,866
Revenue from contracts with external REIBEEENZ
customers and reportable segment WARBFRE
revenue DEWA 361,227 1,611 255 363,093
Profit or loss g
Reportable segment profit BYRENIERN
(adjusted EBITDA) (45 BBEBITDA) 22,980 3,118 14 26,112
Bank interest income RITHBIA 2
Depreciation e (763)
Finance costs B A (4,665)
Loss arising from changes in fair value of ZAFEEF ABRZ SR/
financial assets at fair value through BENATEEEDES
profit or loss 518 (18,578)
Unallocated head office and corporate KDL M H iR Ko (b 3
interest and expenses other than FE KB GRITAIE
bank interest income, depreciation and YA ~ 37 5 KBRS Al A
finance costs FR5M) (10,028)
Consolidated loss before taxation I =Y o (2,920)
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 BiZE _E " =F=H=+—HIEFE

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

(C)

Segment results, assets and liabilities (Continued)

5 DHER @
@ PEEER BEXERE G

At 31 March 2023
RZZZ=F=RA=+—H

Milk
Products Logistics Property
Business Business Investment Total
Continuing operations FHBIREEH MEEEMER YImER MmERE Mgt
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET
Reportable segment assets BYRENTEE 215,528 - 43,174 258,702
Unallocated head office and corporate R EC 2 A8 M= IR K
assets rEEE
— Cash and bank balances —RERIRTHER 185
- Financial assets at fair value —RBAFEES AR
through profit or loss REE 11,547
— Other unallocated assets —Hitk Dz BE 10
Consolidated total assets REBERE 270,444
Reportable segment liabilities BYREHTERE 50,657 - 438 51,095
Unallocated head office and corporate kD EC 2 A= iR &
liabilities tEAE
— Other borrowing —HifE g 47,544
~ Other unallocated liabilities —HitkplkzB8E 12,985
Consolidated total liabilities REafRE 111,624
Year ended 31 March 2023
HE-F-=F-A=+—HLEE
Milk
Products Logistics Property
Business Business  Investment  Unallocated Total
Continuing operations REBSEER NEEERER MmER MERE K fast
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET FET FET FET
Other segment information HitpEEk
Amounts included in the measure stADEbEF
of segment profit or FOBEE
segment assets: STRZMIE !
Impairment losses of trade receivables & 5 &R IS R {E 518 (6,523) - - - (6,523)
Impairment losses of other receivables E i W R BB E K518 (25) - = = (25)
Valuation gain on investment property & E4) ¥ G E U - - 1,343 - 1,343
Amounts not included in the Kt ADERF
measure of segment profit or FNEEE
segment assets: STEZHAIE !
Bank interest income RITH BUA 2 - - - 2
Depreciation e (753) - - (10) (763)
Finance costs & A A (21) - - (4,644) (4,665)
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 BiE _ZE " =F=F=+—HIEEE

5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 5  OHEN @
(a) Segment results, assets and liabilities (Continued) (@ DHER BEREE®

Year ended 31 March 2022
HEZZ_F-A=+—BHItFE

Mik Products Property
Business Investment Total
Continuing operations FEREEK hEERER MERE b
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TET TER
(Restated)
(RREF))
Reportable segment revenue BYREDHBBA
Disaggregated by timing of U ARESD
revenue recognition b kbl
Point in time ADBS 435,249 - 435,249
Over time BERF RIS 1,381 1,723 3,104
Revenue from contracts with RESIMBEEEH
external customers and reportable W?\&/Ejﬁﬁi
segment revenue DA 436,630 1,728 438,353
Profit or loss B
Reportable segment profit BT REHHEF
(adlusted EBITDA) (4 HHEERITDA) 25,348 2,918 28,266
Bank interest income RITRI B WA 1
Depreciation neE (789)
Finance costs MEMA (29)
Unallocated head office and corporate kDB Z A8l =R R b2
interest and expenses other than FIERBE GRITFIE
bank interest income, depreciation YA~ ERBERA
and finance costs 53] (12,817)
Consolidated profit before taxation ~ F&iRAT 4R & E A 14,638
At 31 March 2022
RZFZ-E=[=1+-H
Continuing operations and FELEEREREAL Milk Products Property
discontinued operation R Business Investment Total
HEBERES MERS iast
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TET TER
(Restated)
(RE7))
Reportable segment assets AYRENIDEE 127,329 44,170 171,499
Unallocated head office and RN BMERE R
corporate assets rEEE
— Cash and bank balances —RE RIRITHER 1,204
- Other unallocated assets —Ht KDz BE 1,469
Assets relating to discontinued RER TS EBAR
operation ZEE 4,648
Consolidated total assets RABERS 178,820
Reportable segment liabilities AYHRENDEE 38,358 1,025 39,383
Unallocated head office and RN BMERE R
corporate liabilities oL | 14,817
Liabilities relating to discontinued ABER HEEERER
operation pAZY | 8,269
Consolidated total liabilities RREREE 62,469
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5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 5. DEEN @
(a) Segment results, assets and liabilities (Continued) (@ DHEER BEREE®

Year ended 31 March 2022
BE_Z__F=A=+—HULEFE

Milk
Products Property
Business Investment Unallocated Total
Continuing operations RHEREER MEBEMER MERE RN st
HK$’'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET
(Restated) (Restated)
(e E5) (=)
Other segment information HityEpER
Amounts included in the measure StAD B D EE E
of segment profit or segment assets: SHEZHIE
Additions to non-current assets REFERBDEE 1,524 - - 1,524
Impairment loss of trade receivables “”%F”E WHIBRESE (1,910) - (1,910)
Valuation gain on investment property &ﬁ%¥fﬁ@u¥m - 1,402 - 1,402
Amounts not included in the Rt AR PaEM R D BEE
measure of segment profit or StEZIE:
segment assets:
Bank interest income RITH EWA 1 = 1
Depreciation wE (770) - (19) (789)
Finance costs =% (23) - (23)
There are no inter-segment revenue during the years ended 31 REE_SE_=—FR_ZT__
Mach 2023 and 2022. FZA=Z+—HLEFE WESY
EBREULA ©
(b)  Revenue from major products and services b KREFEERKRRBZUWA
2023 2022
TEI=fF S
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET TFAET
(Restated)
(KRE7))
Milk powder and baby foods Min B R B M 361,227 435,249
Franchise fee income RErTREBEIRA - 1,381
Gross rentals from investment property & E¥) TR 4258 1,611 1,723
Warehousing logistics income BEEYIRUA 255 -
363,093 438,353
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 BiE _ZE " =F=F=+—HIEEE

5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 5. OEHER @
(c) Geographical information © HEBR

The following is an analysis of geographical location of (i) the
Group’s revenue from external customers and (i) the Group’s
investment property, property, plant and equipment and
goodwill. The geographical location of customers is based
on the location at which the services were provided or the
goods were delivered. The geographical location of investment
property and property, plant and equipment is based on the
physical location of the asset under consideration. In the case
of goodwill, it is based on the location of the operation to which
they are allocated.

Continuing operations

ﬁ ﬁg ==

%

Revenue from external

UFBiEEBREIEERZ
WAR(NEEBNREYZE Y
X -MBERRHEUREEZFIE
& DA o B R PRI B 3R P iR
HRBFREY X EPEME D -
KREMEURE BB RRE
ZFREHETLEREEEE
NERLUEME - MEHEMS >
TERREEDENEERE
HTE °

Continuing
and
discontinued
operations
RBREER
RE#&ILE
Non-current assets
(excluding financial
instruments and deferred

Continuing
operations

customers tax assets)
FERBEE
FEEemIA
REIIEERZIRA RIELEIRIBE E)
2023 2022 2023 2022
—E-= _E_F —EF°= —EF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’'000
FERT FET FAET FHET
Hong Kong (place of domicile) & (& #h2) - - 340 3,251
Australia M 270,038 401,273 44,255 43,473
The People’s Republic of China H#EE AR HFE
(the “PRC") (TepELY) 93,055 37,080 20 1,359
363,093 438,353 44,615 48,083
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 BiZE _E " =F=H=+—HIEFE

5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 5 DEEN @
(d) Information about major customers ) EFEEETEETERZER
Revenue from customers (a group of entities known to the REEMAEERBIFELE
Group to be under common control is considered as a single EBWAI0%H U EHNEFE (A
customer) contributing 10% or more of the Group’s revenue EEBRERRZES TN —HEHE
from continuing operations are as follows: BAE—FP) ZWANT
2023 2022
—T== - S -
HK$’000 HK$’000
FAT FAET
(Restated)
(RREF))
Revenue from sales of milk powder and 2K B 5 E R &R 2R
baby foods Bz WA
— Customer A —®FH 294,100 139,266
— Customer B -8R 47,998 N/A 38
— Customer C R =I=N] - 224,738
Remark: et
# The corresponding revenue did not contribute 10% or more of the E RABRIEE R 3R U I &
Group’s total revenue for the relevant year. BRASEEARKRA10%T L E o
6. REVENUE 6. WA
(a)  Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers by (@ HIBEERARBEENIDZ
major products or service lines is as follows: RKEZEREHZWANT :
2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$'000
Continuing operations FEREER FET FAET
(Restated)
(#RE7))
Revenue from contracts with customers 5 & Bl IR B4 75 3R &5 #£ 01
within the scope of IFRS 15 F155EE KRB
BEEEHNZIWA
Disaggregated by major products or BXrEELIREER
service lines 29
— Sales of milk powder and baby foods —fHENIEERE R 361,227 435,249
— Franchise fee income — B IR - 1,381
— Warehousing logistics income —BREYIRIEA 255 -
361,482 436,630
Revenue from other sources FEEMIREZ WA
Gross rentals from investment property & EY)EFASEEE
— Lease payments that are fixed —EEREENTT 1,611 1,723
Total revenue A 363,093 438,353
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers by the Yo U A 5T B B I ¥ it & T 35
timing of revenue recognition and by geographic markets are Rz RERERENZIASD
disclosed in notes 5(a) and 5(c), respectively. BIFA B 5E5(a) R 5(c) IR B ©

MEEERERAMRAT « —T_ZFFHK 109



110

AR e M B HRAR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 BiE _ZE " =F=F=+—HIEEE

6. REVENUE (Continued) 6.

(b) The following table shows the amounts of revenue from
continuing operations recognised in the current reporting period
that were included in the contract liabilities at the beginning of
the reporting period:

Continuing operations HEREER
Revenue recognised that was RISV ASHEER
included in contract liabilities BB A © (izE25)

at the beginning of the

reporting period: (note 25)
Sales of milk powder and baby foods  SHENINKRERE R
Franchise fee income RETREEWA

(c) Revenue expected to be recognised in the future arising from
contracts with customers in existence at the reporting date:

All sales contracts with customers within the scope of IFRS 15
are for periods of one year or less. As permitted under IFRS 15,
the transaction price allocated to these unsatisfied contracts is
not disclosed.
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WA (&)

()

TREIN AR E A EDH
REFBERSEEBWRATER Z
ETENRESRDNEHAEHN
BER:

2023 2022
TET=4F - —

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FET

(Restated)

(e E5)

1,938 1,780

- 1,381

1,938 3,161

FAHARR LN RS ARETE
R R SAREDIRIIA ¢

T E R RE ER F165%
BENFAEZRHESO A
—EFHLUA B INBER B RS
ZRIE165EFT AT LR ERE

BHDEHRZ S BRI KK

FEo
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 BiZE _E " =F=H=+—HIEFE

OTHER INCOME 7. HMKA
2023 2022
—E=E -
HK$’000 HK$’000
Continuing operations FBRREE FET FAET
(Restated)
(BRE7)
Interest income on financial assets measured RN A E SRBE
at amortised cost FEUA
- Bank interest income —IRITHRBURA 2 1
Government grant (note) B #EEh (M55 175 =
Marketing service income IS ERBUA 341 3,429
Sundry income FIEWA 237 2
755 3,432

Note: For the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group successfully applied for
funding support from the “Employment Support Scheme” under the “Anti-
epidemic Fund”, set up by the Hong Kong SAR Government. The purpose
of the funding was to provide financial support to enterprises to retain their
employees who would otherwise be made redundant. Under the terms of the
grant, the Group was required not to make redundancies during the subsidy
period and to spend all the funding on paying wages to the employees. There

Mizt: BE_F_=F=B=+—HLFE>
AEEMABHEBTEBFRILA
MEEE) T2 MRAEFBINES
B ZEEEERTERHMEX
B URBHRAFGERERNET
RIBHRE IR FEBRHREABAS
BREBUARFMBESANINEIH

is no unfulfiled condition in relation to this government grant as at 31 March o RIB=F=B=+—H uE&
2023. BRAZEBA MBIV R SR EER
OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES, NET 8. HftwamkEsig FEE
2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000
Continuing operations EREER FAET FAET
(Restated)
(e E7)
Net foreign exchange loss PE 2 B5 1R 3 48 (5,394) (3,659)
Loss arising from changes in fair value BATBES ABE=LZ
of financial assets at fair value EMEENATFEE
through profit or loss SEELNEIR
— Listed equity securities — A ES (13,578) =
Valuation gain on investment property (note 16) & BY) X (EE W (FizE16) 1,343 1,402
(17,629) (2,257)

MEEERERAMRAT « —T_ZFFHK 111



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR e M B HRAR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 BiE _ZE " =F=F=+—HIEEE

9. (LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION 9. [RIRAEI (8518) iEA
(Loss)/profit before taxation from continuing operations is arrived at REFHECE LB BRRA (B18)

after (crediting)/charging the following: AR GEA) BRI TS IERE

=

2023 2022
—g—= —g——
HK$ 000 HK$ 000
Continuing operations FHEREET FET FAET
(Restated)
(IRE7)
(a) Finance costs: (a) RAERLAS -
Interest on other borrowing (note 23(b))  HftEEZF & (Mfz£23(b)) 4,644 -
Interest on lease liabilities (note 23(b)) HEaEZF é‘ (F$5£23(b)) 21 23
Total interest expense on financial i FEFE A FEES
liabilities not at fair value through A= Z%HE%F
profit or loss ) Sz A8 %R 4,665 23
(b) Staff costs (including (b) EIMA (BIFEEMS) :
Directors’ emoluments):
Salaries, wages and other benefits e TEREMET 9,982 9,498
Retirement benefits scheme BRRER] T
contributions (note 29) R (HIEE29) 304 271
10,286 9,769
(c) Other items: (c) HMIER :
Cost of inventories sold (note (i) BEFEMA FHEEi)
(note 21) (FFzE21) 320,111 403,675
Auditor’s remuneration ZE AN &
— Audit services —IZE R 1,000 1,200
— Non-audit services —IERZBRTS 450 555
Depreciation charges (note 17) ITEER (Ms17)
— Owned property, plant and —BEYE- -BE
equipment K&t 23 28
- Right-of-use assets —(EREEE 740 761
Marketing service expense (note (ii)) IS ERF ST (MT5E) 715 1,031
Impairment losses of financial assets B ERERIE
— Impairment losses of trade — B2 ERBHRIERESE
receivables (note 35(a)) (M3 5E35(a)) 6,523 1,910
— Impairment losses of other —HMEWRIEREEE
receivables (note 35(a)) (MF5E35(a)) 25 =
6,548 1,910
Short-term lease expense EEAfAERIS 157 324
Rental income from KEXREYEZHBETWA
investment property less BEELZHE
direct outgoings of Nil (CBZ—F:
(2022: HK$207,000) 207,0005%) 1,611) (1,516)
Notes: MI5E -
[0] Cost of inventories sold included purchase discounts of approximately i) EEFERABER 3% #7104
HK$30,985,000 (2022: HK$5,440,000) which was mainly due to a purchase 30,985,000 L (ZE - ZF :

discount of approximately HK$25,354,000 (2022: Nil) based on subscription
of 9,541,620 shares (the “Bubs Shares”) of Bubs Australia Limited (“Bubs
Australia”) at Nil consideration.

5,440,000 7T) T EEHPERU
TR EEE9,541,6200Bubs Australia
Limited (Bubs Australia ) &5 (T Bubs
B&A51) B MR BT I04925,354,0007%8

TCEIF I

NERGEETEREME2EKREERS
RIS E R R Z Y o

(i) Classified under selling and distribution costs in the consolidated statement of (ii)
profit or loss and other comprehensive income.
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 &

10. INCOME TAX

(@

Amounts recognised in profit or loss:

Continuing operations

Current tax BPHRTRIE
— Hong Kong Profits Tax for the year —RFEFEANER
— Australia Corporate income tax —REEBEMNBE
for the year FTi8iR

(Over)/under-provision in respect
of prior years
— Hong Kong Profits Tax
— Australia Corporate income tax

BILEE (BERE)
BETR
—EBRIER
— BN EFER

Deferred tax — origination and reversal of #EIEFRIE —E B ZZEM

temporary differences (note 28(a))

Income tax (credit)/expenses

Notes:

@

(v)

FriSiE (B%) /Fix

The provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax for 2023 is calculated at
16.5% (2022: 16.5%) of the estimated assessable profits for the
year, except for one subsidiary of the Group which is a qualifying
corporation under the two-tiered profits tax rate regime. For this
subsidiary, the first HK$2 million of assessable profits is taxed at
8.25% and the remaining assessable profits are taxed at 16.5%. The
provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax for this subsidiary was calculated
at the same basis in 2022.

The Group’s subsidiaries established in the PRC are subject to the
PRC EIT at 25% for the year ended 31 March 2023 (2022: 25%).

The Group’s subsidiaries established in Australia are subject to
Australia Corporate Income Tax at the rate of 30% for the years ended
31 March 2023 and 2022.

The Group is not subject to any taxation under the jurisdiction of
Bermuda and the British Virgin Islands (“BVI”) for the years ended 31
March 2023 and 2022.

Ff

(@)

ARE M B HRARMEE

(S0

ECEZF-RA=+—HIEFEE

B ARSI -

B4 KR (Mf5E28(a))

2023 2022
—ET= = S—
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAET FAET
(Restated)
g7
335 2,420
465 434
800 2,854
4) 314
(180) 35
(184) 349
(1,081) (315)
(465) 2,888
BEEE
() TERC=FENEBNERLR
FRMESERR BN URE
16.6% (ZEB -4 :16.5%)
SHREE MAEE—RENB
NERBHERNMREAEE
BEE -REWBARME
H2EB BT ZEREREN YU
8.25% I KM > M HERAESR
FRIRFLU16.5%M R EEIR o It
M A B M E BRI RIREBER
HAENEER T _ENE
I
(ii) HE_Z-_=—F=RB=+—H
FEE > AEBPPREMIY
M B A B B LL25% B R R 4R
FEGCEMER (CTZZ2F
25%) ©
(ii) BE_Z_=FK_FT__
A=+ —-HLEE x&£H
B2 3B N AR 32 89 BT g A B 2B U
30%BI R RN EMN B EFRS
e
(iv) HEZE-_=_FKR-T-C

ZR=+—HLEE x&H
BRABMEREREBEYES
(TRBELHE) BEEEN
ERRIE
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 BiE _ZE " =F=F=+—HIEEE

10. INCOME TAX (Continued)
(b) Reconciliation between tax expenses and accounting loss at

applicable tax rate:

(Loss)/profit before taxation FRIRAT (B548) s A
(from continuing operations) CRkEFEREER)

Notional tax on (loss)/profit before 16.5%NEEFBMME
taxation, calculated at Hong Kong SEZBRRA (B8
Profits Tax rate of 16.5% mAlZzHERIE
(2022: 16.5%) (ZBZZ% :16.5%)

Effect of different tax rates arising from E4 B EHMRFE I EEE
other tax jurisdictions HARMENTE

Tax effect of non-deductible expenses R aI IS 2 RFE R L&

Tax effect of non-taxable income BERRBAZREEE

Tax effect of tax losses/deductible W ERESR T MIERIE
temporary differences AR ERERE
not recognised MEEE

Utilisation of tax losses previously FRBERERZ
not recognised RIEEE

Statutory tax concession FEERBEER

(Over)/under-provision BEFE (BEHE)
in prior years BERE

Others HAth

Income tax (credit)/expenses Frigie (8%) X
(relating to continuing operations) (ARFERE LR

11. DISCONTINUED OPERATION

Deconsolidation of the operation of the Mobile Business

On 16 September 2022, a special resolution of H K Rich Technology
International Company Limited (‘HK Rich”), a direct wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company principally engaging in the Mobile
Business, was duly passed by the Company to wind up HK Rich by
way of creditors’ voluntary liquidation (the “Winding-up”). Subsequent
to the creditors’ meeting of HK Rich held on 30 September 2022, in
which the appointment of joint and several liquidators was confirmed,
the Company lost its control over HK Rich and its subsidiary and the
Company deconsolidated the operation of the Mobile Business since
then.

ALPHA PROFESSIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED e Annual Report 2023

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

10. FriSi (@
) MEMZHEGHEBEBZEEE
BREZHIR
2023 2022
—E_=5F .
HK$’000 HK$’000
TAET FET
(Restated)
(& E7)
(2,920) 14,638

(482) 2,415

201 323

657 332
(435) (416)

146 67

(18) 17)
(171) (165)
(184) 349
(179) -
(465) 2,888

1. BRIEEEER

THHFRESNEBETRAAR

i —-sy) = [ e = = 1
MEBRERAR (EEBEH AR
BNEZEBEMNBRR T2RETF
WER) R HIRZRRER AT ELE
B UERABBBEN SRS R
=imAR (N8 -BER -2
FENB=THETEEENEEAT
EoONE LRIAEEHERER FRE
N BRBREHEBERKRENE
REZERIE BXARAB BT EBY
FREZNEEETHEAAR
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 BiZE _E " =F=H=+—HIEFE

DISCONTINUED OPERATION (Continued) 11. BRIEEEER @)

Deconsolidation of the operation of the Mobile Business TEHFHERNEEETRAAR
(Continued) (6]

Bt ABE_Z-_=F=A=+—H
LEEZBNNERIEEEEBRE
HIWMT - REBEREMEE R
KPR FEES] U FHE

The results of the discontinued operation, which have been included
in the profit for the year ended 31 March 2023, are set out below.
The comparative figures in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income have been restated to represent the

Mobile Business as a discontinued operation. B BER IS ER-
2023 2022
== R HF
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5 FAET FHET
Revenue A 4,253 23,410
Cost of sales HE R (4,052) (63,442)
Gross profit/(loss) ER, (8) 201 (40,032)
Impairment losses of B 5 EWRIE
trade receivables BRI (1,040) (44)
Other income Hang A 543 433
Other gains and losses Hhy s K 518 = (145)
Selling and distribution costs HE KD HES (6) (28)
Administrative expenses THER (619) (3,266)
Loss from operations TERE ZEIE (921) (43,082)
Finance costs BRE A A (30) 81)
Loss before taxation FRIAAIES 18 (951) (43,163)
Attributable income tax expenses PEILFR SRS (5) (231)
(956) (43,394)
Gain on deconsolidation of KEHERILEREERDN
subsidiaries from discontinued WBA B TBLE
operation BR AV U R 30 4,726 =
Profit/(loss) for the year from REBRICEER
discontinued operation and K AR B R
attributable to owners of the FEh 2 REFE
Company w=HL (E518) 3,770 (43,394)
Profit/(loss) before taxation attributable ~ B4R LA EFEE(LE
to discontinued operation R EEA) (BB18) 3,775 (43,163)
Attributable income tax expenses FE(LFR MBI (5) (231)
Profit/(loss) for the year from KEBRIEKEER
discontinued operation and & NI 3=
attributable to owners of the B AREE
Company wmA (E518) 3,770 (43,394)
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 &

11.

S

FZA=+—HLFE

DISCONTINUED OPERATION (Continued)

Deconsolidation of the operation of the Mobile Business

(Continued)

Profit/(loss) for the year from
discontinued operation
is arrived at after charging/
(crediting) the following:

Finance costs:
Interest on lease liabilities
(note 23(b))

Total interest expense on financial
liabilities not at fair value through
profit or loss

Staff costs:

Salaries, wages and other benefits

Retirement benefits scheme
contributions (note 29)

Other items:

Revenue recognised that was included
in contract liabilities at the beginning
of the reporting period (note 25)

Interest income on financial assets
measured at amortised cost — Bank
interest income

Cost of inventories sold (note 20)

Depreciation charges (note 17)

— Owned property, plant and
equipment
— Right-of-use assets

Impairment losses of trade receivables
(note 35(a))

Net foreign exchange loss

Income tax:

Current tax
— Hong Kong Profits Tax for the year
— PRC Enterprise Income Tax for the year

Income tax expenses

Cash flows from
discontinued operation:

Net cash (used in)/generated from
operating activities

Net cash (outflow)/inflow from
investing activities

Net cash outflow from
financing activities

Net cash (outflow)/inflow

REBRIEEEER
REEEF, (E58)
TontER A
DUFRIRBER -

BB
HEaEZHE
(MF5E23(b))

W IFRATEES A
BanzE/MaEd
SRSz HR %A

BT :
e IEREMER
BIREF T E

fHEk (Bd5E29)

HmgE :

REEHIIETA
BHEEAN
BERETRWA FTEE25)

RSN AT E S/
BEMNBWA—IRIT
FEWA

BEEFEE/MAE (HiaE20)

eEEA Mis17)
—BEVE -BEX

®iE

—EREEE

B ENEIBRERE
(MFEE35(a))

PE R ESIE 548

PRSI

BIERtR IR
—REEEBFER

—AFEPETEMER

PRSI SZ

RE B ILEEETR
REME
KEES FRA) Fr1S
WP
REZHRE
Om) I RAFEE
REEHRE
M FER

RE CRH) TRAZE
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B4R IS (@)
TEHHFREBNEEETHREAR
(€5)
2023 2022
—EC=F B2
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FHET
30 81
30 81
352 1,934
46 121
398 2,055
(1,271) (636)
1) 6)
4,052 63,442
- 35
248 515
1,040 44
32 145
- 224
5 7
5 231
(654) 1,220
(186) 5
(287) (590)
(1,127) 635
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DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

ARE M B HRARMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 BiZE _E " =F=H=+—HIEFE

Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to section 383(1) of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies
(Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation are

as follows:

Year ended 31 March 2023

Executive Directors:
Chen Xu
Wu Feizi (appointed on
18 October 2022)
Xiong Jianrui (resigned on
1 October 2022)
Yi Peijian
(resigned on
1 October 2022)
Chen Zeyu (resigned on
18 October 2022)

Independent
non-executive
Directors:

Li Chak Hung

Choi Kin Man

Zhao Lei (appointed
on 1 March 2023)

Ngai Wah Sang (resigned
on 1 March 2023)

BITES:

iR B

RIFFRZBZ
+B+N\BEZD

BRI (W&
+A—H#HD

IR

(R=Z==

+A—BED)
HEF (R_B-_F
+B+/\BEE

L
JEHTT
=
=20E
R
HE(R-B_=F
—A—HBEZM
BEL (N B_=F
=A—B&MD

12, EENS
RIEEBABTEGE383MNERAT

REBEEFFDZER) ROIB2MIRE
RESIEWT :

BE_Z_=ZH#=HA=+—HLEE

Salaries, Retirement
allowance benefits
and benefit scheme
Fee in kind Bonuses contributions Total
e R BRAKER
e KEWAGE e HE R Mzt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FET FHET FHET FERT FAT
- 1,560 - - 1,560
- 406 - - 406
- 600 - 11 611
- 600 - 11 611
- 659 - - 659
180 - - - 180
180 - - - 180
15 - - - 15
165 - - - 165
540 3,825 - 22 4,387
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 BiE _ZE " =F=F=+—HIEEE

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

Year ended 31 March 2022

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

EEME @

BE_Z__F-"A=+—HLEFE

Salaries, Retirement
allowance benefits
and benefit scheme
Fee in kind Bonuses  contributions Total
i R RRER
wE  KEWHG 4T EEIRE st
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FERT FHET FET FHET
Executive Directors: HITESE
Chen Xu (appointed on BRE (R —%
8 December 2021) +ZAN\BEZD - 568 - - 568
Xiong Jianrui (Former AR R I
Chairman) (CIEY:) - 1,200 100 18 1,318
Yi Peijian (Former Chief S 158l
Executive Officer) (BT 1TB 48 %) - 1,200 100 18 1,318
Chen Zeyu [Cpees - 1,200 100 - 1,300
Independent BIIEHITES :
non-executive
Directors:
Li Chak Hung FEE 180 - - - 180
Choi Kin Man ZRER 180 - - - 180
Ngai Wah Sang MEL 180 - - - 180
540 4,168 300 36 5,044

Before resignation on 1 October 2022, Mr. Yi Peijian is the executive

Director and the chief executive officer of the Company (the “Chief
Executive Officer”) and is responsible for the Company’s day to day
management and the overall activities.

After the resignation of Mr. Yi Peijian on 1 October 2022, Mr. Chen
Xu and Ms. Wu Feizi are the executive Directors responsible for the
Company’s day to day management and the overall activities.

During the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022, no emolument
was paid by the Group to the Directors or the former Chief Executive
Officer as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office.

There was no arrangement under which the Directors or the
former Chief Executive Officer have waived or agreed to waive any
emoluments during the two years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022.
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ARE M B HRARMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 BiZE _E " =F=H=+—HIEFE

13.

INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, two (2022:
three) are Directors whose emoluments are disclosed in note 12.
The aggregate of the emoluments of the remaining three (2022: two)
individuals were as follows:

2023 2022
=& =BT
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAET
Salaries and other emoluments HEeREMMNE 2,668 1,490
Retirement benefits scheme contributions BRIREANET B HR 130 18
2,798 1,508
The emoluments of the three (2022: two) individuals (who are not Z=—% (CEZFE W% Reie

Directors) with the highest emoluments are within the following band:

13.

Ry
(zZ==

—_

TEMTEE 1274 3

EemMEZ @R AL

SMEENALTED W
ZR)RES HIE
BFr=%(CE_C
F 1w BEHALZMSEBENT :

BAIAL AIFESR ZBMENFUT

#HE

2023 2022

—T—= TECCF

Number of Number of

individuals individuals

N ¢ A#

Nil to HK$1,000,000 2 1,000,000 7T 2 2

HK$1,500,001 to 1,500,001 8T E

HK$2,000,000 2,000,000 7T 1 -

During the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022, no emolument RBEE_Z_=FKR_Z-"F=8

was paid by the Group to the five highest paid individuals as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for
loss of office. There was no arrangement under which the five highest
paid individuals have waived or agreed to waive any emoluments
during the two years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022.

=+— EIJJ:EE AEBTEALR
== Bl 2 B 5 A 2 B fEAR e
BREMASER HIEDMAFE
EE B ERAE KR ECT
TEERZEITF=ZA=+—HL
WEFE > s s @5 A L3
B UEAARBEXEEREEMA
M= 22 Bk
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 #ZE_Z—=

14. (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE

(a) Basic (loss)/earnings per share

Continuing operations

FZA=+—HLFE

14.

The calculation of basic (loss)/earnings per share from
continuing operations is based on the loss for the year

attributable to owners of the C

ompany from continuing

operations of approximately HK$2,455,000 (2022: profit of
approximately HK$11,750,000) and the weighted average
number of approximately 345,453,000 (2022: 314,360,000)
ordinary shares in issue during the year, calculated as follows:

Weighted average number

of ordinary shares:
Issued ordinary shares at 1 April
Effect of shares issued upon placing

Weighted average number of
ordinary shares

Basic (loss)/earnings per share
(HK cents per share)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Bk (&E8 B
@ BREXGEER &

RERECEER 2 ERER
(E518) /BT IREBEAALE R
RELKREFELSEER A
FE 842,455,000 T (2
— & % A4911,750,0005 7T)
RRAEEERTEZERNM
T 849345,453,0000% (Z =
— T4 :314,360,00008) 5t &

FEAT
2023 2022
—E2-= BT F
’000 '000
TR T
(Restated)
(K&E7)
BRI
ROE—BHBEETEER 314,360 314,360
REEZITRNNFEE 31,093 =
ZE AN RE
EHHE 345,453 314,360
BRER (BB &BF
(B 0.7) 3.7
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 BiZE _E " =F=H=+—HIEFE

14. (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE (Continued) 14. S (&8 &8 @
(a) Basic (loss)/earnings per share (Continued) @ SREXES BB

Discontinued operation BRIFSE 2%

The calculation of basic earnings/(loss) per share from REEREKEEHE 2 SRE
discontinued operation is based on the profit for the year KEBF S (BR) HIREAA
attributable to owners of the Company from discontinued BIREREMKREEARIEREE
operation of approximately HK$3,770,000 (2022: loss of B2 REEREF 3,770,000
approximately HK$43,394,000) and the weighted average BT (ZTEZZF  B1EY
number of approximately 345,453,000 (2022: 314,360,000) 43,394,000 7T) RREECZ
ordinary shares in issue during the year ended 31 March 2023. E_-—F-HA=+—HLEEE

ERTZERNMEFEHSHY
345,453,000 (ZE - "% :
314,360,0000%) =t & o

2023 2022
’000 ‘000
T T
(Restated)
(feE5)
Weighted average number of ZiEmnnrE
ordinary shares T 345,453 314,360
Basic earnings/(loss) per share BREART (B18)
(HK cents per share) (AW 1.1 (13.8)
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AR e M B HRAR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 BiE _ZE " =F=F=+—HIEEE

14. (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE (Continued) 14. =i (B8 &8 @
(a) Basic (loss)/earnings per share (Continued) @ SREXES BN G
Continuing and discontinued operations FFBRE RIS ER
The calculation of basic earnings/(loss) per share is based on SREXRBH (BB HIRE
the profit for the year attributable to owners of the Company A BB R L A FEm A A
of approximately HK$1,315,000 (2022: loss of approximately 1,315,0008c (ZEZ"F | k5
HK$31,644,000) and the weighted average number of 184931,644,0008 T) RINEZE
approximately 345,453,000 (2022: 314,360,000) ordinary —E=F=ZB=1+—HL%#F
shares in issue during the year ended 31 March 2023. EEETZERNMEFEEH

#9345,453,0008% (& - —
314,360,00088) 5T & o

2023 2022
—EZ= -
’000 ‘000
TR T
Weighted average number of B ke
ordinary shares T 345,453 314,360
Basic earnings/(loss) per share EREARHN (B8)
(HK cents per share) (B 0.4 (10.1)
(b) Diluted loss per share ) SREEEE
There were no dilutive potential ordinary shares in issue during RBEE_ZS_=FK_F__
the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022. The diluted loss F=A=1+—HUIEFE mEE
per share is the same as the basic loss per share for the years B Z2BETHEEER -BE
ended 31 March 2023 and 2022. CEC=EFERIEI_F=A1
=Et+—HLEFEZEREEE
BHESREAEIEBMER -
15. DIVIDEND 15. KRR
The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for EEETEBRKVEE_S =F=
the year ended 31 March 2023 (2022: Nil). B=1t—HIEFENXRHERE T

ZF ) o
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 BiZE _E " =F=H=+—HIEFE

INVESTMENT PROPERTY 16. REYE
Fair value
NFEE
HK$’'000
FAET
At 1 April 2021 R-E-—FmA—0 45,208
Net fair value gain recognised in profit or loss (note 8) RERER 2 A FEEREFEE
(M$5E8) 1,402
Exchange adjustments (E R (3,137)
At 31 March 2022 and RIEZZE=F=+—Hk
1 April 2022 TET"FWBE—H 43,473
Net fair value gain recognised in profit or loss (note 8) REBERER 2 A FEERRFEE
(M$5E8) 1,343
Exchange adjustments (E R AT (2,722)
At 31 March 2023 RIZ2_=F=A=+—H 42,094

Fair value adjustment of investment property amounting to gain of
HK$1,343,000 (2022: HK$1,402,000) is recognised in the profit or
loss and is included in “other gains and losses” as “valuation gain/
(loss) on investment property”(see note 8).

The Group leases out an investment property under operating leases.
The leases typically run for an initial period of three years (2022:
three years), with an option held by lessees only to extend the leases
beyond initial periods and all terms are renegotiated. None of the
leases includes variable lease payments.

The Group is not exposed to foreign currency risk as a result of the
lease arrangements, as all leases are denominated in the respective
functional currencies of group entities. The lease contracts do not
contain residual value guarantee and/or lessees’ options to purchase
the properties at the end of lease terms.

Fair value measurement of investment property
(i) Fair value hierarchy

The following table presents the fair value of the Group’s
investment property measured at the end of the reporting
period on a recurring basis, categorised into the three-level fair
value hierarchy as defined in IFRS 13 “Fair Value Measurement”
(“IFRS 13”). The level into which a fair value measurement is
classified is determined with reference to the observability and
significance of the inputs used in the valuation technique as
follows:

= Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured using only Level
1 inputs i.e. unadjusted quoted prices in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities at the measurement date

REVENAFEBERERBIK
#1,343,0008 T (ZE - _F :
1,402,000 7T) > NI ER > W IES
MEEMEGERTZ, (BB JIstA
TEthuW s K Es1E) (RKIEE8) o

FEERBEEHELAREYE -
HENVEFERBER=F (T2
TTF =) AR ARYBFER
BPEEEEALN BRFABHKRRY
ENEF - RSHENBECETEM
BEffme

MR EENERBREERNES
BetE AitAEETERNEE 25
MmAEIINERE - HESHTEEH
BEBERE/ IEBARBEHRE
AR EER -

REMENATEENE
0 A FEEER

TREINAFAEBREYENR
THREEENREESBL D
BRZESHRATEERR (E
& R BP0 S 2R F 1358
A PEEE (BEREHR
SB35 WA TEE -2
FTEEFENEZERTIZE
HERMARARAREZY
HEREELREBMMEENT !

- F—HRMEHE:QATEEE
KBS — B A S
E AN EHMEREE
HEEEBRHHZRE
HERE
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16. INVESTMENT PROPERTY (Continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2023 BiE _ZE " =F=F=+—HIEEE

Fair value measurement of investment property (Continued)

(i) Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

- Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured using Level 2

inputs i.e. observable inputs which fail to meet Level
1, and not using significant unobservable inputs.
Unobservable inputs are inputs for which market data are

not available

- Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured using significant
unobservable inputs

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RENME (B

REMENQATEESE @

@

R FIEEER )

FMRMEE: A TFEER
RS _HRBARENE
IR EHE R ATERE
WA AR ERRE
ERABEERARE T
AERBABBSELE
BHBHEZBABE

BoMEE  ATEER
REENTRREA SR

stE

Fair value measurements as at
31 March 2023 categorised into
RZIEZ=F=RA=+—HZ

ATEEHEDE
Fair value
at
31 March
2023 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
RZEZ=
=H=+—H
ZATERE £ FETMHR B4R
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FHET FHET FHET
Recurring fair value REMATEETE
measurement
Investment property IR EMNZ
located in Australia KREYE 42,094 - 42,094 -
Fair value measurements as at
31 March 2022 categorised into
RIE-_H#=B=+—HZ
AT EBENENE
Fair value
at
31 March
2022 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
e
=A=+-8
ZRAFEEE B B B4R
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FHET FHET
Recurring fair value REMATEETE
measurement
Investment property L EMNZ
located in Australia KEYE 43,473 - 43,473 =
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 &

16. INVESTMENT PROPERTY (Continued)

Fair value measurement of investment property (Continued)

@

(i)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

During the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022, there were
no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2, or transfers into
or out of Level 3. The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers
between levels of fair value hierarchy as at the end of the
reporting period in which they occur.

The Group’s investment property was revalued as at 31 March
2028. The valuation was carried out by an independent firm
of valuers in Hong Kong, Norton Appraisals Holdings Limited,
who have among their staff member of Hong Kong Institute of
Surveyors with recent experience in the location and category of
property being valued.

The valuation of the Group’s investment property as at 31
March 2022 was carried out by an independent firm of valuers
in Australia, Hymans Property Pty Ltd., who had among their
staff Certified Practising Valuers of The Australian Property
Institute with recent experience in the location and category of
property being valued.

In estimating the fair value of the properties, the highest and
best use of the properties is their current use.

Valuation techniques and inputs used in Level 2 fair value
measurements

The fair value of investment property located in Australia is
determined using market comparison approach by reference
to recent sales prices of comparable properties on a price
per square meter basis using market data which are publicly
available.

The Group’s chief financial officer has discussion with the
valuers on the valuation assumptions and valuation results when
the valuation is performed at each interim and annual reporting
date.

ARE M B HRARMEE

ECEZF-RA=+—HIEFEE

16. REME (@

REMENATEESE @

U

(i)

RFEEBR )

RNEE_E_=6K_ZT__
F=A=+—HIEE LESE
—REREZREEE REE
—REBATE L o AER ZBR
ARATBEBHRSZERE 2
EEELX T REHRERERH
gt o

RZZE_=F#=A=+—H0-'%K
EEZKREMEEHEEGH - HE
ThHE BB LA EEMITNorton
Appraisals Holdings Limited (&
ETEHESBIEMEZEE8
B B EZYEFRELE
KB AR &
B #iTe

RWZZZZHE=H=+—H"
REBZEREVENGED
FH BN %8 3 i B B THymans
Property Pty Ltd. (HET E#
BNmESexMEEmzE
o HWEEZMEMENER
FriBfanl AR MM ELR) &
1Te

PESH RN A TEER Y%
NEehkeERESHEBAAR
ﬁ()

BRRAFIEE BB E
R R BA B

URENNREYENRATE
B ERATRBIEEAEE  HE
2ETHRILEBYEFNATER
REBEREG T REREES
BHLHIEE-

AERERMBEEMNEH
HRERFHRBBPETHER
FIRBzEERRREEER
B{LEMMETEM -
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 BiE _ZE " =F=F=+—HIEEE

17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 17. ME- -BEKRSEE
Properties Furniture
leased for and Electronic
own use fixtures  equipment Total
HERN RER
HEY= BEHEE BrHE 45t

HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’'000
THET THEIT THET THET

Cost %N
At 1 April 2021 N_Z2_—FMBE—H 3,279 391 341 4,011
Additions wE 1,480 44 - 1,524
Exchange adjustments PE A% 229 13 14 256
At 31 March 2022 N _E - _F#=H=+—H

and 1 April 2022 EZE__FF—H 4,988 448 355 5,791
Write-off b 6! = 91) S ©1)
Deconsolidation of subsidiaries ~ Hf B A B~ B4z & AR

(note 30) (M4 £30) (1,991) 273) (317) (2,581)
Exchange adjustments B 2o EE (238) (36) (38) (312)
At 31 March 2023 RN_E_=ZF=H=+—H 2,759 48 - 2,807

Accumulated depreciation Rt &

At 1 April 2021 M_E - —FMB—H 1,197 313 302 1,812
Charge for the year REEZH 1,276 46 17 1,339
Exchange adjustments BE A EE 168 11 12 191
At 31 March 2022 RZEZ-#=H=+—H

and 1 April 2022 —E_ WA —H 2,641 370 331 3,342
Charge for the year REELZH 988 23 = 1,011
Deconsolidation of subsidiaries ~ H{ B A B~ Bi& AR

(note 30) (M4 5£30) (1,093) (246) (295) (1,634)
Write-off b6 - 91) - (91)
Exchange adjustments E R (116) (29) (36) (181)
At 31 March 2023 NZEZ_=F=H=+—H 2,420 27 - 2,447
Carrying amounts EREE
At 31 March 2023 RZEZ=%=H=+4+—H 339 21 - 360
At 31 March 2022 RN_E__F=H=+—H 2,347 78 24 2,449
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ARE M B HRARMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 BiZE _E " =F=H=+—HIEFE

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)
Right-of-use assets

The analysis of the net book value of right-of-use assets by class of
underlying asset is as follows:

HERANEEY*
DUpR AT EE 51 BR

Properties leased for own use,
carried at cost less depreciation

The analysis of expense items in relation to leases recognised in profit
or loss is as follows:

Continuing and discontinued operations FEREERK
%ﬂ:ﬁ«( — %}&
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets HEMEEENZ SN
by class of underlying asset: TREBEZITEER !
Properties leased for own use HERNHEEY X
Interest on lease liabilities HEaEZFE
(notes 9(a) and 11) (MF3T9(0) K2 11)

Expense relating to short-term leases

The Group has obtained the right to use certain properties as its office
through tenancy agreements. The leases typically run for an initial
period of 2 to 5 years. None of the leases includes variable lease
payment.

The Group also entered into short-term leases for office and
warehouse. As at 31 March 2023 and 2022, the portfolio of short-
term leases is similar to the portfolio of short-term leases to which the
short-term lease expense disclosed above.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, additions to right-of-use
assets were Nil (2022: HK$1,480,000), which is related to the
capitalised lease payments payable under new tenancy agreements.

Details of total cash outflow for leases and the maturity analysis of
lease liabilities are set out in notes 23(c) and 26, respectively.

HISHIEE AR

17.

¥ BB Ktk (8
EREEE

RIAMBERFB DN EREBEER
EREDRWMT

2023 2022
TET=HF B CHF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET FET

339 2,347

REDZTEINEEEEZHXES
DI -

2023 2022
—E-=F B

HK$’000 HK$’'000

FET FET

988 1,276

51 104

157 324
AEBCOEAHERZIEENES
?#@%ﬁﬁfﬂhﬂr””ﬁo%ﬁ N BEE
HEEAMELFE - ZEHEMES

EEIEEE R

FERTUPRE R BB EHAE

BRI E —E&_g::iﬁ_ﬁ
=t+—RB EEEASHE EXFE
MiEHHEE F';ﬁSEE’JLH}ﬁH &7
Lo

RBEE_ZE-_=F=B=+—HI*=E
B FRREEEENS (CE_F:

1,480,000 7T) > AREM B E R ERE

BRI ETRER

BRAEEMNRREREUKEEEE
e 7fﬁzu¥| 73 RIS M EE23(0)
F226°
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 BiE _ZE " =F=F=+—HIEEE

18.

GOODWILL

Cost A

At beginning and end of the year REEVRFEER
Accumulated impairment losses REHRERE

At beginning and end of the year REEVREFEER
Carrying amounts IRMEE

At 31 March W=B=+—H

Impairment test for cash-generating units containing goodwill

The carrying amount of goodwill has been allocated to a cash-
generating units as follows:

AR ME

Milk Products Business

The recoverable amount of the Milk Products Business cash-
generating unit is determined based on value-in-use calculation which
requires the use of assumptions. The calculation uses cash flow
projections based on financial budgets approved by management
covering a five-year period.

Cash flows beyond the five-year period are extrapolated according to
a constant 0% (2022: 0%) growth assumption for terminal value. This
growth rate is consistent with forecasts included in industry reports
specific to the industry in which the cash-generating unit operates.

ALPHA PROFESSIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED e Annual Report 2023

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

18. BHE
2023 2022
—E=F . ——
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
2,161 2,161
2,161 2,161

REEL S (GERE) ZRENR

BHENREEESREUATREEL
B

2023 2022
—E_= TETF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
2,161 2,161

MEEMEFHEEEEBANA WD
THRNDENEREEAEEE BT
REERARR -ARMABEERRER
BRA ARMBEADERNEEE#H &
HEELFHBNYHBREFEL -

AFEHEBZRERENRERKE
BR0% (ZE__F:0%) BEEE
ERUEF - ZIBRXETERSH
HERBSEFENEEFRETERA
MFEAI—5 o
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19.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMBRERMEE

GOODWILL (Continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2023 &

Impairment tests for cash-generating units containing goodwill

(Continued)

The following table sets out the key assumptions for the cash-

generating unit:

— Budgeted gross margin
— Growth rate
— Pre-tax discount rate

INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURE

Cost of unlisted investment
in joint venture

Share of post-acquisition profits and other
comprehensive income

—BHEHE
—E R

— R ATBE IR

REEhEZREHRE

Z A
ERETEE Rkl
Hit2mlm

Details of the Group’s interests in joint venture, which are accounted
for using the equity method in the consolidated financial statements,

are as follows:

Form of Place of
Name of business incorporation
joint venture structure and operation
RELELHE EBRERL ERALRE RS
Bubs Supreme Incorporated Australia
Partner Pty Ltd ~ sEfBIL bl

18. BHE @

EE=

REELEN (BFEHE) ZRE

(&)

TEREINREEEEMUNEBRRRK :

FZRA=+—HLFE

2023 2022

B =F ———
% %
7% 10%-12%
1%-6% 5%-49%
19% 20%

19. MEZBEENELR
2023 2022
—B_= TEC
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
AEBMPREECENRETR REREN

REMBRRAR ZFBUOT

Proportion of ownership interest and voting rights

BERRERRFENLA

Particulars of The Group’s
issued and effective Held by Held by
paid up capital interest  the Company a subsidiary

FEE
BETRARRAHE BRER FARRE  MBAARA
AUD100 49% - 49%
10027T

The shares of Bubs Supreme Partner Pty Ltd are unlisted whose

quoted market prices are not available.

Bubs Supreme Partner Pty Ltdf9 &1

Principal activity

TEEH

Advertising, marketing and distrioution

of infant nutrition products

WAk EH B ESRDE

MEEERIERARAT o

2 =FFR

7AN
7]
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 BiE _ZE " =F=F=+—HIEEE

19.

20.

INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURE (Continued)

Bubs Supreme Partner Pty Ltd was established by the Group with
Bubs Australia, a major infant products manufacturer in the Australia.
Bubs Supreme Partner Pty Ltd entered into a trademark licence deed
with Bubs IP Pty Ltd, a subsidiary of Bubs Australia, and was granted
by Bubs IP Pty Ltd an exclusive, royalty-free and sub-licensable
licence to use the trademarks with the name “Bubs Supreme” (the
“Bubs Trademarks”) in the PRC, Hong Kong, Macau and Taiwan
for the purpose of advertising, marketing and distributing the infant
nutrition products manufactured and supplied by Bubs Australia or its
affiliates.

Bubs Supreme Partner Pty Ltd has not commenced any operation
and there is no summarised financial information to be disclosed.

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT
OR LOSS

Listed equity securities in Australia FOBRN EZ BRAE S
not held-for-trading (LIEFIEFEH)
The carrying amount of the financial assets 2HARIERBEE

at fair value through profit or
loss presented as non-current assets

TREEZIRAE

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group achieved the
purchase target for orders placed with Bubs Australia, a company
listed on the Australian Securities Exchange (ASX stock code: BUB),
or its subsidiaries for the period from 1 July 2021 to 30 June 2022,
and accordingly the Group subscribed 9,541,620 Bubs Shares at nil
consideration pursuant to the share subscription agreement entered
into between Willis Trading and Bubs Australia on 3 March 2022 and
the amendment deed entered into on 5 July 2022. The initial amount
recognised for the Group’s investment in Bubs Shares amounted to
HK$25,354,000, which is determined by quoted bid prices of the
Bubs Shares in the market at the date of subscription.

The Group intended to hold the investment in Bubs Shares for long-
term strategic purpose instead of held-for-trading.
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REEhxEE (@

Bubs Supreme Partner Pty LtdfHZ~5
EERNETEZRSERMEHBuUbs
Australiat [ 5 37 ° Bubs Supreme
Partner Pty LtdEE2Bubs Australiafd
MfEB A BBubs IP Pty Ltds] i EiZsF
A 2245 5 WEBubs IP Pty LtdiZ#E R
FRE BB R KRS EERMNBubs
Supreme 112 (TBubsE12]) RIS -
REFEE R TEETF UEAR
B EiH KD iHEBubs Australiadl
HB AN ERERENERES
S

Bubs Supreme Partner Pty Ltdi& > B8
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMBRERMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 BiZE _E " =F=H=+—HIEFE

INVENTORIES 21, =FE
2023 2022
BT - —
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Milk powder and baby foods M ERERE R
— Merchandise — 75 A 3,932 4,811
3,932 4,811
The analysis of the amount of inventories recognised as an expense ERABIZIUABENTESED
and included in profit or loss is as follows: W
2023 2022
—EZ= - ——
HK$’000 HK$’000
FAET FAET
Continuing operations FEREER
Carrying amount of inventories sold BEFEREE 320,111 403,675
Discontinued operation B IERE
Carrying amount of inventories sold EELFERAEE 4,052 63,442
324,163 467,117
All of the inventories are expected to be recovered within one year. FREEEREBERIN—FRE -
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 BiE _ZE " =F=F=+—HIEEE

22. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 22, B REMEWEIE
2023 2022
TET=HF - —
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Trade receivables, net of B REIRIE  I0FRES 18
loss allowance (note (i) BE (MEE) 162,079 51,823
Other receivables, net of HhEW RIS > MBRE 18
loss allowance BE 2,466 687
Rental deposits (note (ii)) HE%LE () 206 320
Financial assets measured at amortised cost ~ IZ# IS At E 2B E 164,751 52,830
Prepayments to suppliers EEERE (EH R TB TRIE 25,995 51,400
Other prepaid expenses Hhfad sz 3,879 124
Other deposits Hihigs 64 4
Other tax recoverable HthmT g El17R 18 38 39
194,727 104,397
Representing: Hrph:
Current TR 194,727 104,077
Non-current JETRED - 320
194,727 104,397
At 1 April 2021, trade receivables from contracts with customers A ZZ-—FNBE—H XkBERA
amounted to HK$22,364,000. N2 B 5 EWEIE A22,364,00078 7T ©
Except for the rental deposit of Nil (2022: HK$320,000) which is MRIEHER—FEURBKEIZEERSE
expected to be recovered after more than one year, all of the trade T (T 4 1 320,00087T) 4h 0 FR
and other receivables are expected to be recovered or recognised as BE S REMEWREIETERER —F
expense within one year. P U (15X 18 B 58 7 B S o
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 BiZE _E " =F=H=+—HIEFE

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

Notes:
(i) Aging analysis

As of the end of the reporting period, the aging analysis of trade receivables
based on the invoice date and net of loss allowance, is as follows:

0 to 30 days 0ZE30H

31 to 60 days 31E60H
61 to 90 days 61FE90H
91 to 180 days 91%F180H
181 to 365 days 181E365H

Trade receivables are due within 90 to 180 days (2022: 0 to 90 days) from the
date of billing. Further details on the Group’s credit policy and credit risk arising
from trade receivables are set out in note 35(a).

At 31 March 2023, included in the Group’s trade receivables balance
are debtors with aggregate carrying amount of HK$46,297,000 (2022:
HK$11,039,000) which are past due at the reporting date. Out of the past due
balances, HK$24,396,000 (2022: Nil) has been past due 90 days or more and
is not considered as in default as the balances are repaid in full after the end of
the reporting period.

(ii) Rental deposits are typically paid for leased properties, which are refundable
after the expiry of the leases.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND OTHER CASH FLOW
INFORMATION

a) Cash and cash equivalents comprise:

Cash at banks and on hands IRITIRESRFEERS

Cash and cash equivalents stated in the &7 iz & B #5AK
consolidated statement of financial MERGERERE
position and consolidated statement KAZHREKRRESE
of cash flows B9

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily
bank deposit rates.

2. B REMEWEIE @
BdsE -
@i) BRSO #F

BERSHR BEZZAHANESRE
WRRIE GO R R BERE: D AT

T
2023 2022
—E=F =2

HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET
36,996 36,254
7,597 1,329
3,253 9,540
67,936 4,700
46,297 -
162,079 51,823

B 5 FE R IE B AC iR B HARESTO0E 180
H(CZZZF 0FE90H) NEIH A%
BEERRKEZBBREELENE
BERRAE— D BRI EES5() o

RIZZ=F=A=+—H &&
ENESEERIELGROERTE
E#446,297,0008 7T (ZE " 4F .
11,0389,000% 7t) MR B RPN
HEDHEAB NEABREHRT
24,396,000 7T (CE-__F : ) B&
HAQOR S F BARWRAEL  REZ
BRGERPREHAREERHEE

(ii) HEREBEDHREEYMESM AR
HERBHEFLURE-

23. BERRTFEYRHMRTRE

a) RELFASFEWEE:

2023 2022
TET=HF B HF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET FET
13,686 20,901
13,686 20,901

RTIREBENRESHIRITER
GIES:ESIEIES S 3EII S
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23. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND OTHER CASH FLOW 23, WERREEBYREMRERE

INFORMATION (Continued) Bk @
b)  Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities b) REIBELENEEHER
Other Lease
borrowing liabilities Total
HiEE HESE @zt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT TER FER
(note 27) (note 26)
(HizE27) (Fiz26)
At 1 April 2021 R_Z_—#MA—H - 2,270 2,270
Changes from financing cash flows ~ BERERELE = (1,390) (1,390)
New lease entered MEIUME - 1,480 1,480
Interest expenses (notes 9(a) and 11)  FEFIXZ (M5E9(@)K11) - 104 104
Exchange adjustments BERRE - 69 69
At 31 March 2022 R_E_"EZR=+—HkK
and 1 April 2022 - "FA—H - 2,533 2,533
Changes from financing cash flows ~ BEREHELE 43,880 (1,049) 42,831
Interest expenses (notes 9(a) and 11)  FI B (@)K 11) 4,644 51 4,695
Exchange adjustments ERAY (980) (140) (1,120)
Deconsolidation of subsidiaries HBABDARBELRAEAR
(note 30) (HF3£30) - (1,048) (1,048)
At 31 March 2023 RZEZ_=#=A=+—H 47,544 347 47,891
c)  Total cash outflow for leases o EREAENERESRH

Amounts included in the consolidated statement of cash flows

MEESFAGARERERZ

for leases comprise the following: MEBENTEIE !

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FAET
Within operating cash flows EREREREN 157 324
Within financing cash flows EREREREN 1,049 1,390
1,206 1,714

All the above amounts relate to the lease rentals paid. tIXFrEMEAENHEERS

B
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 BiZE _E " =F=H=+—HIEFE

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 24. B REMENTIE

2023 2022
B =F =B

HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FET
Trade payables (note (i) B 5 EARIE (sE)) 29,742 32,405
Other payables Hh I8 12,316 1,422
Accruals FESTE 2,168 2,192
Salary payable 3N 236 4,602
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost XS At 28 S/EE 44,462 40,621
Deposit received B izE 7,733 421
Other tax payable HhELRIE 11,538 11,836
63,733 52,878

All of the trade and other payables are expected to be settled within
one year or are repayable on demand.

FRE B 5 KREMENRIBRARK K —
FRENREREREE-

Note: FdsE -
i) Aging analysis (i) IREC AR
At the end of the reporting period, the aging analysis of trade payables based RHREHFR REZZAHENE S BN
on invoice date is as follows: IEMERES AT T -
2023 2022
ZEI=F 2
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
0 to 30 days 0ZE30H 3,050 31,917
31 to 60 days 31E60H 4,874 =
61 to 90 days 61E90H 1,617 488
91 to 180 days 91E180H 5,749 =
181 to 365 days 181E365H 14,452 -
29,742 32,405
CONTRACT LIABILITIES 25, AWafE
2023 2022
=& =)
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAET FET
Receipt in advance FEUERIE - 3,428
At 1 April 2021, contract liabilities amounted to HK$3,847,000. N TEC—FHNAE—H aHNEaESR

Certain customers are required to pay deposits when they place the
sales order, which resulted in contract liabilities until the Group delivers
the products and the customers obtain control of the products.

MEEERIERARAT o

3,847,000/ 7T ©

ETERARTEHETERXME]
T BN (BEEAERRVERE

=P ES Y E B

& o

) 5498

2 =FFR
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 BiE _ZE " =F=F=+—HIEEE

25. CONTRACT LIABILITIES (Continued) 25 AHNEaE®E
There was no revenue recognised in the current year that related to AEEHMERSEBTFEERNE
performance obligations that were satisfied in a prior year. HNEEHERBHIIUA -
Movements in contract liabilities: HBREEEE
2023 2022
—EC=F TECTF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FExT
Balance at beginning of the year REEY 2 &85 3,428 3,847
Decrease in contract liabilities as a result of AR EFEERED
recognising revenue during the year that RS A
was included in the contract liabilities at the EHEBEANBA
beginning of the reporting period BEYEHNEERD
(notes 6 & 11) (M 5E6H/211) (3,209) (3,847)
Refunded upon termination of contracts F#& SRR (219) =
Increase in contract liabilities as a result FFEWENRIBEEE
of billing in advance of performance =R =RER - 3,428
Balance at end of the year REERZERR - 3,428
The contract liabilities are expected to be recognised as income within BHNEaETERBEN —FREIAW
one year. Ao
26. LEASE LIABILITIES 26. HE&RE
At 31 March 2023, the lease liabilities were repayable as follows: R_E_=F=B=+—H HES
BEEBHARNT
2023 2022
TEC=F BT F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHExT
Within 1 year —FR 347 1,350
After 1 year but within 2 years —FBREMFR - 943
After 2 years but within 5 years MEBBEEA - 240
- 1,183
Balance at end of the year REERZ & 347 2,533
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 BiZE _E " =F=H=+—HIEFE

LEASE LIABILITIES (Continued)

The incremental borrowing rates applied to lease liabilities range
from 3 % to 5 % (2022: from 3 % to 5 %). Lease obligations that are
denominated in currencies other than the functional currencies of the
relevant group entities are set out below:

At 31 March 2023
At 31 March 2022

OTHER BORROWING

Repayable within one year and contains

repayment on demand clause HERBEEFRR

The other borrowing of AUD9,036,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$47,544,000) at variable interest advanced from an independent
third party is repayable on 15 June 2023. The loan bears interest at
higher of 12% per annum or variable interest rates of aggregate of
6.75% per annum and prime rate.

The other borrowing was guaranteed by the Company and was
secured by a debenture created by the Company a first fixed and
floating charge over its undertaking, property and assets as security
for the due payment of all monies payable under the loan facility (the
“Loan Facility”).

On 23 June 2023, the Group as the borrower entered into a
supplemental loan agreement with a third-party lender to extend the
Loan Facility of the other borrowing of AUD9,036,000 for one year
from the original maturity date of 15 June 2023 to 14 June 2024.

AR—FEREERES

26.

R_E_=F=B=+—H
N _E__F=H=+—H

27.

HEaRE @

BRARHEABENEERENENT
3%EE% (ZEZTE I 3%ES%) oL
R EE B TIAEE LN E K 5t
ENHEaRHENNNT :

HKD
BT
HK$'000
THET

347

Hihg s
2023 2022
TEC=4F B
HK$'000 HK$’000
FET FET
47,544 =

KEBIUF= HFRRIREHMEFE
7 HihfE59,036,00002 75 (FBE A
47,544,000 70) BN _E _=%F/A
+THBEEZ BEFRFFNFI12%HF
MEL.75% R REBEFE M ZH
MEZBSETE

HEMEEHARBFEFR LUER
BINAE - MERBEEMRIINE—
EE T B ER B RIS
BRI RRE (TRRE L) BN PRA B
FRIBRIHELR ©

RIEZ=ZFEBZ+=H &%£E
EAEBRANRE=ZAERATL—H
B mE B EMEE,036,000
HBITHREERIFA S - =ZFX
B+HEHIER—FE_ZE_NFEH
al=
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 BiE _ZE " =F=F=+—HIEEE

28. DEFERRED TAX

(@

(b)

Deferred tax assets recognised

At 1 April 2021 MR- - —FMHH—H
Credited to profit or loss (note 10(a)) T ABE (EE10(0)

At 31 March 2022 and

1 April 2022 TE-_FPF—H
T ABE (EE10(0)
PE R

Credited to profit or loss (note 10(a))
Exchange adjustments

At 31 March 2023 WZE_=F=H=+—H

Deferred tax assets not recognised

As at 31 March 2023, the Group has estimated unused tax
losses of approximately HK$4,900,000 (2022: HK$89,036,000)
available for offset against future taxable profits of the entities
in which the losses arose. No deferred tax was recognised
in the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
March 2023 (2022: Nil) since it is not probable that future
taxable profits against which the losses can be utilised will be
available in the relevant tax jurisdiction and entity. Expiry dates
of unrecognised tax losses are as follows:

Tax losses of HK$828,000 (2022: HK$659,000) with expiry
dates are disclosed in the following table. Other tax losses of
HK$4,072,000 (2022: HK$88,377,000) may be carried forward
indefinitely.

2027 TECLHE
2028 —EZN\E
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175 ¥ = MY 5E

ik

@

®)

FETRIA

B ZIRIERIRE E

Credit loss
allowance of
trade receivables
B 5 eI
=EREEE
HK$'000

FAET

315

315

1,081
(42)

1,354

RS ZIEIEIRIRE &

W& -_=ZF£=ZHA=+—8"
AEBGBFARBARBEELY
4,900,000 (ZE - & :
89,036,000 T) A Ik EE
B8 BERERIRERIEH o 1Y
TEC=ZF=ZRA=+—H B
HERBE AEEREREHET
AREHIRTBRIRHEBIEZ R
RERIREF] B R TERE BT
Bk RRPHERRLERE (ZF
TIF I E) o XERMNIERIE
HEHBEWT :

MIEE1E828,000E T (Z &
— 4 1659,000%7T) REE
HEHR TRIFE HMRIEE
184,072,000 (ZE "4 :
88,377,000 o) of & R H# 45
$;i;o

2023 2022
== = S—

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET FET

604 659

224 S

828 659
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DEFERRED TAX (Continued)

(c) Deferred tax liabilities not recognised

Under the EIT Law of the PRC, withholding tax is imposed on
dividends declared in respect of profits earned by the PRC
subsidiaries from 1 January 2008 onwards.

Under the Corporate Income Tax Law of Australia, withholding
tax at 30% is imposed on dividends declared in respect of
profits earned by the Australia subsidiaries.

At 31 March 2023, temporary differences relating to the
undistributed profits of subsidiaries amounted to HK$3,023,000
(2022: HK$932,000). Deferred tax liabilities of HK$907,000
(2022: HK$93,000) have not been recognised in respect of the
tax that would be payable on the distribution of these retained
profits as the Company controls the dividend policy of these
subsidiaries and it has been determined that it is probable that
these profits will not be distributed in the foreseeable future.

EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT BENEFITS

Defined contribution retirement plans

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance for employees employed under the jurisdiction of the
Hong Kong Employment Ordinance. The MPF Scheme is a defined
contribution retirement plan administered by independent trustees.
Under the MPF Scheme, the employer and its employees are each
required to make contributions to the plan at 5% of the employees’
relevant income, subject to a cap of monthly relevant income of
HK$30,000. Contributions to the plan vest immediately, and there is
no forfeited contributions that may be used by the Group to reduce
the existing level of contribution.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC are members
of a state-managed retirement benefits scheme operated by the
government of the PRC. The subsidiaries are required to contribute
a specified percentage of payroll costs to the retirement benefits
scheme to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the Group with
respect to the retirement benefits scheme is to make the specified
contributions.

Employers in Australia are obligated to make superannuation
contributions for eligible employees of 10.5% on gross earnings up
to a maximum quarterly superannuation payment of AU$6,323 to
AU$6,850 per quarter.

No forfeited contribution is available to reduce the contribution payable
in the future. The retirement benefits scheme contributions of the
Directors of the Company and staff of the Group for the years ended
31 March 2023 and 2022 are stated in notes 9(b), 11, 12 and 13,
respectively.

28.

29.

IRIEIRIR (48)
© RERZIEERERRE

BRBEPREECEMRERE B-F
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ABIFFBREEEF) RS
REMATRINR °

RBCRMEZRPTISIUE > BUBRMN
My~ B BRE A E R B R R B
B > ZABIAN30%8I TR 101R

W_ZE_=F=A=+—H-#
MBABRD K EHERENYE
B =28 43,023,0008 T (22
— T4 932,000 7T) c RS
NEVEFZEH B AN S
B TR EZERMNTERE
R BAG5R5 K » 8 SR 79 Tk
ZEREHEMNMEBMANIRIE
M SRR IEFR I8 & {5907,00078 7T
(T4 : 93,000 7T) °

BERAKEF
TEFRMERRIRSHE

FEBIRIBE BRI QBT 5T EF
IRREBEBFAECEZREREE
RIuRGIMEATEESE (MABEEE
) RETHBEZHBUZTEAE
B EEMTRARSGE -BRERRES
e EEREERBHEREER
B A Z5% MBI ER R MEA
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MR RFER B > W05 B R W R AT (1
EE B LUREIRE oK F o

FEBZDENBARZEET ST
BEHNEEZ BERREHNEEZ MK
E-mFEMBEARREHMMA 215
EBDLERERKREANGEHAR BE
HEMEH‘RES AEEBAERRIK
BB zEEEAFRIEEZH#

ES
o

BN EEAEBLETBEEMN10.5%
REBERESFLERREHT 8F
ERARENRERS N F6,323RTE
6,85038 7T
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30.

DECONSOLIDATION OF SUBSIDIARIES

For the year ended 31 March 2023

On 16 September 2022, a special resolution of HK Rich, a direct
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company principally engaging in the
Mobile Business, was duly passed by the Company to wind it up by
way of creditors’ voluntary liquidation.

The appointment of joint and several liquidators by HK Rich was
confirmed at a meeting of creditors of HK Rich held on 30 September
2022, upon which the Group lost control over HK Rich and its

subsidiary established in the PRC.

Analysis of assets and liabilities over KEEHIENEER
which control was lost BEDWN

Non-current asset FERBEE

Property, plant and equipment (note 17) M- BE R BEE17)

Current assets TMENEE

Other receivables HAhpEsziia

Tax recoverable A Y El IR I8

Cash and bank balances B MIRTT4 R

Current liabilities mENAaE

Trade and other payables 85 REMELRIE

Tax payable FEITRIB

Lease liability (note 23(b)) HE&E (F5E23(0)

Non-current liability EREBEE

Lease liability (note 23(b))

Net liabilities

Gain on deconsolidation of subsidiaries

HE&R (f5E23(0)

BRFHE

REERIEESEXZBENHE AR

from discontinued operation TBiZE AR E
Net liabilities BEF%8

Cumulative exchange loss reclassified
from equity to profit or loss upon
deconsolidation of subsidiaries

Gain on deconsolidation of subsidiaries
from discontinued operation

B AR BiRE AR
BiEmEM O REREM
REtERERE

REBRIEEEEZNEAE

FHES ARG

The “gain on deconsolidation of subsidiaries from discontinued
operation” is included in “profit for the year from discontinued

operation”.

Net cash outflow on deconsolidation of
subsidiaries

MBARFBESARN
REMHFE
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B AT ARBiEE AR
BE_Z_=F=-RB=+—HIFE

g ——y = iy N = R
(FRBENEEEENBAR  £2
REFHER) N RBERELAT
ER@EE LUERABHBEENAR

REBEMER-

ERENEBAGER_S__FN
BA=+H&ET RELEIEBER
ZEHFRERBEA BIEFEER
KEHNBBEN KA RE ALK
BAB ZEFIH-

HK$’000
FET

947

692
313
187

(5,859)
(97)
(559)

(489)

(4,865)

HK$’000
THT

(4,865)
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31.

COMPANY-LEVEL STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

3. REEEZHBERRR

2023 2022
TET=F - —
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5 FET FET
Non-current assets EREEE
Investments in subsidiaries RRBABZ®RE 10 10
Amount due from a subsidiary L EVNGIE N 91,840 46,840
91,850 46,850
Current assets RENEE
Other receivable H U RIE 8 33
Amounts due from subsidiaries NN 66,981 63,976
Cash and bank balances HERIRITARR 7 835
67,060 64,844
Current liabilities BEIR=NT
Accruals and EstEA K
other payables Hh (=18 12,753 13,133
Net current assets RENEERRE 54,307 51,711
NET ASSETS BEEFHE 146,157 98,561
Capital and reserves BARKGHE
Share capital i3 32(b) 435,252 391,672
Reserves {55 32(a) (289,095) (293,111)
TOTAL EQUITY TEZE4aEE 146,157 98,561
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32. CAPITAL AND RESERVES 32. BRKEE
(@)  The reconciliation between the opening and closing balances of @ STEEGFEEDIZIARBR
each component of the Group’s consolidated equity is set out FYHRFREFPVHREIER
in the consolidated statement of changes in equity. Details of BREREER KN AT ERNE
the changes in the Company’s individual components of equity AR PR EFEEN RFER
between the beginning and the end of the year are set out RSB IEHFIAOT -
below:
The Company KRE
Share Accumulated Total
premium losses reserves
iR RE ZEtEE fEEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TET TER
At 1 April 2021 RZE_—&NA—H 587,822 (848,091) (260,269)

Loss and total comprehensive AEEBER

loss for the year ZHEBLESE - (32,842) (32,842)
At 31 March 2022 and RIEZZF=F=+—Hk
1 April 2022 —E-—&mA—A 587,822 (880,933) (093,111)

Loss and total comprehensive FEEBER

loss for the year 2EBELEE - (181) (181)
Issuance of Shares upon placing ~ RECE &7k 1D

(note 32(b)) (fiE32(b)) 5,308 = 5,308
Share issue expenses under REZRABTRAS

placing (note 32(b)) (Fft5£32(0)) (1,111) - (1,111)
At 31 March 2023 R-B-Z#-A=+-A 592,019 (881,114) (289,095)
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ECEZF-RA=+—HIEFEE

32. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (Continued) 32. BARKHE @
(b)  Share capital b BB
Number Amount Amount
of Shares equivalent to equivalent to
EESN BER
Bin8E &% L]
US$'000 HK$'000
FE FHET
Authorised: ERE
At 1 April 2021, A_E_—FMBE—H-
31 March 2022, —EZ-F=A=+—8"
1 April 2022 T "FMBE—H
and RZZZ=fF
31 March 2023, =BA=+—H
ordinary Shares % EE0.165E TTH
of US$0.16 each ZEg 625,000,000 100,000 778,000
Issued and fully paid: BETRERE
At 1 April 2021, 31 March 2022 AZE_—FMBE—H-
and 1 April 2022, —EZF=RA=+—H
ordinary Shares of kR—_E-__FMA—H
US$0.16 each SFREEC.16ETHNEER 314,360,383 50,298 391,672
Issuance of Shares upon placing B & 17D
(note (i) (HI3E()) 34,920,000 5,587 43,580
At 31 March 2023, AZE=F=F=+—H
ordinary Shares of SRmE0.16ETT
US$0.16 each HEER 349,280,383 55,885 435,252

BERRRE R FEERNKES
RERRAASDAE LREFEE—
BRHE—Z AR BREBMA
ASHBEESANEERS M

The owners of ordinary Shares are entitled to receive dividends
as declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per
Share at meetings of the Company. All ordinary Shares rank
equally with regard to the Company’s residual assets.

Note: BdsE -

(i) Placing of Shares (i) =4
WZEZZH#HRA+B&aH#
34,920,0008 E @B (MEC &M B
RIBEEBAENERRIEFRREE
BREERMDI40BTRINEE FF
DRANBEBIAEAN EEFRENRIE
TPEEAT, 777,000 T (FRERIBALEE
48,888,000 ytB 2 1,111,000%
7o) °

On 10 May 2022, a total of 34,920,000 ordinary Shares (the
“Placing Share(s)”) have been successfully placed to not less than
six independent placees at the placing price of HK$1.40 per Placing
Share pursuant to the terms and conditions of the placing agreement
to generate net proceeds of HK$47,777,000 (gross proceeds of
HK$48,888,000 less expenses of HK$1,111,000).
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AR e M B HRAR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 BiE _ZE " =F=F=+—HIEEE

32. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (Continued)

(c)

(d)

Nature and purpose of reserves
(i) Share premium

Share premium arose from the issuance of Share by the
Company at prices in excess of their par value, and may
be distributed in the form of fully paid bonus shares. The
application of the share premium is governed by section
40 of the Bermuda Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda.

(i) Foreign currency translation reserve

The foreign currency translation reserve comprises all
foreign exchange differences arising from the translation
of the financial statements of foreign operations. The
reserve is dealt with in accordance with the accounting
policy set out in note 2.3(u).

Capital management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, so that it can
continue to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for
other stakeholders, and maintain an optimal capital structure to
reduce the cost of capital.

The Group sets the amount of capital in proportion to risk. The
Group manages the capital structure and makes adjustments
to it in the light of changes in economic conditions and the risk
characteristics of the underlying assets. In order to maintain or
adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the payment
of dividends, issue new shares, buy-back shares, raise new
debts, redeem existing debts or sell assets to reduce debts.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the net debt-to-
equity ratio. This ratio is calculated as net debt divided by total
equity. Net debt is calculated as total debts included trade
and other payables, contract liabilities, lease liabilities, other
borrowing and tax payable less cash and cash equivalents.
Total equity comprises all components of equity (that is, share
capital, share premium, foreign currency translation reserve, and
accumulated losses).
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ARE M B HRARMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 BiZE _E " =F=H=+—HIEFE

32. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (Continued) 32. BRKEHE®

(d)  Capital management (Continued) d BRESEG

REBP T - = FMEKRIKHE
BET HFNEESEH ZL‘%%
NEBAKEGEFEERER
ERNERFNREKTE LMET?
UEEMAESES NREH
Ko BEPEHERLLENT

During 2023, the Group’s strategy, which was unchanged
from 2022, was to maintain the net debt-to-equity ratio at the
lowest as possible, in order to secure access to finance at a
reasonable cost. The net debt-to-equity ratio at the end of the
reporting period is as follows:

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000

FAET FET

Total debt BEBRE 111,624 62,469
Less: Cash and cash equivalents B IRERIBEEEEY

(note 23(a)) (M1£E23(a)) (13,686) (20,901)

Net debt BR3EE 97,938 41,568

Total equity TR 4BEE 158,820 116,351

Net debt-to-equity ratio BEFEHERIEE 61.7% 35.7%

According to the Listing Rules, at least 25% of the Shares RiE EHRA R/1D25%1% FE
should be held in the hands of the public. Save for this, neither HARALR B BRILZ4 &
the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject to externally NEHEEMMEEB LB 25

imposed capital requirements. BN 2 B AR E R o
33. SHARE OPTION SCHEME 33. FERRHERTE

KRABER-ZZ_ZEFNANBE
TZRRBFRG ERMBRESS
(TEER RSt 2 ) -BBRESTEIR 2
“EFENRBNBREER BRIBITECH
EACEIPI ﬁxﬁl,ﬁﬁ%uﬁatﬁﬁ—i

The Company had adopted a share option scheme (the “Share Option
Scheme”) at the annual general meeting held on 8 September 2020.
The Share Option Scheme became effective on 8 September 2020
and, unless otherwise cancelled or amended, will remain in force for
10 years from that date.
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 BiE _ZE " =F=F=+—HIEEE

33.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

The principal terms of the Share Option Scheme are set out as below:

Purpose

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to incentivise and
reward participants who have contributed to the Group and to
encourage participants to work towards enhancing the value of
the Company and its Shares for the benefit of the Company and
its Shareholders as a whole.

Participants

The participants are any Directors (including executive Directors,
non-executive Directors and independent non-executive
Directors), Shareholders and employees of the Group and any
advisers and consultants of any member of the Group who the
Board considers, in its sole discretion, have contributed or will
contribute to the Group.

Total number of Shares available for issue

The number of Shares which may be issued upon the
exercise of all share options granted or to be granted under
the mandate of the Share Option Scheme was 31,436,038
Shares, representing 10% of the issued Shares as at the date of
adoption of the Share Option Scheme and approximately 9% of
the issued Shares as at the date of this annual report.

Maximum entitlement of each participant

The maximum number of Shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of the options granted to each grantee under the Share
Option Scheme (including both exercised and outstanding
options) in any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the
Shares in issue for the time being, unless approved by the
Shareholders.

Period within which the Shares must be taken up under an
option

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of
the Share Option Scheme at any time during the period to be
notified by the Board to each grantee upon the grant of options,
which shall not exceed 10 years from the date of grant of the
relevant option. Options granted during the life of the Share
Option Scheme shall continue to be exercisable in accordance
with their terms of grant after the expiry of the Share Option
Scheme.
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 BiZE _E " =F=H=+—HIEFE

33. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

Vi.

Vii.

viii.

Minimum period for which an option must be held before
it can be exercised

There is no general requirement on the minimum period for
which an option must be held or the performance targets which
must be achieved before the option can be exercised, under the
terms of the Share Option Scheme.

Amount payable on acceptance of the option and the
payment period

An offer is deemed to be accepted when the Company receives
from the grantee the offer letter signed by the grantee specifying
the number of Shares in respect of which the offer is accepted,
and a remittance to the Company of HK$1.00 as consideration
for the grant of the option within 28 days from the grant. Such
remittance is not refundable in any circumstance.

Basis of determining the exercise price

The exercise price shall be determined by the Board in its
absolute discretion but in any event shall not be less than the
higher of:

(@) the closing price of the Shares as stated in the daily
quotations sheets issued by the Stock Exchange on the
date of grant which must be a business day;

(b)  the average closing price of the Shares as stated in the
daily quotations sheets issued by the Stock Exchange for
the five business days immediately preceding the date of
the grant; and

(c) the nominal value of the Shares.
Remaining life of the Share Option Scheme
The Share Option Scheme shall remain in force for 10 years

commencing on 8 September 2020 up to and including 7
September 2030.

As at 31 March 2023, the remaining life of the Share Option Scheme
is approximately 7 years 5 months.

Since the adoption of the Share Option Scheme on 8 September
2020 and up to 31 March 2023, no options were granted, exercised,
lapsed or cancelled. As at 31 March 2023 and 2022, the Company
has no outstanding options.
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34. SUBSIDIARIES 4. HBRE
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries as at 31 March 2023 are as R =F=B=+—H0 > FTEHW
follows: BABINEENT
Place of
establishment/ Issued and
incorporation and fully paid-up/  Percentage of paid up/issued
Name of subsidiary business registered capital capital held by the Company Principal activities
FR3L/ AL I BRTRAR/ FRAMBERR/
WEARRE REEHE AREL BETHRAEAL TBEH
Directly Indirectly
Ef# G
Smart Tone International Limited Hong Kong 100 ordinary 100% - Provision of management services to the Group
GEERERAT B shares mAEERHEERRY
1008 BB
Lucky Golden Ant Limited Hong Kong 10,000 ordinary 100% - Provision of management services to the Group
ZESBERAT &% shares BREEREERRE
10,000 & &A%
Golden Joyous Ventures Limited BvVI 1 ordinary 100% - Investment holding
EERUHE share of RERR
US$1 each
1RERAER
1ETHERR
Alpha Overseas Limited Hong Kong 10,000 ordinary S 100%  Investment holding
W ENERAR &5 shares RERR
10,0008 & &K
Willis Trading Limited Hong Kong 2,000,000 ordinary - 100%  Trading of milk powder and baby foods
EREYHERERAY &% shares MMRERERE S
2,000,0008% & &
Alice Trading Limited Hong Kong 2,000,000 ordinary = 100%  Trading of milk powder and baby foods
ERERMERERAR &% shares IHRERERER
2,000,0008% % &%
GA Australia Investment Pty Limited Australia 100 ordinary S 100%  Property investment
BN shares of WERE
AUD1 each
100REREE
TATHEER
MMEREFEBERA" PRC Paid-up capital of - 100%  Trading of milkk powder and baby foods and provision
H RMB1,000,000 of warehouse logistics services
out of registered MARER R E 5 RIEHARRRE
capital of
RMB1,000,000
EMERARE
1,000,0007T >
HPBRRE
# A& 1,000,000
* This subsidiary is registered as a wholly-foreign-owned enterprise under the * B A B IRBPEAEEMAINE
PRC law. BERHE-
Remark: None of the subsidiaries has issued any debt securities at the end of the 2 RBREHR BEMNBRARZETEAE
reporting period. HES e
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 BiZE _E " =F=H=+—HIEFE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE OF 35.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The Group’s major financial instruments include the followings:

Financial assets TRBEE
Financial assets at fair value through BATFEBESABGRZ
profit or loss, mandatorily measured EREE > R
at fair value through profit or loss BAFEBESTA
B2
Trade and financial assets included in FFAHMBERRIEBEZBS R
other receivables (note 22) SMEE (FizF22)
Cash and bank balances (note 23(a)) REKIRTT4EE (15E23(a)
Financial assets measured at BEHERATEZ
amortised cost THMEE
Financial liabilities Ead =R
Trade and financial liabilities included in FFAREMBENRIEZ B 5 &
other payables (note 24) EmAaE (fsE24)
Other borrowing (note 27) HnEE (izE27)
Lease liabilities (note 26) HE&E (izt26)

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost (Z# IS st E > 2R EE

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are
credit risk, liquidity risk, interest rate risk, currency risk and equity
price risk. The Group’s exposure to these risks and the financial risk
management policies and practices used by the Group to manage
these risks are described below.

(@) Creditrisk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its
contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the Group.

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to trade
receivables. The Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from
cash and bank balances is limited because the counterparties
are banks with high credit rating assigned by international
credit-rating agencies, which the Group considers to represent
low credit risk. The Group assessed 12m ECL for bank
balances by reference to information relating to probability of
default and loss given default of the respective credit rating
grades published by external credit rating agencies. Based
on the average loss rates, the 12m ECL on bank balances is
considered to be insignificant and therefore no loss allowance
was recognised. The Group’s exposure to credit risk arising
from refundable rental deposits is considered to be low, taking
into account (i) the landlords’ credit rating and (ii) the remaining
lease term and the period covered by the rental deposits.

TRIEREEREMTANATE
(=]

KE?E@E’\]IE%%?IE@ELXT%
b=

2023 2022
—E-= —=-—
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
11,547 -
164,751 52,830
13,686 20,901
178,437 73,731
44,462 40,621
47,544 =
347 2,533
92,353 43,154

FERTMTAMEENTIZARR
EERE REMERRF AR &
5 2 B e B A (B A B B o R SC Bt R
SEAZNZERARRAEE-RU
Tﬁ%%%@ﬁﬁﬂ@%%ﬁﬁt REEB R
1B o

@ fFERR

EEARERRHFIRER
HANEAMSRAEEES
BISAS A Al o

FEENEERBRTIERAN
BERWRIE  REERARE
RIBTHEFINEEREAIR E
R ZHFHBERE SR
MBS EN S E ST HRRRIT
WAEERBEERBRERME 2
EESESHBIE GV R IBFR
EMmARMEGEENRSRIEN
MEKRBEEZ BT EIRITE
EREV12(E B RAE R - &1
THEBEE S IRITHEF12(EH
AHEERERGEAFER A
It 4 T 5 S 48 1 4 o A B e (i)
FEMNEEFRK(EEREH
MBI THEFRAAR &
EEISHHRAROBEERE
FrEENEEREBERE

MEEERERAMRAT « —T_ZFFHK

149




150

hoo

I

For the year ended 31 March 2023 BiE _ZE " =F=F=+—HIEEE

35.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(a)

Credit risk (Continued)
Trade receivables

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by
the individual characteristics of each customer rather than
the industry or country in which the customers operate and
therefore significant concentrations of credit risk primarily
arise when the Group has significant exposure to individual
customers. At the end of the reporting period, 89% (2022:
89%) and 100% (2022: 100%) of the trade receivables was due
from the Group’s largest trade debtor and the five largest trade
debtors, respectively.

The Group has established a credit risk management policy
under which individual credit evaluations are performed on
all customers requiring credit over a certain amount. These
evaluations focus on the customer’s past history of making
payments when due and current ability to pay, and take
into account information specific to the customer as well as
pertaining to the economic environment in which the customer
operates. Trade receivables are normally due within 90 to 180
days (2022: 0 to 90 days) from the date of biling. During the
year ended 31 March 2022, the Group may further grant up to
90 days credit period upon request by the customers.

Other receivables

For other receivables, the Directors make periodic individual
assessment on the recoverability of other receivables based
on historical settlement records, past experience, and also
quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportive forward-looking information. The Directors believe
that there is no significant increase in credit risk of these
amounts since initial recognition and the Group assessed
impairment based on 12-month ECL. For the year ended 31
March 2023 and 2022, the Group assessed that the ECL for
other receivables were insignificant and thus loss allowance of
HK$25,000 (2022: nil) was recognised.
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE OF 35, REMEEREMTIAENATE
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) B @
(@) Credit risk (Continued) @ EERRG
Assessment of ECL based on internal credit rating BB 5 BiFARBI BRI BB
EEFE
The Group’s internal credit risk grading assessment comprises REBMAEEE R R ST AR
the following categories: HEEUTER

Internal credit

Trade receivables/

Other financial

rating Description contract assets assets/other items
B ENRIE HithsmEE
WEEETAR BHNEE HthER
Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default Lifetime ECL — 12m ECL
and does not have any past-due amounts not credit-impaired
KR % RBEFFH BN R R R BRI EARIE %%F%%é%%— 128 B FEERE B 518
EESEH
Watch list Debtor frequently repays after due dates Lifetime ECL — 12m ECL
but usually settle in full not credit-impaired
HmLE BEBEALENINPAEREREREEREE 2HEREEHE— 12BREHREEHE
18 mIEERE
Doubtful There have been significant increases in Lifetime ECL — Lifetime ECL
credit risk since initial recognition through not credit-impaired — not credit-impaired
information developed internally or external
resources
BI&E BERNIFEIIEERRRER EER 2HEREEHE- 2HBIAGCERE
% B ta eS8 SR EEE 1B N mIEERE —EBEERE
Loss There is evidence indicating the Lifetime ECL — Lifetime ECL
asset is credit-impaired credit-impaired — credit-impaired
ot BERBRETNEECHREERA LHEREEEE—- 2HEBEEEE
EERE —EERE
Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor is  Amount is written off ~ Amount is written off
in severe financial difficulty and the Group
has no realistic prospect of recovery
1 BRBRENEBABABREMBAEEAE FIESMHE FRIEE M

[ 52 B R A IR B AV AT R

The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of the Group’s

TERFANTAEHESHEEN

financial assets, which are subject to ECL assessment: EERR HRETRBEES
HETAE -
2023 2022
External Internal 2= ETCHE
credit rating  credit rating  12m or lifetime ECL Gross carrying amount Gross carrying amount
12A
SMMEETR AMERTR 2BRBEESER REAE FREMEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHERT TERT FERT FHT
Financial assets at amortised cost RBERATEZ
SHEE
Other receivables and deposits HifEWFIEREE  NA (note (i) 12m ECL 2,697 2,697 1,007 1,007
~ER (FizE()) 12EARHEEHR
Trade receivables - contracts with BHEIE N/A (Note (i) Lifetime ECL (collective
customers -EEEH assessment) 18,828 53,777
TEA (P 3i)) %Eﬁ)ﬁﬁﬂ%fﬁféﬂﬁ (258
T,
N/A Watch list Lifetime ECL (individual
assessment) 151,434 170,262 - 53,777
ER BERLE 2HRAEERE (5
A1)
172,959 54,784
I ATEEERERAT ¢« ZE_=FFR 151
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE OF

ECETF-RA=Z+—HIEE

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(@) Credit risk (Continued)

Assessment of ECL based on internal credit rating

(Continued)

Notes:

(i) For the purposes of internal credit risk management, the Group uses

past due information

to assess whether credit risk has increased

significantly since initial recognition:

2023
Other receivables and
deposits

2022
Other receivables and
deposits

(ii) For trade receivables,
in IFRS 9 to measure

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

35 TREMEEREMIANATE

B@

@

SRR (@&

B A5 BEF R FERIE B

1E5FE ()

e

(i) HABEERABREEmMS &
EEFERARERTEEER
BEMBEEIURESSBE
o

Not past due/

no fixed repayment

Past due terms Total
E3 0t
Bai HE E B “ast
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FET
BT -F
HiEWHRIER RS 313 2,384 2,697
=S -3
HithEW R IE R iZE - 1,007 1,007

the Group has applied the simplified approach
the loss allowance at lifetime ECL. Except for

debtors with significant outstanding balances, the Group determines
the ECL on these items on a collective basis grouped by past due

status.

Provision matrix — Debtors’ aging

As part of the Group’s credit risk management, the Group uses
debtors’ aging to assess the impairment for its customers in
relation to its operation because these customers consist of a
number of small customers with common risk characteristics

that are representative

of the customers’ abilities to pay all

amounts due in accordance with the contractual terms. The
following table provides information about the exposure to

credit risk for trade re
collective basis by using
credit-impaired).

ALPHA PROFESSIONAL HOLDINGS

ceivables which are assessed on a
provision matrix within lifetime ECL (not
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMBRERMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 BiZE _E " =F=H=+—HIEFE

35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE OF 35 HREAMEERERTENATE
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) (ENES)
(@) Credit risk (Continued) @ EERRG
Provision matrix - Debtors’ aging (Continued) TR IEAE[E — AR BYARE? (B)
2023
—E-=

Average Gross amount of
loss rate trade receivables Loss allowance

FHEEE 4a%E EERE

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHET FHET

Current (not past due)  ENHA (W E A HA) 2.25% 18,828 (425)
2022

———
S

Average  Gross amount of

loss rate  trade receivables Loss allowance

B 5 EURIE

FHEER “azE SEisbedi

HK$’ 000 HK$ 000

FAET FHET

Current (not past due)  BNHR (X & HR) 3.60% 42,315 (1,531)

110 30 days past due  #HI1ZE30H 3.60% 11,277 (408)

31 to 60 days past due #HA31ZE60H 8.10% 185 (15)

53,777 (1,954)
Debtors with significant outstanding balances with gross WE_=F=B=+—H"&
carrying amounts of HK$151,434,000 as at 31 March 2023 BEARREEEFRZRANER
(2022: Nil) were assessed individually. 48{5151,434,00058 70 (Z2 - =

F 1 F) JHETEREFT G-

The estimated loss rates are estimated based on historical AT BB ERRANTESTFR
observed default rates over the expected life of the debtors and NIRBEBTFEREBNERGE
are adjusted for forward-looking information that is available o Wt AN B 2 AT S
without undue cost or effort. The grouping is regularly reviewed NN ERZAEMEER T
by management to ensure relevant information about specific AE o BIRE TE MRS 9 A DARE
debtors is updated. FREBEFERANEMAERE
/EH o
During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group provided HE_Z_—#=-HFB=+—H
HK$270,000 (2022: HK$1,954,000) impairment allowance for EFE > AEBREREETMG
trade receivables based on collective assessment. Impairment L8 5 e W IE 5 12270,000
allowance of HK$6,253,000 (2022: Nil) were made on debtors BT (CTEZZ4H 1,954,000
with significant balances during the year. Bro) REEE FRNEMAR

BEXRGEHIEMEH R A ERRE
6,253,000 70 (ZF "4 :

) -
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 BiE _ZE " =F=F=+—HIEEE

35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE OF 35, EREMEEREMTIAENATE
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) & @)
(@) Credit risk (Continued) @ EEAR G
As at 31 March 2023, the loss allowance for the trade debtors RZE-_=F=B=+—8"
assessed individually amounted to HK$7,758,000 (2022: Nil). &R Tt 8 B Z RS 1R
747,758,000 (ZE "4 !
i®) o
Movement in the loss allowance account in respect of trade RAFEBREZEWREN
receivables during the year is as follows: BEBEEBE I EBMT .
2023 2022
—F== B S - 2
HK$’000 HK$’000
FAET FAET
Balance at beginning of the year REEY 2 &8 (1,954) (1,608)
Amounts written off during the year NAREEMIEEEE - 1,608
Deconsolidation of subsidiaries B AT ABiRE AR 1,084 =
Impairment losses recognised RAFERIHN
during the year (notes 9(c) & 11) BEEE (HEE9(0)k11) (7,563) (1,954)
Exchange adjustments PE % 250 -
Balance at end of the year REERZ &R (8,183) (1,954)
The following significant changes in the gross carrying amounts UTAEREBEEEEHNE
of trade receivables contributed to the changes in the loss SEWSRENIREEEZEX
allowance: e
= increase in past due balances of gross amount of — B HR 4 BRIZ 0 AR EE
HK$37,335,000 resulted in an increase in loss allowance 37,335,000 Tt & k5
of HK$6,523,000 (2022: origination of new trade 18 #3518 106,523,000
receivables net of those settled resulted in an increase T (CEITE  HIEE
in loss allowance of HK$1,954,000 and a write-off SEWERIE OB E A
of trade receivable with a gross carrying amount of MED) WELEENEE
HK$1,608,000 resulted in a decrease in loss allowance of B I IN1,954,0008 7T
HK$1,608,000). R AR E 4818 51,608,000

BT E S ERKIE
i B B BB 18 B E R D
1,608,0007 7T) ©
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 BiZE _E " =F=H=+—HIEFE

35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE OF

36 TREMEEREMIAENATE

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) & @
(@) Credit risk (Continued) @ EERRG
Movements in ECL recognised for other receivables during the F Py BE D B9 B At AR U R IR TR AR
years are as follows: EEBIREEHAT !
12-month ECL
1218 B 788
EEEE
HK$’000
FHET
At 1 April 2021, 31 March 2022 AR —FNA—H -2
and 1 April 2022 Z=A=+—HBERZZE-"FMNE—H -
New financial assets originated ML EREE 25
At 31 March 2023 A ZE_=F=B=+—H 25

(b)

Change in the loss allowance for other receivables and deposits
are mainly due to increase in past due balance of gross amount
of HK$313,000 (2022: Nil).

HL M FE U TRTE e 3% 2 BY 5 1R B
& B 75 = B2 A B A AL BRI
M48%E313,0008 7T (ZT ==

Liquidity risk b REMERE
Individual operating entities within the Group are responsible REBRNBEE @E%EE\E
for their own cash management, including the short term ZENRSEER gEMRER
investment of cash surpluses and the raising of loans to cover E?Lﬁ HHRENEREEU
expected cash demands, subject to the parent company’s ENFERREER EELEEAQ
board approval. The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor TE’J%%‘%}&/& NEMZBE
its liquidity requirements and its compliance with lending EEAERERMEEREAE
covenants to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves of cash Lj‘ft%iﬂ‘”]z B AR (R4
and adequate committed lines of funding from major financial RARNBREHEUERAETE
institutions to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and ETREEBEE R ENEKAEME
longer term. RBE > fﬁﬁELHHEZEHH REIEE
x o
The following table sets out the remaining contractual maturities TREVAEBZIETESR
at the end of the reporting period of the Group’s non-derivative % ERHREEERZGBTE ’JHH
financial liabilities based on contractual undiscounted cash B ZEHR TR IR
flows (including interest payments computed using contractual i’]ﬂiﬁﬁfﬁfﬁﬁmg (@?EEFHA
rates or, if floating, based on rates current at the end of the WRESE N A FEF=E
reporting period) and the earliest date the Group can be AIRERE AR ZBITAIES
required to pay. %E’J%‘J S0 MR AL E T 5E
B ZERHEHE
2023
ZEIzE
More than More than Total Carrying
1yearbut  2yearsbut  contractual amount
Within less than less than undiscounted  at 31 March
On demand 1 year 2 years 5years  cash flows 2023
RZEZ=%
Be—fF BRRE ANXBE =B=1+—H
RER —ER BRBBME GFBBLE RERELE MEREE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT TAL TART TiEn TiAx TAx
Trade and other payables & 5 & B & 3% 2,168 42,294 - - 44,462 44,462
Other borrowing HihfEE 47,544 - - - 47,544 47,544
Lease liabilities mEaR - 349 - - 349 347
49,712 42,643 - - 92,355 92,353
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 BiE _ZE " =F=F=+—HIEEE

35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE OF

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

35 TREMEEREMIANATE

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) & (@
(b)  Liquidity risk (Continued) b) wENERR @
2022
“ECCE
More than More than Total Carrying
1 year but 2 years but contractual amount
Within less than less than  undiscounted  at 31 March
On demand 1 year 2 years 5 years cash flows 2022
RIBZZE
BE—F BERE AOFME ZB=1+-H
BREX —FR EFEEME BFERLE RERSLH MEEEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TEL TR T FAT TAT
Trade and other 85K
payables HitEMIE 2,192 38,429 - - 40,621 40,621
Lease liabilities HEER - 1,385 989 267 2,641 2,633
2,192 39,814 989 267 43,262 43,154
Other borrowing with a repayment on demand clause are WHEEREERGRRNEME
included in the “on demand” time band in the above maturity Bt ALMFBAINN BRE
analysis. At 31 March 2023, the aggregate carrying amount KRIFEEERN - RZIZ2=F
of the other borrowing amounted to HK$47,544,000 (2022: —A=1+—H ' ZEHEMEEN
Nil). Taking into account the Group’s financial position, the IREAR(E A47,544,0008 7T (Z
management does not believe that it is probable that the lender T TFE)  ERINKEER
will exercise its discretionary rights to demand immediate BT EEERAERA
repayment. The management believes that such other ARAETEEMNBEREEZRED
borrowing will be repaid after the end of the reporting period in FRFEM -BEERA  ZEHM
accordance with the scheduled repayment dates set out in the B E R IR IEE & i & P& 5t 8l
loan agreement, details of which are set out in the table below: ERHEARREHAREBER %
IBEPR TR
Maturity Analysis — Borrowing with a repayment on demand BB 0T — M B R EE L
clause based on scheduled repayments BIEE (B 2ER)
Morethan1  More than 2 Total
year but years but contractual
Within less than 2 less than 6 undiscounted Carrying
1 year years years cash flows amount
BE—F BEWE  AORER
—ER ERBERE BFBBLE HETERH REE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR T FAL FAL
At 31 March 2023 RZEZ=#=B=1+-H 49,135 - - 49,135 47,544

At 31 March 2022 R-B-—&=A=1+-H -
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 BiZE _E " =F=H=+—HIEFE

35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE OF 35, EREMEEREMTIAENATE
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) B @
(c) Interest rate risk © FIEERR
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash FMEREIETHTENAFE
flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes EBEXRKRBERERFEATHF
in market interest rates. The Group’s interest rate risk arises KEBTMFBN R - REE
primarily from fixed rate lease liabilities and from variable rate FMEREEERBETEHEN
other borrowing, which expose the Group to fair value interest HMEaBUREHAMNENEM
rate risk and cash flow interest rate risk respectively. BE SAEESNEBEATE
BEMERRABEEREFNNER
Bz o
(i) Interest rate risk profile ) FIEEGEEER
The following table, as reported to the management TRATEESEEER
of the Group, details the interest rate risk profile of the AEBRRSHRNFIE
Group at the end of the reporting period: BB -

Carrying amount

AREE
2023 2022
ZE=fF =

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET FEx
Fixed rate borrowings: EEFEMEE !

Lease liabilities HEAE 347 2533
Variable rate borrowings: FERREMGR

Other borrowing HtnE & 47,544 _
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 BiE _ZE " =F=F=+—HIEEE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(c)

Interest rate risk (Continued)

(i)

Sensitivity analysis

At 31 March 2023, it is estimated that a general increase/
decrease of 100 basis points in interest rates, with all
other variables held constant, would have decreased/
increased the Group’s profit after tax and increased/
decreased accumulated losses by approximately
HK$397,000 (2022: Nil). This is mainly attributable to the
Group’s exposure to variable-rate borrowing.

The sensitivity analyses above have been determined
based on the exposure to interest rates at the end of
the reporting period. The analysis is prepared assuming
the financial instruments outstanding at the end of the
reporting period were outstanding for the whole year.
A 100 basis points (2022: not applicable) increase
or decrease in variable-rate borrowing is used when
reporting interest rate risk internally to key management
personnel and represents management’s assessment
of the reasonably possible change in interest rates. The
analysis is performed on the same basis as 2022.
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FEMBRERMEE

ECEZF-RA=+—HIEFEE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 &

35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(d)  Currency risk

@

Exposure to currency risk

The Group is exposed to currency risk primarily through
sales and purchases which give rise to receivables,
payables and cash balances that are denominated
in a foreign currency, i.e. a currency other than the
functional currency of the operations to which the
transactions relate. In addition, the Company has intra-
group balances with several subsidiaries denominated
in foreign currencies which also expose the Group to
foreign currency risk. The currencies giving rise to this
risk are primarily Australian dollars (‘AUD”), United States
dollars (“US$") and HK$. The Group ensures that the
net exposure is kept to an acceptable level by buying or
selling foreign currencies at spot rates where necessary
to address short-term imbalances.

The following table details the Group’s exposure at the
end of the reporting period to currency risk arising from
recognised assets or liabilities denominated in a currency
other than the functional currency of the entity to which
they relate. For presentation purposes, the amounts of
the exposure are shown in HKS$, translated using the

36 TREMEEREMIAENATE

B @
@ SRR
O ARRZEEERE
FEBENZEBARE
ERERNEEMELZE

WRIE ENREBELES
R ZEBETHIRINE
(BDZZ Z P 375 2 TN AE
BN E) SH{E-
tESh » A< A B B T MY B
NENEBRA BB
ThLUNES sHE  INEARE
EmEmRIINERG - EEE
R ZEBFEART
(FR7ty) ~Em (MEml)
KB REBENEN
BERTIREEXES
ShEE S LUFE S 52 BB R
1 > B AR P m BR A B B8 P
R R BT A K o

TRFVAEERNREHR
RFrE LB A BN
AR E B LS E S sHE
ZEHBEENBRME
EREERE B2
= mREEREZEERTY I

spot rate at the year end date. Differences resulting BN RBFEERN
from the translation of the financial statements of foreign BIEAE XA o i BN
operations into the Group’s presentation currency are B BERRAEAARE
excluded. B2V EMMELNE
B HEBRTE N ©
Exposure to foreign currencies (expressed in HKS)
SNERR UATET)
2023 2022
It S5 “E-CE

Us$ AUD HK$ USs$ AUD

ESH B B 1 B

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TAT TART TAn TR TiERT

Trade and other receivables BRRAMENRTIE - - 206 767 46,353

Cash and bank balances R RiRTAER 1,122 - - 1,417 16,959

Trade and other payables ESREMELTE - - - (488) (32,008)

Lease liabilties HE&E - - (347) = =

Intra-group balances EENABBGEES - - (69,095) - (1,419)

Net exposure arising from EEIEERGBELN
recognised assets and liabilties Jaliyesa 1,122 - (69,236) 1,696 29,885
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 BiE _ZE " =F=F=+—HIEEE

35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE OF

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

35 TREMEEREMIANATE

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) &
(d)  Currency risk (Continued) o E¥RRE G
(i)  Sensitivity analysis (i)  EREZN
The following table indicates the instantaneous change in TRV EAEBRIREH
the Group’s profit after tax (and accumulated losses) that FRERE KRB INEE
would arise if foreign exchange rates to which the Group Rz B HIRED (RR
has significant exposure at the end of the reporting FrE AR RTFR
period had changed at that date, assuming all other ) HAEERR B EHN
risk variables remained constant. In this respect, it is (RRFEE) EENAD
assumed that the pegged rate between the HK$ and the HEgomitms > BR
US$ would be materially unaffected by any changes in RATRETHEHEE
movement in value of the US$ against other currencies. BARERETRAME
NERBEEHMZIE
K to
2023 2022
-t T E
Increase/

(decrease) in Decrease/

Increase/ profit after tax Increase/ (increase)

(decrease) and decrease/ (decrease) in loss after

in foreign (increase) in in foreign tax and

exchange  accumulated exchange accumulated

rates losses rates losses

PRAR & RGN

/ GRL) B PR BEER

SMEEFE 2 REths518 4} BE [E = KEEE

EA(FHE) mL/0gm EA/ (R D/ (gm)

HK$'000 HK$'000

FERT FHET

AUD BT 5% - 5% 1,248

(5%) - (5%) (1,248)

HK$ BT 5% (2,891) 5% -

(5%) 2,081 (5%) -
Results of the analysis as presented in the above table LEREDMEREAZ

represent an aggregation of the instantaneous effects
on each of the group entities’ profit or loss after tax and
equity measured in the respective functional currencies,
translated into HK$ at the exchange rate ruling at the end
of the reporting period for presentation purposes.

The sensitivity analysis also includes intra-group balances
where the denomination of the balances is in a currency
other than the functional currency of the lender or the
borrower.

The sensitivity analysis assumes that the change in
foreign exchange rates had been applied to re-measure
those financial instruments held by the Group which
expose the Group to foreign currency risk at the end of
the reporting period. The analysis is performed on the
same basis for 2022.
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 BiZE _E " =F=H=+—HIEFE

35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE OF 35 HREAMEERERTENATE

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(e)

Equity price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price changes arising at
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss held for non-
trading purposes (note 20).

The Group’s listed investment is listed on the Australian
Securities Exchange. Listed investments that are not held for
trading purposes have been chosen based on their longer term
growth potential and are monitored regularly for performance
against expectations.

At 31 March 2023, it is estimated that an increase/(decrease) of
10% in the price of the equity security, with all other variables
held constant, would have increased/decreased the Group’s
profit after tax and decreased/increased accumulated losses as
follows:

NG
@ REERER

FEBEEBRFEIZENZ
BATFEESFABGZEHEE
(M5520) EERABEEREH)
JERE o

FEEZ EHREFBENMNE S
RGP Lo AEEBE EHIR
BERNRPBRESN EEFHR
SENMEBEANLHRE WE
HERARREANGER-

R_B-_=%=B=+—B'1
FrE HithZSRIFAE > [H5HR
REBHEREIEM CRL) 10%
BLAREERREBREANEM
B R R BB LD 00

T
2023
—EBET=
Increase/ Decreased/
(decrease) Increase/ (increased)
in price of (decrease) in accumulated
equity security in profit after tax losses
AR S EE 35k Finbil RETEE
1, e 1, R L, (38 m)
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET
Change in the relevant 18RI (B & bR £
equity price risk ZEE
variable:
Increase 1 964 964
Decrease L (10%) (964) (964)

The sensitivity analysis is not applicable for the year ended 31
March 2022.

HE_Z__F#=H=+—H
IEFE SURE DI REA o
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 BiE _ZE " =F=F=+—HIEEE

35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE OF 35 TREMEERERTIANATE
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) =R
()  Fair value measurement h ATEEHE
(i) Financial assets measured at fair value ) ig A FEEAENEZHE
Fair value hierarchy AT EEER
The following table presents the fair value of the Group’s fﬁ%g‘ﬂi&%%’%ﬂli
financial instruments measured at the end of the E‘ i& = EE&E%E%X
reporting period on a recurring basis, categorised into ﬁ‘l'%;flﬁﬁj 2%51@—;& 2
the three-level fair value hierarchy as defined in IFRS 13. ;H’E {EELQQ(E,E&EED P
The level into which a fair value measurement is classified /j%{jiﬁ - ""/'\‘u\j% L 35)’? 2
is determined with reference to the observability and ﬁig%l%; o :;{g st 8
significance of the inputs used in the valuation technique ﬂ*%#%ﬁj - %ﬁ@ﬁ
as follows: ﬁ]ﬁﬁ?%ﬁﬁim]\%l%zﬂ’éﬁ
RIEEREZMMETN
T
. Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured using only ° %;—,@& @ {E;Q\Z’Z
Level 1 inputs i.e. unadjusted quoted prices in 1% {E@H‘}? Ee "
active markets for identical assets or liabilities at i’%}i”’f" E-l-jgié’z &
the measurement date N E-I-% E/\ffﬁ HH = %
REER GRS
ZAREAERE
. Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured using Level ¢ %; — % 14 1% _ A :E
2 inputs i.e. observable inputs which fail to meet f& ﬁ*’“@ 9;— ]
Level 1, and not using significant unobservable Zﬁiﬁi’% EJFZE i & %
inputs. Unobservable inputs are inputs for which %;?L%ﬁ%g%
market data are not available e
FREE A HE
BAHE A
RP|ARBREL
BETIBEEBEZEH
A
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 BiZE _E " =F=H=+—HIEFE

35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

®

Fair value measurement (Continued)

@

(i)

Financial assets measured at fair value (Continued)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

° Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured using
significant unobservable inputs

36 TREMEEREMIAENATE

& @
0 ATEESE®

) BAFEEFNENEZHE
E ()

RFEEER (&)

. BZMMEE AT
BERBEELH
HERMABEBE

Fair value measurements at
31 March 2023 categorised into
S _E_=F=HB=+—H2Z

N EEFEDE
Fair value
at 31 March
2023 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
RIZEZ=F
=B=+—H
ZAFEE B—ik = B=4k
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FAET FAET FET FET
Recurring fair value KEMEATEE
measurements 2
Assets: BE
Financial assets at BATEESA
fair value through BERZEMEE
profit or loss
Listed equity securities R85 11,547 11,547 = =

During the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2023,
there were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2, or
transfers into or out of Level 3. The Group’s policy is to
recognise transfers between levels of fair value hierarchy
at the end of the reporting period in which they occur.

Fair value of financial assets and liabilities carried at
other than fair value

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial instruments
carried at amortised cost are not materially different from
their fair values as at 31 March 2023 and 2022.

RBEE__FR-Z
“=H=ZRA=+—HL#F
B WEE—BRE R
Bz 8 %= R
ATEH o A E[ Z BUER
RN AFBEERE SR
BZBBELEZHREHAR
HEEDA R -

(i) IR TEESRNZE
HEEREEHATIEE

AT CFERIETC
F=ZRA=+—H &£H
W AT RN/ T
BREEEEATBEEL
MEARER
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 BiE _ZE " =F=F=+—HIEEE

36.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in these
consolidated financial statements, the Group had the following
transactions with related parties during the year:

@

(i)

Remuneration for key management personnel of the Group,
including amounts paid to the Directors as disclosed in note
12 and certain highest paid employees as disclosed in note 13
during the reporting period is as follows:

EHIRE RN
BRI ET

Short-term employee benefits
Post-employment benefits

The above-mentioned remuneration is included in “staff costs”
(see note 9(b)).

On 2 August 2022, Bubs Supreme Partner Pty Ltd, a joint
venture of the Group, sub-licensed the use of the Bubs
Trademarks (as defined in note 19) to a subsidiary of the
Group, on a non-exclusive, royalty-free and perpetual basis,
in the PRC, Hong Kong, Macau and Taiwan for the purpose
of advertising, marketing and distributing the infant nutrition
products manufactured and supplied by Bubs Australia or its
affiliates.
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37.

38.

39.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ARE M B HRARMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 BiZE _E " =F=H=+—HIEFE

OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS

The Group as lessor

Undiscounted lease payments receivable on leases of investment
property (note 16) are as follows:

Within 1 year —FR

After 1 year but within 2 years —FBEMERN
After 2 years but within 3 years MEBEB=ZFER
After 3 years but within 4 years —FBENFER

EVENTS AFTER THE END OF THE REPORTING PERIOD

0

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, there is a
decline in share prices of Bubs Shares, a major investment by
the Group classified as listed securities held for the long-term
strategic purpose under the financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss, and depreciation of Australian Dollars against
Hong Kong Dollars. At the date when the consolidated financial
statements are authorised for issue, the fair values of the
Group’s investment in Bubs Shares reduced to approximately
HK$8,929,000. The decline in fair value may impact the loss on
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss for the year
ending 31 March 2024.

On 23 June 2023, the Group as the borrower entered into a
supplemental loan agreement with a third-party lender to extend
the Loan Facility (see note 27 for details) of other borrowing of
AUD9,036,000 for one year from the original maturity date of 15
June 2023 to 14 June 2024.

MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTION

As detailed in note 20, the Group subscribed 9,541,620 Bubs Shares
at nil consideration pursuant to the share subscription agreement
entered into between Willis Trading and Bubs Australia on 3 March
2022 and the amendment deed entered into on 5 July 2022. The
initial amount recognised for the Group’s investment in Bubs Shares
amounted to HK$25,354,000, which is determined by quoted bid
prices of the Bubs Shares in the market at the date of subscription.
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a1.

40.

POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS, NEW STANDARDS
AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED BUT NOT YET
EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the IASB has
issued a number of amendments and a new standard which are not
yet effective for the year ended 31 March 2023 and which have not
been adopted in these financial statements. These developments
include the following which may be relevant to the Group.

IFRS 17 and related
Amendments

Amendments to IAS 1
and IFRS Practice
Statement 2

Insurance Contracts'

Disclosure of Accounting Policies’

Amendments to IAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates’

Amendments to IAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction’

International Tax Reform — Pillar Two Model
Rules?

Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current and Non-current Liabilities
with Covenants®

Amendments to IAS 12

Amendments to IAS 1

Amendments to IAS 7
and IFRS 7

Supplier Finance Arrangements®

Amendments to IFRS 16  Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback®

Amendments to IFRS 10
and IAS 28

Sale or Contribution of Assets between
an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture*

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023

e Immediately effective for the disclosure of the use of mandatory temporary
exception (from recognising and disclosing deferred tax assets and liabilities
related to Pillar Two income taxes) upon issuance of the amendments and
retrospectively. The remaining disclosure requirements apply for annual
reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023, but not for any interim
periods ending on or before 31 December 2023

k) Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined

The Directors anticipate that the application of the new and
amendments to IFRSs will have no material impact on the
consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable future.

COMPARATIVE AMOUNTS

The comparative consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income has been re-presented as if the operation
discontinued during the year had been discontinued at the beginning
of the comparative period (note11).
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Results

Revenue (continuing
operations)

Profit/(loss) for the year

Attributable to:
Owners of the Company
Non-controlling interests

Basic earnings/(loss)
per share

Assets and liabilities

Total assets

Total liabilities

Non-controlling interests

Equity attributable to owners
of the Company

e
L'ON

FBEEER)
REREEF, (BB

FE1ET -
TRFRER
JRiER D

BREARF
(#18)

SREFRES

JRIERED

TATRER
PGS HE T

Financial Summary

Financial year ended 31 March

BE-A=+—HLHBEE

MR

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
—E-NF IZ2EIZHF 2T Z2ZZC —E=

HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000

FHET FHET FAET FHET FAT
(Restated)
(KREF))

351,448 147,930 268,099 438,353 363,093
28,588 (88,588) (14,993) (31,644) 1,315
28,783 (88,056) (14,993) (31,644) 1,315

(195) (5632) - - -
28,588 (88,588) (14,993) (31,644) 1,315
10.9 (29.6) (4.8) (10.1) 0.4
=R =3 =Rl Bl Al
HK cents HK cents HK cents HK cents HK cents
At 31 March
W=B=+—H
2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
“TEBE-HF TEBEIBFE —“EBT— _=E_ “g-=

HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
TFET FET FAET TAET FAET

360,798 166,279 239,507 178,820 270,444

104,222 54,856 89,015 62,469 111,624

309 - - - -

256,267 111,423 150,492 116,351 158,820

FIEAEERBERART « ZE-=FFR
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FIEREYMEERER

Particulars of Property Held for Investment

Location Lot No. Existing Use Lease Term % held by the Group
hEh 3 ES 4R 5% REFA®R THEHA TEEFEY%
152 Milperra Road, 11171671 Warehouse Freehold 100
Revesby, NSW 2212, BE 2

New South Wales,

Australia
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